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A messace from the chairmean

Dear shareholders: Rohm and Haas’s 2007 is a story of strength
and progress. t's the story of our Vision 2070 implementation,

on track and building momentum. It the story of solid sales growth
in all our businesses, record sales and earnings in Electronic Materials,
Performance Materials and Salt, and overall earnings that met
expectations despite significant external challenges.

Most important, Rohm and Haas's 2007 is the story of strategies
gaining traction on multiple fronts to accelerate profitable growth,
both for the near and long term.
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A year of transition 2007 was a year in which we met significant
external challenges head-on while transitioning toward a higher-

growth Rohm and Haas through our Vision 2010 implementation.

We finished the year where we anticipated at the beginning of 2007
in terms of sales and earnings, despite headwinds that included weak
U.S. building and construction industry demand, rising raw material,
energy and freight costs, operating issues at our Houston plant, and
dilution from acquisitions in Electronic Materials. In fact, record sales
and earnings performance in our Electronic Materials, Performance
Materials, and Salt business, and very good results from our Specialty
Materials business outside the United States, were masked by profit

and margin erosion in our U.S. chemicals businesses.

Excellent traction in Vision 2010 We made substantial progress in
implementing Vision 2010, the plan we announced in 2006 to transform
Rohm and Haas into a more focused, more profitable and faster-growing
company. The list of accomplishments in each of the plan’s five focus
areas - strengthening our portfolio, expanding in rapidly developing
economies {RDES), enhancing our innovation capability, improving

operational excellence and talent deployment — is impressive. |

During our November 2007 Investor Day, we introduced three areas
of focus 1o drive accelerated growth: Electronics, Coatings and Niche
businesses. In Electronics, which represents the highest profitable
growth potential, our goal is to increase sales from $1.7 billion in
2007 to $3.5 billion by 2010. In 2007, through targeted acquisitions,

we created a stand-alone Display Technologies segment. This was
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accomplished through the creation of SKC Haas Display Films, a joint
venture with South Korea-based SKC, Inc., to develop, manufacture
and market advanced films used in liquid crystal displays {LCDs} and
plasma displays, and through the acquisition of Eastman Kodak's Light
Management Film business, a leader in technology to improve bright-

ness and efficiency of LCDs.

In Coatings, we plan to grow current sales of $2.1 billion to $3 billion
by 2010 through three strategic themes — beyond architectural, beyond
acrylic, and RDE investments. In 2007, we further penetrated the industrial
coatings markets for structural steel and concrete surfaces with Avanse™,
our maost advanced waterborne acrylic polymer platform, and launched
TianBa™, a coatings technology developed specifically for the Chinese
market. in earty 2008, we announced the acquisition of the polymer
dispersions division of QY Forcit AB, a Finnish paint emulsions operator,

to enhance our position in northern European and Russian markets.

Niche businesses comprise a number of smaller but highly attractive
opportunities for differentiation, profitable growth and global leadership
in water, food, energy and hygiene. Our objective is to double total sales
in this area to $1.7 billion by 2010. Niche opportunities with great promise
include our 1-MCP technology that has proven effective in maintaining
freshness in fruits, vegetables and flowers. To further leverage 1-MCP
technology, we formed an alliance with Syngenta to develop and com-
mercialize Invinsa™, a unique pre-harvest stress protection technology
for field crops. Another opportunity is in ion exchange resins, where
we're developing new applications in groundwater treatment, biological

drug purification and concentration, and biodiesel production.
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A third niche area we're pursuing is eco-friendly wood preservation
technologies, where we formed a joint venture with Chemical Specialties,
Inc., called Viance. In January 2008, the EPA approved Viance’s EcoVance™,
a nonmetallic wood preservative with significant environmental benefits

and enhanced performance.

In addition to strengthening our portfolio, we made excellent progress in
efforts to expand Rohm and Haas's presence in RDEs in 2007. We opened
new manufacturing facilities in Mexico, China and India, broke ground
for a plant in Turkey and established new technical centers in Taiwan
and Karea. As we expanded our footprint in these key markets, we also
progressed in enhancing our global innovation capabilities, improving
productivity across the organization and deployment of Rohm and Haas

management talent closer to where the opportunities are.

We moved the needle in another critical area of performance, workplace
safety, in 2007. Rohm and Haas finished the year with an Occupational
IMness and Injury (Oll) rate of 0.81, compared with an Oll rate of 0.94

in 2006. We finished implementing our Process Safety Management
Standard, EHS 536, at all our sites, which will provide consistent audit-

ing protocols and metrics to help ensure the safety of our processes.

Cutlook for 2008 From where | sit today, there is still a great deal of
unceriainty regarding the health of the U.5. and global economy and

how that will affect our sector in 2008 and 2009. As we track external
developments, we have put a contingency plan in place and expect to

deliver robust sales growth and earnings improvement this year.
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| have been fortunate to be at Rohm and Haas for more than 36 years,
and have seen the company challenged before by the economic cycles
of market demand and raw material costs. From my perspective, we
responded more quickly and effectively to these challenges in 2007 than
we have at any time in our history. The company has benefited from our
evolution toward a higher-margin, higher-growth portfolio, a reduced
dependence on petrochemicals, broader geographic presence, our
state-of-the-art information systems, our management team's agility
and our culture of accountability. These, along with the excellent talent,
determination and hard work of our employees, are the factors that

will contribute to our continued success in 2008.

Economic environments change, the marketplace changes, technology
changes, and our business changes. But at Rohm and Haas, certain
fundamentals do not. The passion among our people for innovation,
our dedication to safety in the workplace and the engagement of
communities around us, our absolute adherence to good gavernance
practices and a strong code of ethics for all employees around the
world — these have been integral to the value we have delivered to
our owners for the nearly 100 years we've been in business. They

will remain so as we realize the promise of Vision 2010 and beyond.

@' Z St

Raj L. Gupta
Chairman, President and CEQO
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ectronics

Rohm and Haas's Electronic Materials Group Now comprises two
reportable segments: Electronic Technologies and Display Tedhnologies.
Electronic Technologies consists of three businesses: Packaging and
Finishing Technologies, Circuit Board Technologies and Semiconductor
Technologies. We report our display materials business separately in
Display Technologjies.

To accelerate growth, we’re leveraging our global infrastructure,

technology and leading market positions to rapidly build & business
in display materials and enhance our semiconductor materials ottering.

ROHM AND HAAS 07
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ELECTRONIC MATERIALS: GROWTH STRATEGIES IN PROGREYS -

Bullding strengih in cisplays
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The largest of our Electronic Materials
businesses, Semiconductor Technologies,

participates in a mérket characterized by rapid

technological advancemer‘\t. As the critical

dimensions of integrated circuitry continue to

‘W photelithography

technologies and chemical mechanical planari-

shrink, the demand for ne
zation {CMP) expertise is g}rowing rapidly.

Already an industry leader in CMP and
photoresist technology, Rohm and Haas
invested aggressively in 2007 to expand and

build on that leadership. We cpened a new

10 ROHM AND HAAS

£
CMP technology and manufacturing center
in Hsinchu, Taiwan, and expanded a micro-
electronics technology and manufacturing

center in Cheonan, South Korea.

We also strengthened and leveraged our
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Haas's Specialty Materials Group is a leader in acrylic binders
¢.- ., |
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SPECIALTY MATERIALS: GROWTH STRATEGIES IN PROGRESS

Coatings for the
developing worla
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A key element of gur growth strategy in
L]
coatings is to leverage our

to the China market. In 2007, we introduced
Nerth American

TianBa™ 2000 technology, a new generation
market%leadership 10 enha

nce our R&D and of atrylic copolymer technology that delivers
manufa?xcturing cap%abiiities in rapidly develop- enhanced product perfo:rmance and reduced
ing eco;nomies. Qur objective is to strengthen environmental impact |r|1 waterproof coatings, 4
©our abi!ity to devel?p, manufacture and market

putties, adhesives and other applications.
I

In early 2008, we added to local manufacturing

innovative, locally i:'elevant coatings products.

Case in:point: Located in Shanghai, the Rohm

capacity with the opening of a new facility in
and Haas China Research and Development

Sanshui, Guangdong Province, in south China,
Center employs mare than 500 associates,

where 40 percent of the country's coatings
including 200 scientists, engineers and tech- industry resides. |
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Rohm and Haas promoted an environmentally
advanced, first-of-its-kind coating technology

in its Avanse waterborne acrylic latex polymer,
designed for use in demanding structural steel
and concrete surface applications where previ-

ously only solvent-borne products were suitable.

Avanse is a high-performance resin with
extremely low volatile organic compound (VOC)
emissions, ideal for primers, topcoats and direct-
to-metal finishes. To achieve performance

comparable with traditional solvent-based

Better periormmance,
better for the eardn

Relvm and Heass Avanse™ replaces sovent-based rel.!
costings with Rigirly advarced poyme” techroogy.

t STRATEGIES IN PROGRESS

products, Rohm and Haas scientists developed
breakthrough technology to improve the

barrier qualities of waterborne technology.

Avanse’s unique interaction between pigment
and polymer creates a stronger barrier from the
elements once dry. The result competes well with
traditional products’ corrosion resistance and
durability performance with a fraction of the
VOC emissions. Avanse highlights a fundamental
Rohm and Haas growth sltrategy - delivering
environmentally advanced technology with

improved performance.







We'r
diffe

energy.




FERTURNMANLE MAaTERTALD, UnUWIin 21 AAFTELILDS TN FPRULGALE SO

The future of food | .

Rohm and Haas subsidiary AgroFresh is growing by leveraging its
unique 1-MCP technology to maintain the freshness and quality of
produce and to protect field crops against heat and drought stress. ;
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AgroFresh is expanding its reach with Invinsa™  development and commercialization, AgroFresh .

crop-stress protection, a potential breakthrough  announced a global strategic alliance with . A

application of its proprietary 1-methylcyclo- Syngenta in early 2008. The alliance witl com- -
propene (1-MCP) technology for the protection  bine the resources of twp |leaders to achieve .

of field crops - corn, soybeans, cotton, wheat, the full potential of this first-ever, important

rice and canola ~ from heat, drought and application of 1-MCP technology to protect

other stress. To accelerate Invinsa technology's  crop yield and quality.
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Meanwhile, AgroFresh is continuing to build on

its established leadership position as a global

provider of products and services to maintain
the freshness of postharvest fruits, vegetables
and flowers through the use of 1-MCP. With

its SmartFresh™ Quality System and EthylBloc
technology, AgroFresh helps the produce

and floral industries deliver and maintain just-

harvested freshness and quality. in its seventh

season, SmartFresh technology is used in more

than 27 countries — today, over half of all fresh

apples in the United States are stored using

SmartfFresh technology.

#
I
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Meeting a growing need
for drinkable water

We're building on our leading ion exchange expertise to develop and
deliver critical technology for treating contaminated groundwater.

PERFORMANCE MATERIALS: GROWTH STRATEGIES IN PROGRESS
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
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Rohm and Haas is an established leader in need for quality water, first in North America.
ion exchange resin technology and water With an initial focus on the potable water
treatment. One way we're leveraging that market, the alliance will also develop and com-
leadership is through an alliance with Basin mercialize solutions for other groundwater
Water - joining our strengths with that orga- treatment issues for the oil and gas industry as
nization's systems design, deployment and well as emerging water recovery applications.

operating expertise to address the growing

ROHM AND HAAS
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wood preservation -

. ' The Viance joint venture brings new nonmetallic wood
e technology to the wood treatment industry,

.
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Qur Viance joint venture with Chemical Viance's Ecolife™ Stabilized Weather Resistant
Specialties, Inc. (TSI} combines our antimicrobial ~ Wood is the first product with EcoVance™, a
and formulations expertise with CS1's wood new, high-performance nonmetallic preserva-
treatment industry knowledge and wood tive. Extensive testing proved Ecolife Wood
preservation expertise, customer relationships provides long-term protection against rot,
and channel to market to develop game- decay, cracking, splitting and termites, in

changing, environmentally beneficial solutions. addition to environmental benefits.
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Any statements we make in our filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
other communications that are not state-
ments of historical fact, are forward-fooking
statements. These statements inciude, with-
out limitation, those refating to anticipated
product plans, litigation and environmental
matters, currency effects, profitability, and
other commitments or goals. Fonwvard-
fooking statements are subject to a number
of risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the
statements made. Please see page 36 of the
enclosed 10-k for further details of these
risks and uncertainties.

Avanse and TianBa are tradernarks of Rohm and
Haas Company. EthylBlog invinsa and SmartFresh are
trademarks of Agrofresh inc. Ecolife and EcoVance
are tragemarks of Viance L L.C.

ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 25
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[ X 1 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007

or
[ ) TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-3507
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ___ No _X
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

Rohm and Haas Company was incorporated in 1917 under the laws
of the State of Delaware. Our shares are traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol "ROH".

We are a global specialty materials company that began almost 100
years ago when a chemist, Otto Rohm, and a businessman, Otto Haas,
decided to form a partnership to make a unique chemical product for
the leather industry. That once tiny firm, now known as Rohm and Haas
Company, reported sales of $8.9 billion in 2007 on a portfolio of global
businesses including electronic materials, specialty materials and salt.
Our preducts enable the creation of leading-edge consumer goods and
other products found in a broad segment of dynamic markets, the largest
of which include: building and construction, electronics, packaging and
paper, industrial and other, transportation, household and personal care,
water and food. To serve these markets, we have significant operations
with approximately 96 manufacturing and 35 research facilities in 27
countries with approximately 15,710 employees.

Net Sales

in miflions

07 $8,897
Cs= T T R T .

06 $8,230

05 $7.885
B G N T g PR |

30 12,500 B 45,000 §7,500 $10,000
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Net Sales by Region

in milfions

07 38,897

06 $8,230

05 $7.885

O North America

07 $4,297, 06 $4,199, 05 $4,134
® Europe

07 12,241, 06 $2,030, 05 $1,988

O Asia

07 $1,973, 06 $1,659, 05 $1,455
O Latin America

07 $386, 06 $342, 05 $308

Throughout our history, Rohm and Haas has remained true to the
original vision of its founders: to be a high-quality and innovative
supplier of highly specialized materials that improve the guality of life.
In the 1ate 1930%, we began to diversify our portfolio of product
offerings to enhance our specialty chemical husiness by acquiring
Morton International inc., and expanding our electronic materials
business through the acquisitions of LeaRonal and Rodel. During the
same period, we have repositioned our portfolio to divest non-strategic
businesses including the divestiture of our Automotive Coatings business
in 2006. As a result of this activity, we have significantly increased our
sales, improved the balance of our portfolio, expanded our geographic
reach and product opportunities to meet market needs, and enhanced
our cash generating capabilities, while delivering enhanced value

for our stockholders.

The businesses within our electronic materials, as well as our speciaity
chemical portfolio and salt businesses will be discussed in more detail
later in this section.

Our Strategic Focus

Qur focus is to grow both revenues and earnings through organic
growth, as well as highly selective acquisitions to compliment our
existing businesses and to deploy our strong cash position in a
balanced approach to add value for our stockholders, while managing
the company within the highest ethical standards. We are tuned to
the changing global dynamics that impact the environment in which
we operate; the trends in consumer demand and preferences; the
shifting global demand and demographics; the greater emphasis on
environmentally compatible preducts and renewable resources; and
the increasing global competition.

T Y T & I N T Oy I N T an o My e e e
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In October 2006, we announced an evolution in our strategy, which
we refer to as Vision 2010. The primary goal of Vision 2010 is to
accelerate value creation. The key elements of this strategy are:

e Position Qur Portfolio For Accelerated Growth — by leveraging our
integrated acrylic monomer and polymer chain; accelerating investment
in Display Technologies; creating or expanding platforms that address
the growing needs in food, health, water, energy, and other areas in
the developed and developing worlds; and supplementing our organic
growth with highly selective acquisitions which bring a growth platform
technology or geographic supplement to our core businesses.

» Build Value-Creating Business Models in Rapidly Developing
Economies — by tailoring products to specific local or regional needs;
finding solutions that are affordable and meet local requirements;
organizing in a manner that enables rapid decision-making; investing
in local talent; and building plant facilities that can compete effectively
with local and regional players as well as multinational players. Rapidly
Developing Economies are defined as countries within our Latin
American Region, Asia Pacific Region {excluding Japan, Australia and
New Zealand) and Central, Eastern Europe (including Russia and other
former Soviet Republics) and Turkey.

* innovate with a Market/Customer Focus ~ by increasingly shifting the
focus and delivery of technology programs closer to the customer, driving
to faster and more tailored output.

* Operational Excellence/Continuous Improvement — by maintaining flat

conversion costs over the next three years; building more capital-efficient
plants in emerging markets; continuing to optimize our global footprint;
and increasing global sourcing, especially from low-cost countries.

* Deploy Right Talent in Right Places — by ensuring that feadership talent
with the right depth and breadth is in place to drive the profitable growth
of our businesses through shifting deployment of more key leaders to
locations outside the U.S.; and continuing to drive the nurturing and
development of our global workforce.

Cash Generation

We generated $963 million, $840 million and $347 million in cash
from operating activities during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
We deployed this cash to enhance stockholder value through strategic
investments in our core businesses and technologies, higher dividends,
and stock repurchases. We plan to continue this approach, as appropriate.

Corporate Governance

Qur company was built upon a strong foundation of core values, which
continue today. These values are the bedrock of our success. We strive
to operate at the highest levels of integrity and ethics and, in support
of this, require that all employees, as well as all the members of our
Board of Directors, receive compliance training and annually certify their
compliance with our internal Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
Qur core values are best summarized as:

e Ethical and legal behavior at all times;
* Integrity in all business interactions; and
o Trust by doing what we promise,

Our Board of Directors devotes substantial time to reviewing our business
practices with regard to the norms of institutional integrity. Our Board
is comprised of 12 directors, of which 11 are non-employees. The Audit,
Nominating and Governance, and Executive Compensation committees
of the Board are all entirely composed of independent directors,

Our Businesses

Qur portfolic of businesses is strong, seasonally diverse and well
positioned for future growth. Effective January 1, 2007, we realigned
our reporting segments and managerial organization as a part of
the implementation of our Vision 2010 strategy. The chart below
surmmarizes sales recorded by our seven reportable segments in
2007, 2006, and 2005.

Net Sales by Business Segment
In mitlions
07 $8,897

06 38,230

05 47,885

12% 19% 10% 19%

14% 19,

1% 24%

20%

O Packaging and Building Materials
07 $1,826, 06 $1,776, 05 $1,766
O Primary Materials
07 $975, 06 $877, 05 $903
07 $45, 06 $13, 05 313 O Performance Materials Group
Specialty Materials Group 07 $1,205, 06 $1,134, 05 $1,071
® Paint and Coatings Materials . Salt
07 $2,120, 06 $2,050, 05 $1,888 07 $1,060, 06 $829, 05 $925

Electronic Materials Group
O Electronic Technologies

07 $1.,666, 06 $1,551, 05 $1,319
O Display Technologies

ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 29



Electronic Materials Group

The Electronic Materials group is comprised of two reportable segments:
Electronic Technologies and Display Technologies, which are managed
under one executive. This group develops, manufactures and delivers
materials for use in applications such as telecommunications, consumer
electronics and household appliances.

Circuit Board Technologies develops, manufactures and delivers the
technology, materiafs and fabrication services for increasingly powerful,
high-density printed circuit boards in computers, cell phones, automo-
biles and many other electronic devices. We are a leading global
supplier of specialty chemicals and materials used in the fabrication .
of printed circuit boards, and are focused on the development of
metallization and imaging technologies.

The Display Technologies segment was created in the fourth quarter

of 2007 as a result of the significant allocation of resources to our Circuit Board Technologies

flat pane! display business. Previously, the results of our flat panel
display business were included in Semiconductor Technologies. The
Electronic Technologies segrent is an aggregation of our Circuit Board
Technologies, Packaging and Finishing Technologies and Serniconductor

Technologies businesses.

Electronic Technologies Net Sales
in mitiions

31,350 s §1,800

Electronic Technologies Net Sales by Business Unit

In miffions

07 $1,666

06 31,551

05 51,319

@ Semiconductor Technologies
07 $980, 06 $889, 05 $744

@ Packaging and
Finishing Technologies
07 $345, 06 $340, 05 3278

O Circuit Board Technologies
07 $341, 06 $322, 05 $297

Our Electronic Technologies are sold globally, with approximately 24%
of sales in North America, 14% in Europe, and 62% in Asia-Pacific.
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Markets

Products

End Uses

+ Electronic devices
* Communication
* Computers

= Transportation

* Recreation

« Enabling technology

for all aspects of
the manufacture of
printed circuit boards

s Products such as:

photoresists, solder
mask, electroless and
electrolytic copper

» Cellular phones

* Personal computers
+ Cars and trucks

* Electronic games

Packaging and Finishing Technologies develops, manufactures and
delivers innovative materials and processes that boost the perform-
ance of a diverse range of electronic, optoelectronic and industrial

finishing applications. We supply integrated metallization processes
critical for interconnection, corrosion resistance, metal finishing,
and decorative applications.

Packaging and Finishing Technologies

Markets

Products

End Uses

* Electronic devices

* Connector finishing

* Semiconductor
packaging

* Surface finishing

* Materials and

technotogy for
integrated circuit
packaging, connectors
and industrial finishing

+ Cellular phones

* Personal computers
+ Cars and trucks

* Home appliances

s Office equipment

= Electronic games

Semiconductor Technologies develops, manufactures and supplies

integrated products and technologies on a global basis. We enable our

customers to drive leading edge semiconductor design, and to boost
performance of semiconductor devices powered by smaller and faster
chips. This business also develops and delivers materials used for
chemical mechanical planarization {CMP), a process that creates the

flawless surfaces required to make faster and more powerfut integrated

circuits and electronic substrates.



S T E

Semiconductor Technologies

Markets

Products

End Uses

 Electronics and
communication devices

« Transportation

+ Home and office goods

* Recreation

 Essential technology
for creating state-of-
the-art integrated
circuits: photoresists,
developers, removers,
anti-reflective coatings,

« Cellular phones

» Personal computers
» Cars and trucks

» Home appliances

» Office equipment

» Electronic games

chemical mechanical
planarization {CMP)
pads and slurries

Display Technologies Net Sales

fn millions
o7 $45*
| ER ;i ]
06 313
C—— 1
05 $13
——— 7
30 12 524 $36 348

+ Includes six months of sales from Kodak light menagement film rechnologies and one month
of sales from SKC Haas Display films

Our Display Technologies products are sold mainly in Asia-Pacific with
98% of sales and 2% of our sales in North America.

Display Technologies devetops, manufactures and sells materials used
in the production of electronic displays. This business includes the
consolidated results of our joint venture with SKC Corporation of
Korea formed on November 30, 2007, SKC Haas Display Films, which
develops, manufactures, and sells advanced specialty films and materials
used in LCD and plasma displays. These include light diffuser films, micro
lens films, optical protection films, release protection films, reflectors,
technology for touch panels, Plasma Display Panel filters, and process
chemicals used to manufacture LCD color filters. This business also
includes leading-edge light management film technotogy acquired
from Eastman Kodak on June 15, 2007, as well as process chemicals
used in LCD production originally developed by Rohm and Haas. This
business was previously included in Serniconductor Technologies.

Display Technologies

Markets Products End Uses

» Television monitors

+ Computer monitors

» Electronic device
displays

* Films for LCD displays
* Films for plasma
displays
* Process chemicals
for LCD displays

+ Electronics and
communication devices

Specialty Materials Business Group

With the implementation of our Vision 2010 strategy, we created a
new business group — the Specialty Materials Business Group — which
encompasses three reportable segments: Paint and Coatings Materials,
Packaging and Building Materials, and Primary Materials.

The key driver underlying the creation of this business group was a
desire to more clearly align our core Acrylic monomer-polymer chain.
By placing all of our Acrylic-based businesses under one Executive and
in three reportable segments, we have simplified management of this
highly integrated set of businesses. Further, we helieve that the true
economic power of these businesses is better understood by locking
at the integrated business as one unit.

We believe we are the largest and most broadly based supplier of
acrylic polymers in the markets we serve, and also the largest combined
supplier of the key raw materials to make these acrylic polymers,
namely methacrylate and acrylate monomers, The largest consumers
of the acrylic monomers we produce are our downstream polymer
businesses — Paint and Coatings Materials and Packaging and Building
Materials. We also have a strong third party monomer business in
Europe and the Americas.

Woe have critical mass with the combination of our upstream monomer
capacity combined with the breadth of our acrylic polymer product
offerings. We believe this gives us a unigue competitive advantage in
the many markets that we serve globally. Our monomer and polymer
supply chains are integrated globally, and we have a strong track record
of manufacturing excellence in our many facilities around the world.
This integration gives us the reliability, scale, and low cost position that
drive our sustainable competitive advantage.

Finally, our integration benefits extend to the technical arena where
our expertise in monomers complements our acknowledged leadership
in acrylic polymer development for value-added applications.

Paint and Coatings Materials Net Sales
In millions

07 $2,120
—— ]

06 $2,050
. ]

05 41,888

30 3600 $1,200 $1.800 $2,400
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Our Paint and Coatings Materials products are sold globally, with
approximately 59% of sales in North America, 19% in Europe, 15% in
Asia-Pacific and 7% in Latin America. As the building and construction
markets are a core focus of this business {in particular the architectural
coatings markets), sales for this segment have seasonal fluctuations.

Paint and Coatings Materials is the continuation of our 1953 pioneering
acrylic waterborne chemistry. This initial innovation has evolved into
our current high quality, technologically advanced product offerings of
binders and additives for paint and coatings. Cur technology improves
the durability, tint retention, adhesion, stain resistance and opacity
of paint. Our customer base includes well-known, high-quality paint
suppliers. In addition to offering products for the architectural and
decorative coatings markets, this business also offers products used
in the manufacture of industrial coatings (for use on wood, metal,
and in traffic paint); construction materials (for use in rocfing materials,
insulation, and cement modification); and floor care products.

Qur track record of emulsions innavation is fueled by a world-class supply
chain with 29 plants around the world and direct sales into 93 countries.
This breadth of coverage and the associated market understanding sets
us apart from all other suppliers and allows the Paint and Coatings
Materials business to map the next generation of advances in a wide
array of end use segments, centered in the building and construction
markets. The business continues to be the leader in the conversion of
solvent to water-based technologies which enables our customers to
offer more environmentally friendly products including low-vVOC paints,
formaldehyde-free insulation and energy efficient reflective roof coatings.

Qver the last several years, advances in back office systems, asset
utilization and process improvements have also allowed the Paint and
Coatings Materials business to reap two-fold increases in employee
productivity. The benefits of these improvements are often found in
our close customer relationships, which allow us to invest in advanced
technical service programs, pursue targeted research and development
in select markets, and establish long-term investments in emerging
markets such as China, India and Eastern Europe.

Paint and Coatings Materials

Packaging and Building Materials Net Sales

in millions

07 L $1,826
1
"

06

4 . . +

”51,776

05 ’ , $1,766

| I A }

L - $1,000 $1,500 $2.000

Our Packaging and Building Materials business offers a range of polymers,
additives, and formulated value-added products (which utilize a broad
range of chemistries and technologies, including our warld-class acrylic
technology). Packaging and Building Materials’ products are supported
with market recognized best-in-class technical support and end-use
applications knowledge, Products from this business are sold globally,
with approximately 38% in North America, 37% in Europe, 18% in
Asia-Pacific and 7% in Latin America.

Packaging and Building Materials has a very broad product line,
which includes:

* Formulated adhesives and adhesive polymers used in flexible
packaging, tape and label, transportation, and other applications
= Performance enhancing additives for plastics used in a broad array
of applications, especially construction materials {e.g. vinyl siding,
vinyl windows, vinyl fencing) and packaging

° Processing aids for plastic production

e Specialty polymers and coatings for use in leather, textile,
graphic arts, paper, and packaging applications

Packaging and Building Materials

Markets Products End Uses

* Packaging * Packaging adhesives * Flexible and

* Paper * Plastic additives rigid packaging

+ Construction * Pressure sensitive * Vinyl canstruction

« Durables adhesives materials (siding, win-

s Transportation
* Graphic arts
¢ Leather

» Specialty polymers
* Specialty coatings
* Rubber-to-metal

dows, fencing, decks)
* Paper and film
labels and decals

Markets

Products

End Uses

* Building and
construction

* Home improvement

« An array of versatile
acrylic emulsion
polymers and other

= House paints
* Traffic paints
¢ Metal coatings

* Textiles * Consumer, industrial
and specialty tapes

+ Anti-vibration
components

s PVC pipe

« Appliances and
business machines

bonding adhesives
* Flocking agents

* Industrial coatings technologies » Concrete
« A range of additives, * Roof coatings
such as thickeners, * |nsulation
extenders and
opacifiers
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Primary Materials Net Sales

in miflions

07 $2,078
— ]
06 $1,979

[T ! _ J

05 $1,904

C —

50 3500 £1,200 $1.800 $2,400
Primary Materials Internal and External Net Sales
In milfions )

07 $2,078 06 31,979 05 31,904

O Inter-segment Sales
07 $1,103, 06 $1,102, 05 $1,001%

@ External Sales

07 $975, 06 3877, 05 5903

Qur Primary Materials business produces methyl methacrylate, acrylic
acid and associated esters as well as specialty monomer products
which are building blocks used in our downstream polymer businesses
and which are also sold externally. Internal consumption of Primary
Matenials products is principally in the Paint and Coatings Materials
and Packaging and Building Materials businesses. Primary Materials
also provides polyacrylic acid (PAA) dispersants, opacifiers and rheology
modifiers/thickeners to the global household and industrial markets.
Our Primary Materials products are sold globally, with approximately
47% of external sales in North America, 42% in Europe, 6% in
Latin America and approximately 5% in Asia-Pacific.

Primary Metals
Markets Products End Uses
+* Building and + Methyl methacrylate » Adhesives

construction
* Personal care
+ Packaging
* Household products
* Chemicals

* Acrylic acid

 Associated esters

* Specialty monomers

s Polyacrylic acid
dispersants

+ Paints and coatings

* Floor polishes

* Hair sprays

* Laundry and
dishwasher detergents

* Super absorbent
products

Performance Materials Group

This reportable segment includes the sales and operating results
of our other businesses including Process Chemicals and Biocides,
Powder Coatings, and other smaller business units.

Performance Materials Group Net Sales

In miflions
07 $1,205
[ : - - I : RS ]
06 $1,134
[ N . - h [ e Z
05 . - O §1,071
[ g s [N ! . O e Y |
0 $325 3650 $975 $1.300
Performance Materials Group Net Sales by Business Unit
In mitlions
07 $1,205 06 31,134 05 $1,071

28%

© Other
07 %115, 06 $100, 05 $77

O Process Chemicals and Biocides
07 $755, 06 $702, 05 672

® Powder Coatings
07 $335, 06 $332, 05 $322

Regionally, 44% of our Performance Materials Group products are
sold in Europe, 34% in North America, 17% in Asia-Pacific and
5% in Latin America.

Process Chemicals and Biocides includes our technology platforms
in ion exchange resins and biocides. These technologies continue to
be adapted to more advanced applications, such as bioprocessing,
advanced water treatment (e.g. ultrapure water for the electronics
industry}, and microbial protection for both building materials and
personal care. In addition to this strong technology capability, this
business has global reach and adaptable business models, such as
our Viance joint venture for wood preservation.
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Process Chemicals and Biocides

Markets

Products

End Uses

* Paper

e Industrial and
chemical processing

* Lubricants and fuels

* Water processing

* Food processing

s Electronics

* Bioprocessing

 Househald products

s Personal care

* Building and
construction

* Anion and cation
ion exchange resins

* Sedium borohydride
and related
technologies

= Salt-forming bases

+ Adsorbents

* Antimicrobials

* Newspaper

+ Corrosicn inhibitors

+ Pharmaceutical
processes

* Dyes

* Soft drinks and juices

* Ultra pure water

= Catalysis

* Electricity production

= Paints

* Wood preservation

Powder Coatings produces a comprehensive line of powder coatings

that are sprayed onto consumer and industrial products in a sokid form.
During the powder coating process, tiny particles receive an electrostatic
charge as they pass through a sprayer, which causes them to adhere to
the product. The product is later cured at a high temperature, where the
particles melt onto the product to form the final coating. Powder coatings
are often more cost-effective than liquid coatings, while providing
similar or enhanced benefits, including increased durability such as
temperature and wear resistance. Qur powder coatings are used on a
wide variety of products, ranging from door handles to patio and deck
furniture, to windshield wipers, televisions and industrial shelving.

Powder Coatings

Markets

Products

End Uses

+ Home and office goods

* Recreation

= Lawn and garden

« Transportation

+ Building and
construction

= Epoxy, polyester,
silicone and acrylic
powder coatings

* Lamineer -
a low temperature
curing coating

» Architectural
aluminum

* Shelving

*» Tables and chairs

» Office furniture

* Cabinetry

* Machinery

* Gas grills

Aiso included in the results of our Performance Materials Segment
are several small businesses that are building positions based on
technology areas outside of the core of the company’s operations.
For example, our AgroFresh subsidiary is a global leader in maintaining
the freshness of fruits, vegetables and flowers with a portfolio of
products and services based on proprietary 1-MCP technology.
Significant growth opportunities exist in this business as new global

markets and uses are commercialized. AgroFresh is now expanding
the use of 1-MCP technotogy to the protection of field crops from
heat and drought stress. Invinsa™ crop stress protection technology
is being further developed and commercialized in partnership with
Syngenta AB as announced in early 2008.
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Consistent with the company’s Vision 2010 strategy, we intend to
continue to develop businesses focused on technology-driven, fast-
growing market segments in new-to-the-company areas. These efforts
will be included in the results of the Performance Materials Segment,

Salt

With the acquisition of Morton International, Inc. in 1999, we obtained
the rights to some of the most recognized consumer brand names and
product symbals in the United States and in Canada. Our well-recognized
"little Salt Girl” is the trademark of Morton International, Inc. and one
of our most valuable intangible assets. We also acquired the leading
brand in Canada, Windsor Salt™

Salt Net Sales

in millions

30 $300 3600 $900 $1.200

Salt is produced through vacuum pan production, solar evaporation or
mining. Even though the consumer salt business is best known, this
segment extends well beyond table and specialty salts and includes
salt used for water conditioning, ice control, food processing and
chemical/industrial use. Highway ice control sales are driven by the
effects of winter weather. This seasonality has balanced our total
portfolio of businesses, complementing stronger sales in the spring
and summer from many of our Paint and Coatings businesses.
Products from this business are sold exclusively in North America,

Saift
Markets Products End Uses
« Consumer * Salt * Table salt

¢ Home and industrial
water conditioning salt

* |ce control salt {(highway
de-icing and consumer)

¢ Chemical/industrial
processing salt

= Industrial food processing

* Food processing

* Industrial processing
* Chemical processing
+ Water conditioning
= Agricultural

Raw Materials

We use a broad range of raw materials across our operations, and the
raw materials used vary widely among many of our businesses. In most
cases, these raw materials are purchased from multiple sources under
short-term and long-term supply contracts. For 2008, although we



anticipate the supply/demand balance to be tight, we expect the
supply of raw materials to be adequate to meet our demand. If the
overall supply of certain raw materials becomes limited, obtaining
alternative suppliers for the quantities we require could be difficult.

We purchase approximately 3.7 billion pounds annually of a variety of
commodity, petrochemical-based chemicals as raw materials for our
Paint and Coatings Materials, Packaging and Building Materials, Primary
Materials, and Performance Materials Group. The largest consumer of
these raw materials is our Primary Materials business which uses raw
materials such as propylene (the largest single raw material purchased
annually), acetone, ammionia, butanol, ethanol, and methancol to produce
acrylate and methacrylate monomers. These monomers are used primarily
by our Paint and Coatings Materials, Packaging and Building Materials
and Performance Materials Group along with other commodity chemicals
such as styrene, vinyl acetate monomer and butadiene to produce their
end-use products. The Primary Materials business also sells these monomer
products to third parties. We also purchase approximately 23 million
British Thermal Units (mmbtu's) of natural gas for use in our operations.
Petroleum-based raw material prices have been volatile, trending upwards
and can fluctuate significantly over a relatively short period of time.
Raw material prices had, in 2007, and will continue to have in 2008,

a material impact on our consolidated results of operations. Availability
of these materials can also vary due to seasonality, supplier capacity
and customer demand. We have a procurement plan for 2008 which
we believe will meet our requirements. '

Qur Salt segment relies on rock salt and brine well reserves. Qur salt
reserves vary, but all salt production locatiens have sufficient reserves
to satisfy anticipated production requirements for the foreseeable future.
Salt reserves for solar evaporation facilities are generally regarded as
unlimited. With respect to the Salt segment, total salt production in
North America in 2007 was approximately 11 million tons.

Competition and Seasonality

We experience vigorous competition in each of our segments. Qur
competitors include many large, multinational chernical firms based in
Europe, Asia and the United States, as well as a number of regional
and local competitors. In some cases, we compete against firms that
produce commodity chemicals that we purchase as raw materials to make
our specialty products. However, we do not believe this places us at
any significant competitive disadvantage because most of our products
have unique performance characteristics that are required by customers
who demand a high-level of customer service and technical expertise
from our sales force and scientists. Our Salt segment is considerably
impacted by weather related to our sales of highway ice-control salt.
To a much lesser extent, sales in the Paint and Coatings Materials
segment that are used in the architectural coatings market are also
affected by weather, particularly during the spring and summer outdoor
painting seasons.

Environmental

A discussion of environmental related factors can be found in ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and in Note 26: Contingent Liabilities, Guarantees
and Commitments in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Research and Development

We believe that one of the keys to our success is product innovation.
We are committed to ongoing investment in research and development
as a way to differentiate our existing products, while bringing new
technologies and innovative, high-value products to market. A few
examples of meaningful results from our investment are:

» Ecovance™, which is an organic wood preservative that improves the
appearance and performance of treated lumber, and replaces heavy,
metal-based biocides.

* [nvinsa™, a pre-harvest application of our patented 1-MCP technology
for agronomic crops, with the potential to significantly improve yields
by improving heat and drought tolerance.

* Avanse™, which is a polymer technology that improves the cost-
performance balance of architectural paints, meets low VOC
requirements and allows waterborne coatings Lo replace solvent-based
metal coatings.

¢ Display Films that improve the performance of LCD displays.

s Fastrack™, which enables quicker drying road-marking paints.

* Aquaset™, a water-based polymer replacement for formaldehyde
resins, currently used in insulation, but with the possibility for
additional applications.

We believe that our many intellectual properties, both existing and in
development, are of substantial value in the manufacturing, marketing
and application of our various products. As such, we allocate a significant
amount of our operating budget to research and development. Historically,
we have increased our annual spend from year to year. In 2007, total
spending increased to $296 million from $286 million in 2006 and
$262 million in 2005 to support current growth projects. In 2008,
we expect to spend approximately $335 million. Over 79% of our
research and development efforts are currently focused in the Electronic
Materials Group and Paint and Coatings Materials segments and our
niche businesses. On a consolidated basis, we are not dependent, to a
material extent, upon any one trademark, patent or license; however,
certain of our husinesses may be so dependent.

We employ more than 2,000 technologists around the globe and a list

of our technical and research centers throughout the world can be found
in item 2. Properties.
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Where Can You Find More Information About

Rohm and Haas Company?

Corporate Office

100 Independence Mall West

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106-2399

Main Line 1 (215) 592-3000

Investors” Line 1 (800} ROH-0466

www.rohmhaas.com (intended to be an inactive textual reference only)

Copies of our corporate governance policies, charters of the Board of
Directors and the Board committees and our Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics can be obtained free of charge by accessing the Governance
section of our website or by writing to the address listed below;

Rohm and Haas Company

Public Relations Department

100 Independence Mall West
Philadelphia, PA USA 19106-2399

Copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports an Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed with the LS. Securities and Exchange Commission {SEC) can be
obtained free of charge, by accessing the Investors page on our wehsite.
Hard copies may be obtained free of charge, excluding exhibits, by
writing to the address listed below:

Rohm and Haas Company

Public Relations Department

100 Independence Mall West
Philadelphia, PA USA 19106-2399

You may also read and copy any materials we file with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) at the SEC’s Public Reference Room
that is located at 100 F St, NE, Washington, DC 20545. Information
about the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. You can also access our filings
through the SEC's internet site: www.sec.gov {intended to be an inactive
textual reference only)

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The factors described below represent principal risks to our business.
While we have programs in place to manage these risks we face, our
results could be adversely affected by the occurrence of one or more
of these factors.
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» Changes in foreign currencies may adversely affect our financial results.
Approximately 56% of our sales are derived from outside the United
States, a significant portion of which are denocminated in foreign
currencies. We have significant production facilities which are located
outside of the United States. Our financial results therefore will be
affected by changes in foreign currency rates. We use certain financial
instruments to mitigate these effects, but it is not cost effective to
hedge our foreign currency exposure in @ manner that would entirely
eliminate the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on our
earnings, cash flows and fair values of assets and liabifities. Accordingly,
reported sales, net earnings, cash flows and fair values have been and
in the future will be affected by changes in foreign exchange rates.

» Changes in global economic, political and social conditions may
adversely affect our financial results.

We are active participants in the markets of North America, Europe,
Asia-Pacific, and Latin America. Economic and political conditions and
social unrest can cause fluctuations in demand and volatility in the
price of raw materials and other costs that can adversely affect our
financial results, Specifically, economic conditions affecting the building
and construction, electronics, packaging and paper, industrial and
other, transportation, household and perscnal care, water and food
markets could adversely affect our financial results.

o As a muftinational company, changes in foreign laws and regulfatory
réquiremenrs, export controls or international tax treaties could adversely
affect our financial results.

We may have to comply with unexpected changes in foreign laws and
regulatory requirements which could negatively impact our operations
and ability to manage our global resources. Export controls or other
regulatory restrictions could prevent us from shipping our products into
and from some markets. Changes in tax regulation and international tax
treaties could reduce the financial performance of our foreign operations.

° Deliberate, malicious acts, including terrorism, could damage our
facifities, disrupt our operations or injure employees, contractors,
customers or the public and adversely affect our financial results.
Intentional acts of destruction could hinder our sales or production and
disrupt our supply chain. Our facilities could be damaged or destroyed,
reducing our operational production capacity and requiring us to repair
or repiace our facilities at a substantial cost. Employees, contracters and
the public could suffer substantial physical injury for which we could be
liable. Governmental authorities may impose security or other requirements
that could make our operations more difficult or costly. The consequences
of any such actions could adversely affect our financial results.

» Actions by our competitors may adversely affect our financial resuits.
Qur preducts are sold in a competitive, global economy. Competitors
include many large multinational chemical firms based in Europe, Asia and
the United States. New competitive products or pricing policies of aur
competitors can materially affect demand for and pricing of our products.




« Changes in demand may adversely affect our financial results.

Ovur financial results are subject to fluctuations in demand, the effective
forecasting of customer demand, the seasonal activity of certain of our
businesses and weather conditions, particularly for the Salt segment.
We also manufacture and sell our products to customers in industries
and countries that are experiencing periods of rapid change, most notahly
countries in Central and Eastern Europe, Turkey, Russia, Latin America and
the Asia-Pacific region. These factors can affect demand for our products
and therefore may have a significant impact on financial results.

» Restrictions on, and increased costs of, raw material supplies and
energy may adversely affect our financial resufts.

We purchase large amounts of raw materials and energy for our
businesses. The costs of these materials and energy. in the aggregate,
represent a substantial portion of our operating expenses. From time to
time, certain raw materials we require become limited. It is likely this
will occur again in the future. Should such limitations arise, disruptions
of our supply chain may lead to higher prices and/or shortages. Also,
the costs of these raw materials and energy vary with market conditions
and may be highly volatile. While we try to increase the prices of our
praducts to cover increases in our costs, we may not be able to raise
our prices as quickly as the costs rise, if at all, as our customers may not
accept these increases. Ultimately, our ability to pass on increases in
the cost of raw materials or energy to customers is greatly dependent
upon market conditions and raising prices could result in a loss of sales
volume. Further, increases in energy prices may increase our shipping
costs. These limitations and increased costs could adversely affect our
financial results. (See additional discussion of raw materials in Item 1)

* Production facilities are subject to aperating risks and capacity limitations
that may adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.
We are dependent on the continued operation of our production
facilities. Production facilities are subject to hazards associated with the
manufacturing, handling, storage, and transportation of chemical
materials and products, including pipeline leaks and ruptures, explosions,
fires, inclement weather and natural disasters, mechanical failure,
unscheduled downtime, labor difficulties, transportation interruptions,
and environmental risks. Further, from time to time, we may experience
capacity limitations in our manufacturing operations. In addition, if we
are unable to effectively forecast our customers’ demand, it could
affect our ability to successfully manage operating capacity limitations.
These hazards, limitations, disruptions in supply and capacity constraints
could adversely affect financial results.

* An incident affecting the Houston ship channel area may adversely
affect our financial results.

An incident affecting the Houston ship channel area could materially
impact our financial results as it could significantly affect both our
operations because our fargest plant is located there; and our sources of
supply, as a large portion of our petrochemical supply is from this area.

* Failure to develop new technology or the development and successful
implementation of new, competing technologies by our competitors
could adversely affect future financial results.

If we fail to develop new technology or if our competitors successfully
develop and implement new, competing technologies in the market
place, our future financial results could be significantly impacted.

* Failure of our intellectual property protections could adversely affect
future financial resuits.

We have invested significant resources in intellectual properties such as
patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets. Since we depend on
these intellectual resources for our financial stability and future growth,
we rely on the protection that these intellectual property rights provide.
With a significant portion of our operations outside the U.S., we could
face challenges in protecting our intellectual property and we may not
be able to adequately protect our trademarks and other intellectual
property overseas due to uncertainty of taws and enforcement in a
number of countries relating to the protection of inteliectual property
rights. A loss of intelfectual property protections could enhance the
ability of our competitors to develop competitive products, thereby
adversely affect our financial results.

We also rely on unpatented proprietary know-how and continuing
technological innovation and other trade secrets to develop and maintain
our competitive position. While it is our policy to enter into confidentiality
agreements with our employees and third parties to restrict the use
and disclosure of our trade secrets and proprietary know-how, those
confidentiality agreements may be breached. in addition, adequate
remedies may not be available in the event of an unauthorized use or
disclosure of such trade secrets and know-how, and others could obtain
knowledge of such trade secrets through independent development
or other access by legal means. A breach of these trade secrets and
know-how could adversely affect our financial resuits.

o Failure to realize henefits from joint ventures, alfiances or acquisitions
could adversely affect future financial results.

We have entered, and in the future may enter, into arrangements with
other companies ta expand product offerings and to enhance our

own capabilities. We may continue to make strategic acquisitions and
divestitures. In certain of these ventures, we share control with third
parties and run the risk of encountering differences of opinion or
having difficufty in reaching consensus with respect to certain business
issues. In addition, the success of acquisitions of new technologies,
companies and products, or arrangements with third parties, is not
predictable and there can be no assurance that we will be successful

in realizing our objectives, or that realization may not take longer than
anticipated, or that there will not be unintended adverse consequences
from these actions. These complications and issues arising from our
participation in joint ventures, alliances and acquisitions could adversely
affect our financial results.
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 Environmental costs could adversely affect our financial results.

We are subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign environmental,
safety and health laws, and regulations concerning, among other things,
emissions in the air, discharges to land and water, and the generation,
handling, treatment, and disposal of hazardous waste and other
materials. We take our environmental responsibilities very seriously,
but there is a risk of environmental impact inherent in chemical
manufacturing operations. Future developments and more stringent
environmental regulations may require us to make additional unforeseen
environmental expenditures. In addition, laws and regulations require
significant expenditures for environmental protection equipment,
compliance and remediation. These additional costs may adversely
affect our financial results.

s Litigation results could adversely affect our financial results.

We are subject to litigation in the normal course of business. In
addition, we could become subject to additional claims in the future.
An adverse outcome of one or more of these litigation matters,
both current and those that may affect us in the future, could
adversely affect our financial results.

s Inability to attract, develop or retain quality employees could
adversely impact our ability to achieve our objectives.

We have objectives in our businesses and regions to sustain and grow
the company. Continued success in achieving the objectives of the
company depends on the recruitment, development and retention of
qualified employees. Without these employees, we may not be able
to achieve these objectives.

» Any damage to our reputation could adversely affect

our financial results.

Maintaining a goed reputation globally is critical to selling our branded
products. If we fail to maintain high standards for product quality, safety
and integrity, our reputation could be jeopardized. Adverse publicity,
whether or not valid, may reduce demand for our products or cause
production and delivery disruptions. Damage to our reputation or loss
of confidence in our products for any of these reasons could adversely
affect our financial results.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Robm and Haas Company has no unresclved staff comments.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We have significant operations in approximately 96 manufacturing
and 35 research fadilities in 27 countries. The facilities and the segment
to which they relate are detailed in the tables below:
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Non-U.5.
Research and
Reportable  Manutacturing Technical
Country Location Segment Locations Facilities
Argentina Zarate 345 .
Australia Geelong 346 . .
Bahamas Inagua 7 °
Brazil Jacarei 3,456 . .
Canada fles-De-La-Madeleine 7 .
Lindbergh 7 .
Ojibway 7 .
Pugwash 7 .
Regina 7 °
West Hill 3.4 .
Windsor 7 .
China Beijing 34 .
DongGuan 1 . .
Hong Kong 1 . .
Sanshui 345 °
Shanghai 1,346 ° .
Suzhou P °
Weihai 4 o
Colombia Barranquilla 345 .
France Chauny 6 °
Lauterbourg 1,346 °
Semoy 4 °
Valhonne 34,6 .
Villers-Saint-Paul 356
Germany Arnsberg 6 .
Frankfurt 4 .
India Taloja 345 . .
Chennai 3 .
Indonesia Cilegon 34 .
Italy Mozzanica 34 .
Mozzate 4 . b
Parona 4 .
Ramano d’Ezzelino 6 ® .
Japan Kyoto 1 .
Mie 1 .
Nagoya 346 e
Ohmiya 1 .
Sasakami 1,2 . .
Soma 6 .
Mexico Apizaco 34,56 . .
Toluca 4 .
Netherlands Delfzijl 6 .
New Zealand Auckland 34 .
Philippines Las Pinas 34 .
Singapore Singapore 4 .
South Africa New Germany 3,46 .
South Korea Cheonan 1,2 . *
Spain Castellén ] . .
Tudela 34,5 .
Sweden Landskrona 3,4 .
Switzerland Littau/Lucerne 1 . .
Buchs/Acima 6 ° .
Taiwan Chunan 1 ° .
Min-Hsiung 3,46 b4
Taoyuan Hsien 1 . .
Thailand Maptaphut 3456 °
United Kingdom Coventry 1 .
Dewsbury 3.4 °
Grangemouth 4 .
Jarrow 6 .




u.s.
Research and
Reportable  Manufacturing Technical
State Location Segment Locations Facilities
Arizona Glendale 7 .
Phoenix 1 °
California Davis 6 o
Hayward 34 e
La Mirada 3.4 °
Long Beach 7 .
Newark 7 .
Delaware Newark 1 ° .
Florida Cape Canaveral 7 ®
lllinois Kilbourn 6 .
Elston Dock 7 °
Elgin 4,7 .
Elk Grove 4 .
Kankakee 34 .
Ringwood 34 o
Indiana Warsaw 6 .
Kansas Hutchinson 7 .
Kentucky Louisville 3,45 .
Louisiana Weeks kland 6,7 .
Massachusetts Marlborough 1 . .
North Andover 1 . L
Woburn 6 . .
Michigan Manistee 7 °
New Jersey Perth Amboy 7 o
New York Freeport 1 . .
Rochester 2 ° .
Silver Springs 7 .
North Carolina Charlotte 3,4 . .
Ohio cincinnati 4.6 °
Fairport 7 .
Rittman 7 .
West Alexandria 4 . .
Pennsylvania Bristol 3456 .
Philadelphia & .
Reading [ ° .
Spring House 3456 .
Tennessee Knoxville 34,56 .
Texas Bayport 5.6 °
Deer Park 56 . .
Lone Star 3.4 .
Grand Saline 7 ®
Utah Grantsville 7 .
Virginia Blacksburg 1 . .
Washington Eima 6 .
1 Electronic Technologies
2 Display Technologies
3 Paint and Coatings Materials
4 Packaging and Building Materials
5 Primary Materials
6 Performance Materials Group
7 Salt, including mines and evaporation facilities

We consider our facitities to be well maintained and suitably equipped
to meet the production requirements of each of our business segments.

Safety is a key focus, and the overall corporate safety record improved
1o a rate of 0.81 injuries for every 200,000 hours worked in 2007 from
0.94 injuries tor every 200,000 hours worked in 2006 and 0.95 injuries
for every 200,000 hours worked in 2005.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

A discussion of legal proceedings is incorporated herein by reference
to Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 26 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS

TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Ne matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the
fourth quarter of 2007.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON
EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our comman stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol "ROH.” On February 15, 2008, there were 8,535 registered
stockholders of our common stock. Below is a summary of the New York
Stock Exchange Composite high and low closing prices of Rohm and
Haas Company’s stock as well as the cash dividend paid per share for
each guarter of 2005, 2006 and 2007. On February 15, 2008, the last
sales price of our common stock was $53.81.

The following table provides information relating to our purchases of
our common stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2007:

Total Number of
Shares Purthased

Approximate Dollar

Total  Average Value of Shares

Number of Price  as Part of Publicly That May Yet Be
Shares  Paid per Announced Plans  Purchased Under the
Period Purchased' Share or Prograrms2*  Plans or Programs??

QOctober 1, 2007 -

October 31, 2007 - -
Novernber 1, 2007 -

November 30, 2007 - - -
December 1, 2007 -

December 31, 2007 1372 56.96 -

Total 1,372 56.96 -

$1,000,654,218

$1,000,654,218

$1,000,000,000
$1,000,000,000

' 1,372 shares were purchased as a resuift of employee stock option exercises (stock swaps).

2 in Decernber 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to §1 billion of our
common stock through 2008, with the timing of the purchases depending on market conditions
and ather priorities for cash. As of September 30, 2007, most of the $1 billion had been used to
repurchase approximately 20.2 million shares of our stock. The immateral amount remaining i
this authorization expired as of December 31, 2067

3 In July 2007, our Board of Directors authorized another 52 biflion towards repurchasing our common
stock through 2010, In Septomber 2007, we entered into an agreement, pursuant to which we

Period High Low DMS:;E purchased 16.2 million shares from a financial institution, The initial purchase price for the shares
g was $1 billion in the aggregate, inchuding a brokerage fee. The average share price for the 16.2 mif-
2005 lion shares was $61.77. The average share price will ba adjusted at the end of the agreement, which
1st quarier $50.00 $41.29 $0.25 is not expected to fast fonger than nine months based on the final volume weighted average price
2nd quarter 4923 42.42 0.29 of aur common stock over this period. As of December 31, 2007, $1 billion of this authorization
3rd quarter 47.75 39.47 0.29 remains outstanding and will be funded from available cash, with the timing of the purchases
ath quarter 49,70 39.78 0'29 depending on market conditions.
2006 Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
1st quarter $51.56  $49.95 §0.29  Percent return ta shareholders
2nd quarter 52.60 45.24 0.33
3rd quarter 50.56 42.77 0.33
4th quarter 53.86 46.71 0.33
2007
1st quarter $57.54  $49.68 $0.33
2nd quarter 55.59 49,81 0.37
3rd quarter 6268  52.51 037 35
4th guarter 57.85 47.05 0.37 03 04 05 06 07
O Rohm and Haas O S&P 500 Chemicals Index
Stock Price ® S&P 500 index © S&P 500 Specialty
in doflars per share Chemicals Index
65
This comparison above reflects the five-year cumulative total return of an investment made on
€0 December 31, 2002 in Rohm and Haas Common stock, the S&P 500 Composite index, the S&FP 500
11 Chemicals Index and the 5&P 500 Specialty Chernicals Index and the reinvestment of dividends,
Sovirce: Bioomberg
50
a5
40
) 35
L+ 02 03 ™ Ql w3 M M 02 Q3 o
05 06 07
© High @ Low
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sets forth selected consolidated financial data for
the years presented below as derived from our historical financial
statements. Also see Consolidated Results of Operations for the

Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data

Years ended December 31, 2005 through December 31, 2007 in
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations for additional information {(see Item 7.).

In millions, except per share, stockholders and employees For the years ended Decermnber 31, 2007 200614 200512 200412 20033
Statement of operating information
Net safes $ 8,897 $ 8,230 $ 7,885 $ 7.186 § 6314
Gross profit® 2,467 2,483 2,373 2,116 1,882
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes,

minority interest and cumulative effect of accounting change 880 1,042 868 698 397
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect

of accounting change 660 755 616 484 275
Discontinued operations

Income ({loss) from discontinued line of business, net of income tax 1 (4) 22 12 13
{Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued line of business, net of income tax - (16) (1) 1 -
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes - - - - 8)
Net earnings $ 661 § 735 $ 637 $ 497 $ 280
As a percent of net sales®
Gross profit 27.7% 302% 30.1% 29.4% 29.8%
Selling and administrative expense 12.3% 12.6% 12.8% 13.9% 13.8%
Research and development expense 3.3% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5% 3.6%
Earnings from continuing operations
Basic $ 3.7 $ 345 $ 278 § 217 $ 124
Diluted 3.12 341 2.75 2.16 1.24
Cash dividends per common share $ 144 $ 1.28 § 112 $ 097 $ 086
Comimon stock price
High $ 62.68 $ 53.86 $ 50.00 1 4541 $ 43.05
Low 47.05 4277 39.47 35.90 26.26
Year-end close 53.07 51.12 48.42 44.23 42N
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic 207.8 218.9 2219 2229 2215
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - dituted 211.0 221.2 2239 224.2 2224
Balance sheet data®
Land, buildings and equipment, gross $ 8779 $ 8,150 $ 7.850 $ 7,940 § 7,628
Total assets 10,208 9,553 9,695 10,095 9,511
Current portion of long-term debt 8 281 11 " 10
Other short-term borrowings 150 112 110 66 a8
Long-term debt 3,139 1,688 2,074 2,563 2,473
Total debt 3,297 2,081 2,195 2,640 2,581
Stockholders' equity** 3,146 4,034 3,917 3,697 3,357
Number of registered stockholders 8,584 8,957 8,406 8,726 9,106
Number of employees 15,710 15,815 15,924 16,067 16,661

' The results of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 reflect the consolidation of a joint venture as of January 1, 2004. This joint venture was previously accounted for as an equity

method investment in our reported resuits.

2 The results of the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 have been redassified to reflect Automotive Coatings as a discontinued operation {see Note 2 to the Consolidated finandial Statements).
1in 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Asset Retirement Obligations,” we recorded a transitrion charge of $11 million ($8 million after-tax) as a cumulative effect of accounting change.
* As a result of the implementation of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans,” we recorded a $245 million charge to stockhoiders” equity

(see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements} in 2006,

$ The primary reason for the reduction in Stockholders' equity in 2007 is due to a §1 billion accelerated share repurchase (see Consolidated Statements of Stockholder’s Equity and Note 22 Stockholder’s Equity).

6 Reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-looking Statements

The statements in this Form 10-K and in reports subsequently

filed by Rohm and Haas Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commissicn on Forms 10-Q and 8-K, and related comments by man-
agement which are not historical facts or information and contain
words such as "anticipates,” "estimates,” "expects,” “projects,”
“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” and similar expressions are forward-
locking statements. These forward-looking statements involve risks
and uncertainties that may cause the actual outcome to be materially
different. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to:

"N I " ou

rou

Global! Economic and Political Climate

s Changes in foreign currency rates

e Changes in worldwide economic conditions

* Changes in trade policies or tariffs

» Changes in interest rates

« Changes in stock prices

¢ Changes in discount rates affecting the measurement
of our pension and retiree medical liabilities

* Political unrest

e Possible disruption in commercial activities due to terrorist
activity or armed conflict

Competition and Demand

» ntroduction of new products/technologies by competitors

¢ Changes in the pricing policies of our competitors

* Fluctuations in demand

* Ability to maintain sales volume in the event of increased
selling prices

* Seasonal activity of certain of our businesses and weather
conditions, particularly for the Salt segment

Raw Material Supplies and Energy

e Limited resources for raw materials, potential for shortage

¢ Volatility in raw material and energy prices

e Ability to obtain increases in selling prices to offset increases
in raw material and energy costs

Capacity Limitations

s Capacity limitations in our manufacturing operations

« |nefficiencies in the running of our manufacturing facilities

« An incident affecting the Houston ship channel area, as it could
significantly affect both our operations and our sources of supply

e Disruptions in supply and capacity constraints
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Inteflectual Property and Other Technology lssues

= Ahility to protect such intellectual properties such as patents,
trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets, especially in regions
where intellectual property rights are not as strong as in the U.S.

e Changes in customer requirements

+ Ability to develop new technology

+ Acceptance of new products/technologies in the marketplace

Joint Ventures, Acquisitions, and other Alliances
= Ability to realize expected benefits from joint ventures,
acquisitions or alliances

Environmental Costs and Litigation Resuits
e Future developments and new environmental regulations
¢ Litigation outcomes

Talent
= Ability to aftract, develop or retain quality employees

Other risks and uncertainties detaifed in ftem 1A. Risk Factors
or in our filings with the SEC

The following cormmentary should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005,

We are a global specialty materials company that brings technology
and innovation to the market to enhance the performance of end-

use consumer products made by our customers. Our products are sold
primarily for use in the building and construction, electronics, packaging
and paper, industrial and other, transportation, household and personal
care, water and food markets. Our Salt business has one of the most
recognizable brand names in the world. We operate seven reportable
segments: Electronic Materials Group {(Electronic Technologies and
Display Technologies), Specialty Materials Group (Paint and Coatings
Materials, Packaging and Building Materials and Primary Materials),
Performance Materials Group, and Salt.

2007 — A Year in Review

2007 represents another excellent year of performance for the company,
resulting in record sales. The results reflect the company’s ability to operate
in a dynamic world through superior execution of its business strategies.
Significant items affecting the results of 2007 operations include:

* The continued growth in our core businesses of the Electronic
Materials Group and Paint and Coatings Materials;

* The overall acceleration of growth in the Rapidly Developing Economies;

» The investment in new facilities to expand our global research,
technical service and manufacturing footprint; and,



s The balanced deployment of cash for investment in growth
initiatives, double-digit dividend increase, and stock repurchases.

In 2007, we reported sales of $8,897 million, an 8% increase over
2006, with reported earnings from continuing operations in 2007 of
$660 million, or $3.12 per share, as compared to 2006 earnings from
continuing operations of $755 million or $3.41 per share. The increase
in sates was due to the favorable performance of Salt, robust demand
in Electronic Materials and strong chemicals growth in Rapidly Developing
Economies. The increase in sales was more than offset by deterioration
in the U.S. building and construction markets; significantly higher than
anticipated raw materials, energy and freight costs, and the disappointing
operating performance of our Houston monomers plant, resulting in
lower earnings per share.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Qur Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP). The preparation of these financial statements requires
us to make estimates and assumgptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses, assets, liabilities and equity and the disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities. Management considers an
accounting estimate to be critical to the preparation of our financial
statements when:

* The estimate is complex in nature or requires a high degree
of judgment, and

* The use of different estimates and assumptions could have
a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management has discussed the development and selection of our
critical accounting estimates and related disclosures with the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors. Those estimates critical to the
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed below.

Litigation and Environmental Reserves

We are involved in litigation in the ordinary course of business involving
employee, personal injury, property damage and environmental matters.
Additionally, we are involved in environmental remediation and spend
significant amounts for both company-owned and third-party locations.
In accordance with GAAP, we are required to assess these matters to:
1) determine if a liability is probable; and 2) record such a liability when
the financial exposure can be reasonably estimated. The determination
and estimation of these liabilities are critical to the preparation of our
financial statements. Accruals for estimated losses from environmental
remediation obligations generally are recognized at the point during
the remedial feasibility study when costs become probable and
estimable. We do not accrue for legal costs expected to be incurred
with a loss contingency.

In reviewing such matters, we consider a broad range of information,
including the claims, demands, settlement offers received from govern-
mental authorities or private parties, estimates performed by independent
third parties, identification of other responsible parties and an assess-
ment of their ability to contribute as well as our prior experience, to
determine if a liability is probable and if the value is estimable. If both
of these conditions are met, we record a reserve. These reserves include
liabilities expected to be paid out within the next 10 years. If we believe
that no best estimate exists, we accrue the minimum in a range of
possible losses, and disclose any material, reasonably possible, addi-
tional losses. If we determine a liability to be only reasonably possible,
we consider the same information to estimate the possible exposure
and disclose any material potential liability. In addition, estimates for
liabilities to be incurred between 11 to 30 years in the future are also
considered only reasonably possible because the chance of a future
event occurring is more than remote but less than probable. These

loss contingencies are monitored regularly for a change in fact or
circumstance that would require an accrual adjustrment,

Qur most significant reserves are those that have been established for
remediation and restoration costs associated with environmental issues.
As of December 31, 2007, we have $150 million reserved for environ-
mental-related costs. We conduct studies and site surveys to determine
the extent of environmental contamination and necessary remediation.
With the expertise of our environmental engineers and legal counsel,
we determine our best estimates for remediation and restoration costs.
These estimates are based on forecasts of future costs for remediation
and change periodically as additional and better information becomes
available. Changes to assumptions and considerations used to calculate
remediation reserves could materially affect our results of operations

or financial position. If we determine that the scope of remediation is
broader than originally planned, discover new contamination, discover
previousty unknown sites or become subject to related personal injury
or property damage claims, our estimates and assumptions could
materially change.

We believe the current assumptions and cther considerations used to
estimate reserves for both our environmental and other legal liabilities
are appropriate. These estimates are based in large part on information
currently available and the current laws and regulations governing
these matters. If additional information becomes available or there are
changes to the laws or regulations or actual experience differs from the
assurnptions and considerations used in estimating our reserves, the
resulting change could have a materia! impact on the results of our
operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Income Taxes

Our annual tax rate is determined based on our income, statutory tax
rates and the tax impacts of items treated differently for tax purposes
than for financial reporting purposes. Tax law requires certain items
to be included in the tax return at different times than the items are
reflected in the financial statements. Some of these differences are
permanent, such as expenses that are not deductible in our tax return,
and some differences are temporary, reversing over time, such as
depreciation expense. These ternporary differences create deferred
tax assets and liabilities. The objective of accounting for income taxes
is to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial
statements or tax returns.

In the determination of our tax provision, we have recorded deferred
income taxes on income from foreign subsidiaries which have not been
reinvested abroad permanently as upon remittance to the United States
such earnings are taxable. For foreign subsidiaries where earnings are
permanently reinvested outside the United States, no additional United
States income taxes have been provided,

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous
foreign jurisdictions and are subject to audit within these jurisdictions.
As a result, in the ordinary course of business there is inherent uncer-
tainty in quantifying our income tax positions. We assess our income
tax positions and record accruals for all years subject to examination
based upon management’s evaluation of the facts, circumstances and
information available at the reporting date. For those tax positions
where it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained,
we have recorded the largest amount of tax benefit with a greater
than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlerment with
a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.
We adjust these accruals, if necessary, upon the completion of tax
audits or changes in tax law.

Since significant judgment is required to assess the future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial
statements or tax returns, the ultimate resolution of these events could
result in adjustments to our financial statements and such adjustments
could be matenal. Therefore, we consider such estimates to be critical
to the preparation of our financial statements.

We believe that the current assumptions and other considerations used
to estimate the current year accrued and deferred tax positions are
appropriate. However, if the actual outcome of future tax consequences
differs from our estimates and assumptions due to changes or future
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events, such as changes in tax legislation, geographic mix of earnings,
completion of tax audits or earnings repatriation plans, the resulting
change to the provision for income taxes could have a material impact
on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Restructuring

When appropriate, we record charges relating to efforts to strategically
reposition our manufacturing footprint and support service functions.
To the extent that exact amounts are not determinable, we have estab-
lished reserves for such initiatives by calculating our best estimate of
employee termination costs utilizing detailed restructuring plans approved
by management. Reserve calculations are based upon various factors
including an employee’s length of service, contract provisions, salary
level and health care benefit choices. We believe the estimates and
assumptions used to calculate these restructuring provisions are appro-
priate, and although significant changes are not anticipated, actual
costs could differ from the assumptions and considerations used in
estimating reserves should changes be made in the nature or timing
of our restructuring plans. The resulting change could have a material
impact on our results of operations or financial paosition.

Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets include land, buildings and equipment, fong-term
investments, goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and cther
intangible assets. Long-lived assets, other than investments, goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets, are depreciated over their esti-
mated useful lives, and are reviewed for impairment whenever changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Such circumstances would include a significant decrease in the market
price of a long-lived asset, a significant adverse change in the manner
in which the asset is being used or in its physicat condition, or a history
of operating or cash flow losses associated with the use of the asset. In
addition, changes in the expected useful life of these long-lived assets
may also be an impairment indicator. As a result, future decisions to
change our manufacturing footprint or exit certain businesses could
result in material impairment charges.

When such events or changes occur, we estimate the future undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the assets’ use and, if applicable,
the eventual disposition of the assets. The key variables that we must
estimate include assumptions regarding sales volume, selling prices,
raw material prices, labor and other employee benefit costs, capital
additions and other economic factors. These variables require signifi-
cant management judgment and include inherent uncertainties since
they are forecasting future events. If such assets are considered
impaired, they are written down to fair value as appropriate.



Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed annually or
more frequently if changes in circurnstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable. To test for recoverability, we typically utilize
discounted estimated future cash flows to measure fair value for each
reporting unit. This calculation is highly sensitive to both the estimated
future cash flows of each reporting unit and the discount rate assumed
in these calculations, These components are discussed below:

Estimated Future Cash Flows The key variables that we must estimate
to determine future cash flows include assumptions for sales volume,
selling prices, raw material prices, labor and other employee benefit
costs, capital additions and other economic or market-related factors.
Significant management judgment is involved in estimating these vari-
ables, and they include inherent uncertainties since they are forecasting
future events. For example, unanticipated changes in competition,
customer spurcing requirements and product maturity would all have
a significant impact on these estimates.

Discount Rate We employ a Weighted Average Cost of Capital (“WACC"}
approach to determine our discount rate for goodwill recoverability
testing. Qur WACC calculation includes factors such as the risk free
rate of return, cost of debt and expected equity premiums. The factors
in this calculation are largely external to our company, and therefore
are beyond our control. The average WACC utilized in our annual test
of goodwill recoverability in May 2007 was 9.88%, which was based
upon average business enterprise value. A 1% increase in the WACC
will result in an approximate 11% decrease in the computed fair value
of our reporting units. A 1% decrease in the WACC will result in an
approximate 16% increase in the computed fair value of our reporting
units. The following table summarizes the major factors that influenced
the rate:

2007 2006
Risk free rate of return 5.1%
Cost of debt 6.7%
Market risk premiurn 4.0%

The decrease in the risk free rate of return is due te the overall
decrease in U.S. long-term interest rates between the dates of our
annual impairment testing in May 2006 and May 2007,

In the second quarter of 2007 and 2006, we completed our annual
FAS 142 impairment review and determined that goodwill and indefi-
nite-lived intangible assets were not impaired as of May 31, 2007 and
2006. We believe the current assumptions and other considerations
used in the above estimates are reasonable and appropriate. A material

53%
7.6%
4.0%

adverse change in the estimated future cash flows of our business or
significant increases in the WACC rate could result in the fair value
falling below the book value of its net assets. This could result in a
material impairment charge.

The fair values of our long-term investments are dependent on the
financial performance and solvency of the entities in which we invest,
as well as the volatility inherent in their external markets. In assessing
potential impairment for these investrnents, we will consider these
factors as well as the forecasted financial performance of these invest-
ment entities. If these forecasts are not met, we may have to record
impairment charges.

Pension and Other Employee Benefits

Certain assumptions are used to measure the plan obligations of
company-sponsored defined benefit pension plans, post-retirement
benefits, post-employment benefits (e.g., medical, disability) and other
employee liabilities. Plan obligations and annual expense calculations
are based on a number of key assumptions. These assumptions include
the weighted-average discount rate at which obligations can be effec-
tively settled, the anticipated rate of future increases in compensation
levels, the expected long-term rate of return on assets, increases or
trends in health care costs, and certain employee-related factors, such
as turnover, retirement age and mortality. Management reviews these
assurptions at least annually and updates the assumptions as appro-
priate to reflect our actual experience and expectations on a plan
specific basis.

The discount rates for our defined benefit and postretirement benefit
plans are determined by projecting the plans’ expected future benefit
payments as defined for the projected benefit obligation, discounting
those expected payments using a zero-coupon spot yield curve derived
from a universe of high-quality bonds (rated Aa or better by Moody's
Investor Services) as of the measurement date, and solving for the sin-
gle equivalent discount rate that results in the same projected benefit
obligation. Our calculation excludes bonds with explicit call schedules
and bonds which are not frequently traded.

The expected return on plan assets is based on our estimates of
long-term returns on major asset categories, such as fixed income

and equity securities, and our actual allocation of pension investments
among these asset classes. In determining our long-term expected rate
of return, we take into account long-term historical returns, historical
performance of plan assets, the expected value of active investment
management, and the expected interest rate environment.
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In determining annual expense for the U.S., Canada, and UK pension
plans, we use a market-related value of assets rather than the fair
value. The market-related value of assets is a smoothed actuarial value
of assets equal to a moving average of market values in which invest-
ment incorme or loss is recognized over a five-year period. Accordingly,
changes in the fair market value of assets are not immediately reflected
in our calculation of net periodic pension cost. For our other plans, net
periodic pension expense is determined using the fair value of assets.

We believe that the current assumptions used to estimate plan obligations
and annual expense are appropriate in the current economic environ-
ment. However, if economic conditions change, we may be inclined to
change some of our assumptions, and the resulting change could have
a material impact on the consolidated statements of operations and on

the balance sheets. At each measurement date, gains and losses from
actual experience differing from our assumptions and from changes in
our assumptions are calculated. if this net accumulated gain or loss
exceeds 10% of the greater of plan assets or liabilities, a portion of the
net gain or loss is included in pension expense for the following year.

The weighted-average discount rate, the rate of compensaticn increase
and the estimated return on plan assets used in our determination of
plan obligations and pension expense are as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2007 2006
1.5 Non-US, LS. NonU.S.

Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine benefit obligation

Discount rate 6.21% 5.66% 5.90% 5.09%
Rate of compensation increase 400% 4.24% 400% 391%
Years ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
U.5. Non-U.5. Us, Non-U.S. us. Non-U.S.
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net pension expense
Discount rate 5.90% 5.05% 5.70% 4.77% 5.80% 5.49%
Estimated return on plan assets 8.50% 6.72% 8.50% 6.97% 8.50% 7.37%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 3.91% 4.00% 3.88% 4.00% 4.14%

The following illustrates the annual impact on pension expense of
a 100 basis point increase or decrease from the assumptions used
to determine the net cost for the year ending December 31, 2007.

Weighted-Average Estimated Return Combined Increase/

in miflions Discount Rate on Plan Assets {Decrease) Pension Expense

us. Non-U.S. us. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.S.
100 basis point increase $(22) $10) $(17) $(7) (39 3017
100 basis point decrease 33 " 17 7 50 18

The following illustrates the annual impact on postretirement benefit
expense of a 100 basis point increase or decrease from the discount rate
used to determine the net cost for the year ending December 31, 2007,

in miflions U5, Non-US.
Weighted-average discount rate

100 basis point increase $1 $(1)
100 basis point decrease (m 1
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Share-Based Compensation

We account for share-based compensation in accordance with the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments,”
Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, share-based
compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the value
of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period.
Determining the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date
requires judgment, including estimation of the expected term of stock
options, the expected volatility of our stock, expected dividends, and
risk-free interest rates. If actual results differ significantly from these
estimates, share-based compensation expense and our results of
operations could be materially impacted.




Reportable Segments at December 31, 2007

We operate seven reportable segments, as presented below. Additional
information regarding the markets these segments serve can be found
in Item 1, Business. Qur sales and earnings by reportable operating
segment and region are presented below.

Net Sales

North Asia- Latin Segment
In miflions America Europe Pacific America Eliminations Total
Electronic Technologies
2007 $ 407 $ 230 $1,029 . S S - $ 1,666
2006 436 226 889 - - 1,551
2005 3N 206 742 - - 1,319
Display Technologies
2007 $ 1 b T s 44 $ - S - $ 45
2006 1 - 12 - - 13
2005 - - 13 - - 13
Electronic Materials Group
2007 $ 408 §$ 230 $1,073 s - $ - $1.111
2006 437 226 901 - - 1,564
2005 371 206 755 - - 1,332
Paint and Coatings Materials
2007 $1,258 $ 3% $ 326 $140 5 - $ 2,120
2006 1,324 355 252 119 - 2,050
2005 1,224 332 233 99 - 1,888
Packaging and Building Materials
2007 5 701 5 681 $ 320 $128 5 - $ 1,826
2006 733 649 282 12 - 1,776
2005 739 664 258 105 - 1,766
Primary Materials
2007 $ 460 $ 407 $ 45 $ 63 $1.103 $ 2,078
2006 456 327 40 54 1,102 1,979
2005 484 322 39 58 1,001 1,904
Segment eliminations
2007 L $ - s - s - $(1,103) $(1,103)
2006 - - - - (1,102} (1,102)
2005 - - - - {1,001) {1,001}
Specialty Materials Group
2007 $2,419 $1,484 $ 691 $327 $ - $ 4,921
2006 2,513 1,331 574 285 - 4,703
2005 2,447 1,318 530 262 - 4,557
Performance Materials Group
2007 $ 410 $ 527 $ 209 $ 59 5 - $ 1,205
2006 420 473 184 57 - 1,134
2005 33 464 170 46 - 1.071
Sait
2007 $1,060 s - 5 - $ - 5 - $ 1,060
2006 829 - - - - 829
2005 925 - - - - 925
Total
2007 $4.297 $2.241 $1,973 $386 $ - $ 8,897
2006 4,199 2,030 1,65% 342 - 8,230
2005 4,134 1,988 1,455 308 - 7.885

1 The results for the years ended December 31, 2005 have been reclassified to reflect Automotive Coatings as 2 discontinued operation (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Ffinancial Statements).
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In millions 2007 2006 2005!
Net earnings from continuing operations

Electronic Technologies $ 299 $ 242 $146
Display Technologies 7 1 3

Electronic Materials Group $ 282 $243 $ 149
Paint and Coatings Materials 246 258 250
Packaging and Building Materials 123 136 119
Primary Materials 82 158 163

Specialty Materials Group $ 451 $ 552 $532
Performance Materials Group 100 77 54
Salt 87 40 57
Corparate (260) {157y  3(176)

Total $ 660 $ 755 $ 616

! The results for the year ended Decamber 31, 2005 have been reclassified to reflect Automotive
Coatings as a discontinued operation {see Note 2 to the Caonsolidated Financial Statements).

Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years Ended
December 31, 2005 through December 31, 2007

Net Sales and Gross Profits

In 2007, our consolidated net sales were $8,897 million, an increase
of 8% or $667 million over 2006 net sales of $8,230 million. This
increase was primarily driven by higher demand and favorable curren-
cies. The Electronic Materials Group showed strong performance, with
accelerating growth, particularly in the second half of the year. The
Salt business showed strong performance, benefiting from favorable
weather conditions in the fourth quarter, as well as improved product
mix and pricing management. The Specialty Materials Group showed
strong growth in all regions outside of North America, including Rapidly
Developing Economies. The Performance Materials Group continued
to benefit from stronger demand, particularly in the Asia Pacific and
Latin America Regions, coupled with the impact of increased pricing
and favorable currencies in Europe, which more than offset weakness
in North America.

in 2006, our consolidated net sales were $8,230 million, an increase of
4% or $345 million over 2005 net sales of $7,885 million. This increase
was primarily driven by higher demand and selling prices across most
of our businesses, partially offset by currency. The key driver for the
growth in sales was the strength of our Electronics Materials Group
with a full-year sales increase of 17%. In addition, other parts of our
portfolio also had strong 1ull year sales results, with Paint and Coatings
up 9%, Performance Materials up 6%, and Primary Materials up 4%.
On a full-year basis, Salt was down 10%, reflecting the effects of the
lower ice-control sales in the first and fourth quarters of 2006 as
compared to 2005.
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2007 2006
from from
In percent 2006 2005
Sales change
Demand/volume 4 3
Currency 3 (1)
Selling price i 2
Total change 8% 4%
in milions 2007 2006 2005
Gross profit $2,467 32483 $2,373
As a percentage of sales 27.7%  302%  30.1%

Gross profit for 2007 was $2,467 million, a decrease of 1% from
$2,483 million in 2006, on higher sales. The 250 basis point decrease
in 2007 versus 2006 gross profit margin reflects the impact of higher
raw material, energy and freight costs and the poor operating perform-
ance of our Houston monomer plant which more than offset increases
in demand, currency and selling prices.

Gross profit for 2006 was $2,483 million, an increase of 5% from
$2,373 mitlion in 2005, on higher sales. Gress profit margin increased
in 2006 to 30.2% from 30.1% in 2005 due to higher selling prices
necessary to offset higher raw material, operating and energy costs,
Favorable currencies and product mix also helped margins.

In 2008, we continue to anticipate higher and more volatile raw
material and natural gas prices. To mitigate the impact of high and
volatile raw material and energy costs, we have increased selling prices,
and we are exercising control over discretionary spending, and utilizing
swap, option and collar contracts. For further information regarding
the impact of raw materials on our businesses, please see “Raw
Materials” on page 14.

Selling and Administrative Expense

In miffions 2007 2006 2005
Selling and administrative expense $1,091  $1,041  $1,008
As a percentage of sales 12.3% 12.7% 12.8%

In 2007, selling and administrative expense decreased as a percentage
of sales as positive sales growth mare than offset the $50 million increase
in costs in comparison to 2006. The increase in costs is primarily due to
normal salary increases, the negative impact of currencies, costs related
to the establishment of a European Headquarters in Switzerland, as
well as additional costs resulting from acquisitions,




In 2006, selling and administrative expense increased $33 million

or 3% to $1,041 million from $1,008 million in 2005. The increase
largely reflects increased spending o support marketing and growth
initiatives as well as the establishment of our European Headquarters
in Switzerland. In addition, effective September 29, 2006, our vacation
policy changed for certain U.S. employees. This change resulted in a
$16 million decrease, of which $7 million, $6 mitlion, and $3 mitlion
related to selling and administrative expenses, costs of goods sold,
and research and development expense, respectively for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

We believe that our cost savings initiatives will continue to reduce
certain administrative costs as we improve efficiencies. However, we
anticipate overall higher employee-related costs in 2008 as a result of
normal salary increases and the increasing rate of healthcare costs. These
increases will only partially be offset by lower pension costs, resulting
from lower amortization of plan losses attributable to 2007 actuarial
gains, higher discount rates, and our prior year plan contributions.

Research and Development Expense

In mitlions 2007 2006 2005
Research and development expense $296 £286 1262
As a percentage of sales 3.3% 3.5% 3.3%

We spent $296 million on research and development in 2007, representing
a 3% increase from $286 million in 2006. In 2006, we spent $286 mil-
lion in research and development, a 9% increase from $262 million in
2005. The increases reflect higher employee-related costs as well as
new growth initiatives in the Electronic Materials Group, Performance
Materials Group and Paint and Ceatings Materials businesses.

In 2008, we expect to spend approximately $335 million on research
and development,

Interest Expense

Interest expense for 2007 increased $26 million from $94 million
during 2006 to $120 million during 2007, The increase is primarily
attributable to the issuance of new debt in Septernber 2007 to fund
a 31 billion accelerated share repurchase coupled with an increase
in effective interest rates.

Interest expense for 2006 was $94 million, representing a 20% decrease
from $117 million in 2005. The primary reason for the decrease was
due to lower levels of debt and a lower overall effective interest rate,
During 2006, we retired the remaining $100 million of our 7.40% notes
due in 2009 and 8.25 billion of lapanese Yen denominated variable rate
notes {approximately $70 million at September 30, 2006). During 2005,
we retired $400 million in U.S. notes and exchanged 240 million Euro
(approximately $284 million at December 31, 2005) in Euro-denominated
notes for a more favorable effective interest rate and an extended term.

Amonrtization of Finite-lived Intangible Assets

Amecrtization of intangible assets for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was

$57 million, $56 million, and $55 million respectively. The $1 million
increase from 2006 to 2007 is mainly due to additional amortization
of intangible assets primarily resulting from the acquisition of Eastman
Kodak Company’s light management film technology assets on June
15, 2007 and the acquisition of an interest in the SKC Haas Display
Fitm joint venture on December 1, 2007, The $1 million increase from
2005 to 2006 is primarily due to additional amortization of intangible
assets resulting from the acquisition of Floralife®, Inc. in the second
quarter of 2006.

Amortization of intangible assets is estimated to be approximately
$61 million in 2008.

Restructuring and Asset Impairments

in miflions 2007 2006 2005
Severance and employee benefits (net) $10 $23 $19
Asset impairments, net of gains on sales 18 2 79
Other, including contract lease termination penalties - 2 -
Amount charged to earnings $28 $27 $98

Restructuring and Asset Impairments by Business Segment

in miflions 2007 2006 2005
Business Segment
Electranic Technologies $(2) ${1 $31
Display Technologies 4 - -
Electronic Materials Group $2 $(1) $31
Paint and Coatings Materials 1 4 -
Packaging and Building Materials 2 5 54
Primary Materials - 2 -
Specialty Materials Group $3 $11 354
Performance Materials Group 9 8 20
Salt - 5 -
Carparate 14 4 (7)
Total $28 $27 $98

Severance and Employee Benefits For the year ended December 31,
2007, we recorded approximately $15 million of expense for severance
and associated employee benefits, primarily associated with the elimi-
nation of 201 paositions as part of our on-going efforts to reposition
our business portfolio for accelerated growth by exiting non-strategic
business lines, as well as to improve operating excellence through pro-
ductivity initiatives in manufacturing, research and development, and
business services. Reducing the effect of the 2007 charge were favor-
able adjustments of $5 million for severance and employee benefits
due to fewer employee separations than originally anticipated related
to 2005 and 2006 initiatives. The 2007 cost savings initiatives are
expected to yield pre-tax savings of approximately $21 million annually.
Of the initial 201 positions identified, we reduced the total number of
positions to be affected by these initiatives by 9 to 192 positions in
total. As of December 31, 2007, 72 positions have been eliminated.
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For the year ended Decernber 31, 2006, we recorded approximately
$26 million of expense for severance and associated employee benefits
assoctated with the elimination of 329 positions, primarily in our Paint
and Coatings Materials, Performance Materials and Salt segments,
concentrated in North America, and several North American support
services functions. Qur management approved restructuring initiatives
to implement organizationat alignments to support our Vision 2010
strategy and to further improve the efficiency of our manufacturing
network. The organizational alignments included a more streamlined
business structure, and deployment of resources to higher growth
markets. The restructuring charge resulted from efficiency initiatives in
North American Chemical and Salt businesses. The staffing reductions
related to several of our manufacturing operations and were a direct
result of changes in the execution of existing processes and productiv-
ity improvements, while support services staffing reductions were made
possible as we continued to capitalize on the enhancements achieved
through the implementation of our enterprise resource planning system.
This charge was partially offset by 31 million of favorable adjustments
to adequately reflect changes in estimates of remaining cbligations
related to severance payments within our global Graphic Ants business
within our Packaging and Building Materials segment, an initiative
arnounced in the first quarter of 2006. Additionally, there were favorable
adjustments of $2 million related to severance and employee henefits
due to fewer employee separations than originally anticipated offset by
$2 million for lease contract obligations related to our 2005 and prior
initiatives. The 2006 restructuring initiatives are expected to yield pre-tax
savings of $33 million annually. Of the initial 329 positions identified,
we reduced the total number of positions by 47 to 282 positions in
total. As of December 31, 2007, 250 positions have been eliminated.

For the year ended Decermnber 31, 2005, our management approved
restructuring initiatives to further improve the efficiency of our manu-
facturing network and support organization across several of our
business segments. The 2005 restructuring initiatives involved the closing
or partial shutdown of manufacturing facilities in North America, the
United Kingdom and Gerrnany, in addition to a North American research
and development facility. Included in the net $19 million restructuring
expense for 2005 were provisions for severance and employee benefits
of $36 million for 590 employees company-wide, impacting virtually
all areas including sales and marketing, manufacturing, administrative
support and research personnel, and provisions for contract and lease
terminations totaling $1 million. Offsetting the 2005 charge were
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favorable adjustments relating to prior years® restructuring reserves of
£17 million and $1 million, primarily related to severance and employee
benefits due to fewer employee separations than originally anticipated
as some employees were re-deployed and others filled positions left
vacant through natural attrition and contract lease terminations, respec-
tively. The 2005 cost savings initiatives are expected to yield pre-tax
savings of approximately $35 million annually, Of the initial 590 positions
identified, we reduced the total number of positions to be affected by
these initiatives by 50 to 540 positions in total. As of December 31,
2007, 535 positions have been eliminated.

Asset Impairments For the year ended December 31, 2007, we
recognized approximately $24 million of fixed asset impairment
charges. These impairments included the $13 million write-off within
our Corporate segment of our investment in Elemica, an online chemi-
cals e-marketplace, $5 million write-off related to our digital imaging
business line within our Performance Materials segment, $4 million
write-off of in-process research and development within our Display
Technologies segment, comprised of $3 million and $1 million relating
to the Eastman Kodak Company light management films assets acquired
and SKC Haas joint venture, respectively, and a $2 million write-down
of an investment within our Electronic Technologies segment to fair
market value. These charges were offset by $6 million in gains related
to sales of previously impaired assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized approximately
$3 million of fixed asset impairment charges associated with the
restructuring of our global Graphic Arts business within our Packaging
and Building Materials segment. This charge was offset by $1 million
for sales of previously impaired assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, $81 million of asset impairment
charges were recognized for the impairment of certain finite-lived
intangible and fixed assets across several of our chemical businesses
and our Component Materials segment. Gains on sales of previously
impaired assets offset the total asset impairment charge by $2 million.
Of the total impairment charge, $50 million pertained to the impairment
of fixed assets, while $31 million was an impairment charge recorded
for certain finite-lived intangible assets to adjust their carrying value

to their fair value,



Pension Judgment

As discussed in Note 26, we have recorded a non-cash charge in the
third quarter of 2007 for $65 million (342 million after-tax) to recog-
nize the estimated potential impact of a court decision related to cost
of living adjustments on our long-term pension plan obligations.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt
In March 2005, we retired $400 million of our 7.4% notes due in 2009.
The retirement resulted in a loss of $17 million.

Share of Affiliate Earnings, net

In 2007, we recorded affiliate net earnings of $22 million, an increase
of $12 million in comparison to $10 million in 2006. The increase is
primarily due to Viance, the new wood joint venture in our Performance
Materials Group and increased earnings from an equity affiliate in our
Electronic Materials Group. The Viance joint venture is 50% owned by
Rohm and Haas and 50% owned by Chemical Specialties, [nc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of Rockwoed Holdings, Inc.

In 2006, we recorded affiliate net earnings of $10 million, an 11%
increase from $9 million in 2005. The increase was primarily due to
increased earnings from an equity affiliate in our Electronic Materials
Group offset by decreased earnings from affiliates in the Packaging
and Building Materials segment.

Other Income, net

In 2007, net other income decreased to $48 million from $53 million in
2006, The decrease is primarily attributable to a reduction in currency
losses of $21 million offset by a decrease in interest and investment
income of $13 million and a reduction in gains on fixed asset disposals
of $4 million.

In 2006, net other income increased to $53 million from $43 million
in 2005. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in interest
income of $10 million partially offset by an increase in currency losses
of $8 million.

Year over year decrease in interest income is due to decreased average
investrents in money market funds and lower short-term interest rates.

Income Taxes

Full-year income tax expense was $206 million, reflecting an effective
tax rate of 23.4%, as compared to $274 million, or an effective tax
rate of 26.3% for the prior-year period. The tax benefit of the one-time

pension charge as well as favorable tax valuation adjustments and
other credits reduced 2007 tax expense by 333 million. Benefits from
the favorable resolution of tax contingencies, refund claims and tax
law changes reduced 2006 tax expense by $17 million. Excluding
these tax items, the underlying effective tax rate for the year was
approximately 25.3% compared to the 27.9% effective rate for the
same period in 2006,

We anticipate that our full-year 2008 tax rate will be between
25% and 26%.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB) issued
Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48}, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income
Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.” FIN 48 provides
detailed guidance for the financial statement recognition, measurement
and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109.
Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption
of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. We adopted FIN 48 effective
January 1, 2007 and the provisions of FIN 48 have been applied to

all income tax positions commencing from that date. We recognize
potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits as income tax expense. The cumulative effect of applying the
provisions of FIN 48, $9 million, has been reported as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2007.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded a provision for
income tax expense of $274 million reflecting an effective tax rate
from continuing operations of 26.3% compared to $242 million or
a 27.9% effective rate for earnings in 2005,

Benefits of the favorable resolution of tax contingencies, refund

claims and tax law changes reduced 2006 tax expense by $17 million.
During the second quarter of 2005, we recorded net tax reserve and
valuation allowance reversals of $28 million resulting from the favor-
able resolution of prior period tax contingencies due to the completion
of prior years' tax audits. In addition, we recorded changes in valuation
allowances and increases in tax reserves for other contingencies. The
decreases in the effective tax rates year over year were primarily due
to the impact of the changes described above as well as lower taxes
on foreign earnings resulting from the increase in foreign tax credits
and the permanent reinvestment of certain entities outside the U.S.

of foreign earnings, for which no U.S. tax has been provided.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended

December 31, 2005 through December 31, 2007

by Business Segment

Electronic Materials Group

The Electronic Materials Group comprises two reportable segments
which provide materials for use in applications such as telecommuni-
cations, consumer electronics and household appliances. Overall sales
for this Group were up 9% in 2007 over the prior year. Sales growth
was weak in the first half due to an industry-wide slowdown in semi-
conductor production, but rebounded strongly beginning in the second
half of the year. Earnings for 2007 were up 16% over the prior year
for this Group.

Overall 2006 sales for the Electronic Materials Group increased 17%
over the prior year peried on strong dernand across all businesses,
especially in North America and Asia, Earnings in 2006 were up 63%
over 2005,

The results for the Electronic Materials Group are reported under the
two separate reportable segments as follows:

Electronic Technologies Net sales in 2007 for the Electronic Technologies
business reached $1,666 million, up 7%, or $115 million, versus net
sales of $1,551 million in 2006. Dernand was strong across all busi-
nesses, especially in Asia-Pacific. Sales in advanced technology product
lines were up 13% versus the prior year. Sales from Serniconductor
Technologies grew 10% over the prior year period, reflecting contin-
ued strength in sales of Chemical Mechanical Planarization (CMP) pads
and slurries as well as advanced photoresists and related products.
Circuit Board Technologies sales grew 6% as solid growth in Asia more
than offset weaker demand in North America and Europe. Sales of
photovoltaic products, primarily in Europe, began to gain traction this
year. Packaging and Finishing Technologies sales were up only slightly
versus last year as lower volumes of precious metal sales in North
America offset 5% higher Process sales.

Full year earnings of $29¢ million were up significantly from the
$242 million earned in 20086, reflecting increased sales of advanced
technology products, mostly in Asia, and continued discipline in cost
management.
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Net sales in 2006 for the Electronic Technologies business were

$1,551 million, up 18%, or $232 million, versus net sales of $1,319
million in 2005. Demand was strong across all businesses, especially in
Asia and North America. Sales in advanced technology product lines
were up 24% versus the prior year. Sales for Semiconductor Technologies
grew 19% in 2006, reflecting continued strength in sates of CMP pads
and slurries in all regions along with strong sales of advanced photore-
sists and related products both in Asia-Pacific and North America. Solid
growth in Asia more than offset weaker demand in North America
and generally flat conditions in Europe. The Circuit Board Technologies
business grew 8% overall in 2006, mainly driven by strength in the
Asia-Pacific region. Packaging and Finishing Technologies sales growth
of 22% was driven by both Asia-Pacific and North America, with pre-
cious metal pass-through sales up significantly due to higher raw
material prices. Process sales grew 4% year over year,

Full year earnings of $242 million were up significantly from the
$146 million earned in 2005, reflecting increased sales of advanced
technology products and continued discipline in cost management.
2006 earnings included a $1 million, after-tax, gain from the reversal
of restructuring reserves; 2005 earnings included $20 million, after-tax,
for restructuring charges.

Display Technologies In June 2007, we acquired the net assets of
Eastman Kodak Company’s light management films technology busi-
ness, which produces advanced fitms that improve the brightness and
efficiency of liquid crystal displays (LCD). In late November, we com-
pleted the formation of SKC Haas Display Fitms, a joint venture with
SKC incorporated of South Korea for the development, manufacture
and marketing of advanced optical and functional films used in the flat
panel display industry. These new businesses, along with process-related
materials also used in the flat panel display industry and previously
included as part of our Semiconductor Technologies unit, form the
reportable segment now referred to as Display Technologies.

Net sales in 2007 for Display Technologies were $45 million, primarily
reflecting the partial-year results of the newly acquired assets and joint
venture referred to above, Net sales in 2006, which include only sales
of process related materials previously included as part of Semiconductor
Technologies, were $13 million.

The segment reported a net loss of $17 million for 2007, reflecting
the development stage nature of the newly acquired light manage-
ment films technologies, as well as acquisition and purchase-accounting
related charges, including the write-off of $3 million, after-tax, related
10 in-process research and development ¢osts.



Sales in 2006 were $13 million, flat against the prior year. 2006
earnings were $1 million down from $3 million in 2005.

Specialty Materials Group

The Specialty Materials Group comprises three reportable segments
that represent the majority of the company’s chemicals business, serving
a broad range of end-use markets. Overall sales for this Group {(after
intersegment elimination) were up 5% in 2007 over the prior year, due
to favorable currencies and increased demand. Earnings for 2007 were
down 18% from the prior year for this Group. Increased sales were
more than offset by higher raw material costs, unexpected operating
difficulties at our Houston manufacturing facility and slowed demand
in the U.S. We experienced strong growth in the first three quarters
of the year and moderating growth in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Overall 2006 sales (after intersegment elimination) for the Specialty
Materials Group increased 3% over the prior year period due mainly to
higher selling prices, offset slightly by lower overall demand. Earnings
in 2006 were up 4% over 2005.

The results for Specialty Materials Group are reported under the three
separate reportable segments as follows:

Paint and Coatings Materials In 2007, net sales from our Paint and
Coatings Materials segment were $2,120 million, an increase of 3%,
or $70 million, from net sales of $2,050 million in 2006. Favorable
currencies as well as strong demand, sustained across all regions other
than the U.S., and slightly higher pricing more than offset the slowed
demand in the U.5. The slowed demand in the U.S. was due to weak-
ness in the architectural paint market reflecting the pronounced
slowdown in home improvements as well as lower existing and new
home sales. In the fourth quarter, demand in Eurepe also moderated
while Rapidly Developing Economies showed strong growth.

Earnings were $246 million in 2007 versus prior year earnings of
$258 miltion. This decrease in earnings was driven by the unfavorable
impact of lower demand in the U.S. combined with higher raw mate-
rial and operating costs, partially offset by favorable currencies, higher
selling prices and demand growth in other regions.

In 2006, net sales from our Paint and Coatings Materials segment were
$2,050 million, an increase of 9%, or $162 million, from net sales of
$1,888 million in 2005. The sales increase was driven by higher demand,
selling prices and growth in all regions, led by growth in the Rapidly

Developing Economies of China, India, Turkey, Eastern Europe, Southeast
Asia and Latin America. In the decorative coatings markets, we saw
strong acceptance of our differentiated low-VOC emulsion products
for paint applications.

Earnings from continuing operations were $258 million in 2006 versus
prior year earnings of $250 million. The favorable impact of higher vol-
ume and selling prices was largely offset by increases in raw material
and operating costs, along with increases in selling and research
expenses to drive growth initiatives.

Packaging and Building Materials In 2007, net sales from our Packaging
and Building Materials segment were $1,826 million, an increase of 3%,
or $50 million, from net sales of $1,776 million in 2006, The increase
reflects the impacts of strong European currencies and higher pricing
partially offset by lower demand. While Rapidly Developing Economies
showed strong growth year over year, economic softness in the U.S.
building and construction markets and some soft spots in Western
Europe more than ofiset the demand growth. The overall lower demand
is mainly the result of softness in the vinyl siding and windows profile
markets in North America that use our plastics additives products and
paper products in Western Europe.

Earnings of $123 million were down versus earnings of $136 million
for 2006, a decrease of $13 million, or 10%. 2006 results inciuded a
$3 million, after-tax, charge primarily for restructuring and other one-
time costs related to our Graphic Arts business. The earnings decling
reflects increased raw material costs and lower demand, partially offset
by favorable currencies and increased selling prices.

In 2006, net sales from our Packaging and Building Materials segment
were $1,776 milion, an increase of 1%, or $10 miltion, from net sales
of $1,766 million in 2005. The increase reflects the impacts of higher
pricing partially offset by lower demand. The overall lower demand
reflects prior portfolio adjustments and slowing market growth in
North America as the year progressed.

Earnings of $136 million were up $17 million versus earnings of

$119 million in 2005. The 2005 results incfuded a charge of $35 million,
after-tax, related to the impairment of the synthetic leather business
and reserves for a plant closure in Europe. Excluding the impairment
charge, earnings dedlined by $18 million, reflecting higher raw material
costs, lower demand and increased operating costs, partially offset by
the impact of a one-time legal settlement, higher selling prices and
lower selling and administrative costs.
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Primary Materials

in millions Year ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Total sales $2078 $1979 $1,904
Elimination of inter-segment sales {1,103y (1,102}  (1,001)
Third party sales $ 975 3 877 § 903

In 2007, net sales for Primary Materials were $2,078 million, an increase
of $99 miilicn, or 5%, from prior year net sales of $1,979 million. Net
sales for Primary Materials include sales to our internal downstream
monomer-consuming businesses, primarily Paint and Coatings Materials
and Packaging and Building Materials, along with sales to third party
customers. Sales to external customers increased 11% to $975 million
in 2007 from $877 million in the prior period, primarily due to a com-
bination of higher volumes and favorabte currencies, partially offset

by lower selling prices. Sales to our downstream businesses were flat.

Earnings of $82 million in 2007 decreased 48% from $158 million in
2006. The reduction in earnings can be attributed to higher raw mate-
rial costs, lower selling prices and a series of unplanned operating
issues earlier this year. The negative impact in 2007 of unexpected
operating difficulties at our Houston manufacturing facility is approxi-
mately $35 million after-tax.

In 2008, net sales for Primary Materials were $1,979 millicn, an
increase of $75 million, or 4%, from prior year net sales of $1,904 mil-
lion. Sales to external customers decreased 3% to $877 million in 2006
from $903 million in the prior period, primarily due to lower volumes
and lower selling prices. Sales to our downstream businesses were 10%
higher due primarily to higher selling prices and slightly higher volumes.

Earnings of $158 million in 2006 decreased from $163 million in 2005.
The negative impact on earnings of lower selling prices to third party
customers was partially offset by the benefits of slightly higher volumes
and improved plant operations. Results in 2005 included $27 million,
aftertax, for expenses associated with unplanned plant outages at our
Houston manufacturing facility.

We anticipate that global monomer supply will increase again during
2008 as a result of new production facilities that have come on line.
We expect the supply dynamics to continue to create downward pres-
sure on Primary Materials pricing and margins in the upcoming year.

54 ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY AND SUBSID{ARIES

Performance Materials Group

Net sales for the Performance Materials Group reached $1,205 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, an increase of 6%, or $71 mil-
lion, versus sales of $1,134 million in 2006. Stronger demand in the
Asia Pacific and Latin American regions, coupled with the impact of
increased demand and favorable currencies in Europe, more than
offset overall economic weakness in North America.

Net sales for Process Chemicals and Biocides were $755 million, an
increase of 8%, or $52 miilion over sales in 2006. Demand was strong
across all regions except North America due to weakness in building
and construction markets. In the Rapidly Developing Economies, particu-
larly China and Central and Eastern Europe and Turkey, the ion exchange
business saw increased demand in the industrial water treatment and
mining markets. The business also realized solid growth in new markets,
such as biodiesel and potable water, Net sales for Powder Coatings were
$335 million, an increase of 1%, or $3 million over sales of $332 mil-
lion in 2006. The sales increase was driven by the impact of favorable
currencies and higher pricing, partially offset by weaker demand. Net
sales for the other businesses, including Agrofresh, Advanced Materials
and Digital Imaging, increased 15%, or $15 million from $100 million
in 2006 to $115 million in 2007. This increase was mainly driven by
continued growth of our patented 1-methylcyclopropene (1-MCP)
technology in AgroFresh and increased dermand in Advanced Materials.

Earnings for 2007 of $100 million include $6 million after-tax impact
of restructuring and asset impairment charges, mainly associated with
exiting the Digital Imaging business. Excluding restructuring and asset
impairment charges earnings increased $24 million, or 29% compared
to 2006. The earnings increase is due to increased demand, higher
selling prices, the impact of favorable currencies, and improvement
year-over-year in the Powder Coatings business. The 2007 results
include additional investment in more advanced applications in ion
exchange and biocides such as bio-processing, advanced water treat-
ment and microbial protection, and the expansion of the 1-MCP
technology from our AgroFresh business for additional high-value
applications in both horticultural and agronomic markets.

In 2006, net sales from Performance Materials Group of $1,134 million
were 1p 6%, or $63 million, from prior year sales of $1,071 million,
primarily due to increased demand and higher selling prices, partially
offset by unfavorable currencies. The strength in demand reflects
improved sales in specialty products and biocides. Sales in Process
Chemicals and Biotides increased 5%, reflecting stronger demand
across all businesses and regions, as well as higher selling prices,



partially offset by unfavorable currencies. Sales for Powder Coatings
were up 3% from 2005, reflecting selling price increases and improved
product mix, partially offset by iower demand, especially in Europe,

Earnings of $77 million in 2006 were up from $54 million in 2005.
2006 earnings include 35 million, after-tax, in restructuring charges
while the comparable charges in 2005 were $14 million, after-tax.
Higher selling prices and favorable operating costs more than offset
higher raw material costs, increased selling, administrative and research
spending to support growth initiatives.

Salt

For the year 2007, net sales from Salt were $1,060 million, an increase
of 28% versus prior period net sales of $829 million. The increase
reflects a significant improvement in ice control volumes as a result
of favorable weather conditions, which raised demand for highway
de-icing salt by 72%, compared with mild winter conditions present
in 2006. Sales of consumer and industrial salt products increased by
9% compared with last year as a result of improved demand, product
line management, and mix in the consumer and industrial markets.
Favorable currencies also contributed to the improvemnent in sales,

in 2007 compared with 2006. ’

Earnings for 2007 of $87 million increased by $47 million, or 118%,
compared to earnings of $40 million in 2006. Earnings were largely
impacted by improved demand for ice control related products.
Improved demand and favorable mix in the industrial and consumer
markets, as well as company-wide cost improvement initiatives, also
contributed to the earnings improvement compared with the prior
year. Earnings in 2006 inctuded $4 million, after-tax, in restructuring
and asset impairment charges.

For the year 2006, net sales from Salt were $829 miltion, a decrease
of 10% versus prior pericd net sales of $925 million. The decrease
reflects a significant drop in ice control volumes in both the first and
fourth quarters of 2006 as a result of mild weather conditions, which
significantly lowered demand for highway de-icing salt, Higher selling
prices, favorable mix, and favorable currencies only partially offset the
decline in ice control volume.

Earnings for 2006 of $40 million, which include $4 miillion, after-tax, in
restructuring charges, decreased by $17 million compared to earnings of
$57 million in 2005. Earnings were largely impacted by the unseasonably
mild weather and the resulting reduction in ice control volumes. Increases
in distribution, production and material costs during 2006 were partially
offset by the impact of improved selling prices and favorable mix,

In the second quarter of 2007, we disclosed that we were explering
strategic options for our Salt business. While we had intended to final-
ize a path forward for this business by the end of 2007, recent turmoil
in the financial markets makes it likely that this will take longer than
anticipated. Our decision and timing will be governed by our commit-
ment to maximize value for our shareholders. At this point, we are
“on hold” pending a return to more normality in the markets.

Corporate

Corporate after-tax expense of $260 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, increased from $157 million in the prior year period
primarily due to the recognition of the estimated one-time non-cash
after-tax pension charge of $42 million. Other factors contributing to
the increase were higher non-recurring costs associated with establish-
ing the European Headquarters in Switzerland, as well as higher interest
expense due to higher effective interest rates and the issuance of

$1.1 billion in new debt in September of 2007 to fund an accelerated
share repurchase.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, corporate after-tax expenses
were $157 million, down from $176 million in 2005. The change was
primarily driven by lower interest expense, the absence of prior year
charges for a loss on the early extinguishment of debt, an adjustment
for share-based compensation, lower environmental remediation
charges, and higher interest income, partially offset by higher restruc-
turing and shared service expenses, and the absence of favorable tax
reserve and valuation allowance adjustments recognized in 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Early in the third quarter of 2007, both management and the Board
of Directors re-evaluated our financial poliéies. Through the second
quarter of 2007, our policy was to maintain credit ratios consistent
with an "A" rating. Effective with the beginning of the third quarter
of 2007, we have shifted away from targeting a specific credit rating.
Rather, we intend to manage our debt levels in a manner consistent
with maintaining investment grade quality ratios supported by our
strong capability to generate cash from operating activities throughout
the business cycle.

Having determined that sufficient cash is expected to be generated
from operating activities to support at least $1 billion in additional
debt, we issued new debt during the third quarter of 2007 to support
our announced $1 billion accelerated share repurchase. We believe
that we have the financial flexibility needed to support our Vision 2010
strategy, and maintain investment grade credit quality ratios.
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As of December 31, 2007, our company’s debt ratio (total debt in
proportion to total debt plus stockholders’ equity) was 51%, up from
34% as of December 31, 2006 and cash provided by operating activities
was approximately 29% of our year-end debt (cash from operating activ-
ities in proportion to total debt}. We expect to maintain our debt ratio
at approximately 50%, white growing cash from operating activities.
Maintenance of a strong balance sheet well-covered by our cash flows
remains a key financial policy. We intend to employ a balanced approach
to cash deployment that will enhance stockholder value through:

e Reinvesting in core businesses to drive profitable growth through
our capital expenditure program;

e Investing in new platforms that address the growing needs in
water, energy, hygiene, food, and other areas in the developed
and developing worlds;

» Supplementing our organic growth with highly selective acquisitions
which bring a growth platform technelogy or gecgraphic supplement
to our core businesses;

e Continuing to pay higher cash dividends to our stockholders {(dividend
payouts have increased at an average 10.6% compound annual
growth rate since 1978}, and

* Repurchasing shares to improve overall returns to our stockholders.

In the year ended December 31, 2007, our primary source of cash
was from operating activities and the issuance of long-term debt.
Our principal uses of cash were stock repurchases, reduction of debt,
capital expenditures, dividends, and acquisitions. These are summarized
in the table below:

in millions Year ended December 31, 2007 2006
Cash provided by operating activities $ 963 $ 840
Issuance of long-term debt 1,394 23

Stock repurchases (1,462) (264)

Stock option exercise proceeds 46 74
Repayments of long-term debt {4M) {182)
Capital expenditures M7 {404)
Acquisitions {117) (46)
Dividends (303) {283)

Our cash flow statement includes the combined results of our contin-
ued and discontinued operation for all periods presented.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2007, cash provided by operating
activities of $963 million exceeded the $840 million provided for the
year ended Decemnber 31, 2006 by $123 miliion or 15%. Lower net
earnings were primarily offset by increases in non-cash items, most
notably the non-cash pension adjustment recorded in the third quarter
of 2007. Lower net working capital needs driven by lower inventories,
reduced pension funding and income tax payments were only partially
offset by an increase in accounts receivable yielding the year over year
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increase in operating cash fiows. The reduction in inventories was pri-
marily driven by our Salt business as a result of a more typical winter
in comparison to unseasonably warm weather in the prior year. Sales
in the Salt business as well as Rapidly Developing Economies were the
primary reason for the increase in accounts receivable which were
driven by higher year end sates in 2007 versus 2006.

Approximately 70% of 2007 cash provided by operating activities

was generated during the second half of the year. This is typical of our
seasonality with cash from operating activities concentrated in the third
and fourth quarters due to working capital patterns in some of our
core businesses, such as Paint and Coatings Materials and Salt, as well
as the timing of certain annual payments such as employee bonuses,
interest on debt and property taxes, which have been concentrated in
the first half of the year. We expect 2008 cash from operating activities
to be in the $1 billion range.

Pension Plan and Postretirement Benefit Plan

Funding and Liability

As of December 31, 2007, our U.S. ERISA gualified pension plans
together with the gualified plans in the UK and Canada represented
approximately 86% of our global qualified and non-gualified pension
plan liabilities and approximately 93% of plan assets. Pension plans
offered in our Western Europe and Asia locations account far the
majority of the balance of plan assets and liabilities.

In 2007, we contributed approximately $84 million to our globat
qualified and non-qualified pensicn plans as well as our postretirement
healthcare plans, down from the $256 million in the prior year period
primarily because we were not required to contribute in 2007 to our
U.S. pension trust. During 2006, we increased the funding of our U.S.
pension and other postretirement employee benefit plans on a tax-
deductible basis by voluntarily contributing $149 million to our trust.
Of this total, $137 million was designated to fund pension benefits
and the remaining $12 million to fund retiree health care. For 2007,
total funding for international plans was approximately $30 million,
$£27 million less than the prior year pericd, with $11 million of the
2007 amount used to fund shortfalls in our UK pension trust, 2006
contributions included a $24 million contribution to fund shortfalls

in our Canadian pension trust.

We are not required, nor do we expect to make contributions 1o

our U.S. pension trust during 2008. We do expect to contribute
approximately $79 million to fund both non-U.S. qualified pension,
non-qualified pension and other postretirement plans. Funding require-
ments for subsequent years are uncertain and will depend on changes
in assumptions used to calculate plan funding levels, the actual return
on plan assets, changes in the employee groups covered by the plans,
and any legislative or requlatory changes affecting plan funding require-
ments. See Contractual Obligations table for our forecasted qualified



pension plan contributions, and non-qualified pension and postretirement
benefit plan contributions, which reflect expected benefit payments.
The company may increase, accelerate, decrease or delay contributions
to the plans to the extent permitted by law.

The surplus in the U.S. qualified pension plans improved during 2007
as these plans increased their funded status from $104 million as of
December 31, 2006 to $163 miilion as of December 31, 2007 primarily
due to a higher discount rate and prior service gains related to plan
provision changes approved in 2007. While these changes decreased
the U.S. plans’ projected benefit obligation (PBO), the reduction was
partially offset by the recording of a $65 million increase in the U.S.
PBO to recognize the estimated potential impact of a court decision
related to cost of living adjustments on our long term pension plan
obligations. See Note 26 for more information on the court ruling.

The unfunded status of the non-U.S. plans increased from $78 million
to $98 million during 2007 due to lower returns on plan assets, and
additional plan liabilities assumed from the acquisition of a controlling
interest in a joint venture in Korea. This increase in plan liabilities of our
non-U.S. plans was tempered by higher discount rates on the plans’
projected benefit obligation.

Global qualified and non-gualified pension expense increased from
$£101 million in 2006 to $129 million in 2007 largely due to the

$65 million related to the court ruling covering cost of living adjust-
ments {"COLA") on our long term pension plan obligations. This
increase was partially offset by a decrease in expense within our U.S.
plans due to lower amortization of plan losses attributable to actuarial
gains achieved in 2006. In addition, the growth in asset levels for the
U.S. plan during 2006 increased the plans' expected return on plan
assets in 2007.

The actuarial gains that occurred during 2007 will reduce the unrecog-
nized loss being amortized over the average expected future working
lifetime of active participants, which varies by plan and ranges from

6 to 23 years. As a result, global qualified and non-qualified pension
expense in 2008 is expected to decrease approximately $89 million

to $40 million with final expense dependent on results of the 2008
actuarial valuations of the plans.

Capital Expenditures

We manage our capital expenditures to take advantage of growth and
productivity improvement opportunities as well as to fund ongoing
environmental protection and plant infrastructure requirements. We
have a well defined review procedure for the authorization of capital
projects. Capital expenditures in 2007 were higher than prior year
expenditures due to several large projects, including projects in Rapidly
Developing Economies. Significant capital additions include:

2007

« Construction of new Paint and Coatings plants in Mexico,
India, and China;

o Environmental regulation compliance projects at Manistee
and Silver Springs;

= Technology infrastructure enhancements; and

s Construction of new Packaging and Building Materials plant
in Turkey.

2006

» Completion of the new research and development center
in Shanghai, China;

« Opening of the new CMP Research and Manufacturing
Center in Taiwan;

* A project in our Louisville, Kentucky Plant to meet new
environmental requirements;

* Expansions in our Qingpu, China and Weeks Island, Louisiana
Plants to increase capacity; and

+ Construction of new manufacturing facilities in Queratero,
Mexico and Chennai, India.

2005

e Construction of a new research and development center in
Shanghai, China which was completed in 2006;

» Capacity initiatives within the North American ernulsion
manufacturing locations;

° Pracess contral systems at our Knoxville, Tennessee facility; and

« Volatile organic compound reduction and quality/capacity
improvements at our Chauny, France facility.

Expenditures for the past three years, categorized by primary purpose
of project, are presented below:

In miftions 2007 2006 2005
Cost savings and infrastructure $276 1263 $248
Capacity additions and new products 102 65 61
Research facilities and equipment 7 65 15
Capitalized interest cost 12 1 9

Total $417 $404 $333

Spending for environmental protection equipment included in several
of the categories in the table shown above, was $59 million in 2007,
$63 million in 2006 and $42 million in 2005. Projected capital expendi-
tures in 2008 of approximately $525 million are expected to be well
above depreciation expense as we continue to reshape our footprint
and make growth investments to drive Vision 2010.
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Dividends

Commeon stock dividends have been paid each year since 1927,

The payout has increased at an average of 10.6% compound annual
growth rate since 1978.

In millions, except share data 2007 2006 2005
Dividend paid per common share $1.44 $1.28 $1.12
Amount $ 303 $ 283 $ 250

Dividend Growth Rate
I dollars per share
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Share Repurchase Program

In December 2004, our Beard of Directors authorized the repurchase of
up to $1 billion of our common stock through 2008, with the timing
of the purchases depending on market conditions and other priorities
for cash. During 2007, we spent $462 million to purchase 8.5 million
shares to complete this program. Over the term of the authorization,
we had repurchased nearly $1 billion of our stock or 20.2 million shares.

In July 2007, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up
to another $2 billion of our common stock, the first $1 billion of which
was purchased in September 2007 and financed with debt and the
remainder of the share repurchases will be funded from available cash
through 2010. See Note 22 far additional information.

Liquidity and Debt

As of December 31, 2007, we had $268 million in cash, including
restricted cash, and $3,297 million in debt compared with $596 millicn
and $2,081 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2006. A summary
of our cash and debt balances is provided below:

In millions Year ended December 31, 2007 2006
Short-term obligations $ 158 § 393
Lang-term debt 3,139 1,688

Total debt $3,297 32,081
Cash and cash eguivalents $ 265 3 593
Restricted cash 3 3

Total $ 268 3 59
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Debt

In September 2007, we issued $1.1 billion in long-term debt at an
effective interest rate of 6.2%. The debt proceeds were used to
finance a $1 billion accelerated share repurchase and the remaining
$100 million of the debt proceeds were used to reduce commercial
paper outstanding and pay debt issuance costs. The addition of this
new debt was consistent with our Vision 2010 financial policies as
announced during the third quarter of 2007. As a result of the issuance,
Standard and Poor’s and Moody's changed our senior unsecured debt
ratings from A minus and A3 to BBB and Baal, respectively, both with
stable outlooks. Our short-term commercial paper ratings are unchanged
at A2 and P2 by Standard and Poor's and Moody's, respectively. We
believe these investrment grade ratings are consistent with the objec-
tives of our long-term financial policies.

In March 2007, we issued 175 million of 4.50% Private Placement
Senior Notes due March 9, 2014, We also retired our 6.0% notes
for 160 million upon maturity and early retired at par $19 million of
our 8.74% notes. Interest expense increased in the third and fourth
quarters of 2007, consistent with our higher debt levels. We expect
interest expense to run at a quarterly rate of approximately $42 mil-
lion during 2008.

At December 31, 2007, we had $40 million in commercial paper
outstanding. Other short-term debt was primarily composed of local
bank borrowings. During 2007, our primary source of short-term liquidity
was cash from operating activities, commercial paper, and bank borrow-
ings. In September 2007, we expanded our syndicated revolving credit
facility from $500 million to $750 million, and in December 2007, we
extended this facility through December 2012. We have no plans to
draw on this facility.

Use of Derivative Instruments to Manage Market Risk

We use derivative instruments to reduce volatility arising from conducting
our business in a variety of currencies, financing at long- and short-
term interest rates and pricing our raw materials at market prices.

We sell products, purchase materials, and finance our operations
internationally. These activities result in assets and liabilities the values
of which are exposed to exchange rate fluctuation. During the year
ended December 31, 2007, exchange rate movements increased the
carrying value of these balance sheet positions by $29 million after tax.
During the same period the derivative instruments we entered to counter-
balance these exposures generated losses which, taken together with
the effects of exchange rates on underlying balance sheet positions,
resulted in an immaterial net earnings impact as intended (see Note 5,
Financial Instruments). All other derivative instruments used $43 million



in cash and generated $8 million in after-tax gains during the year ended
December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, all derivative contracts
represented a $20 million after-tax liability compared with a $7 million
liability at December 31, 2006.

Contractual Obligations
The following table provides contractual obligations and commitments
for future payments:

In miflions Payments due by period

Within Over

Tota! 1year 2-3years 4-5years 5 years
Contractual obligations
Operating activities
Operating leases $ 209 3§ 68 $8 $ 52 § -
Interest on long-term debt 2,540 180 359 359 1,642
Raw material purchase
obligations'? 1,119 725 222 92 80
Purchase obligations, otherz 323 116 113 94 -
Pension and other employee
benefit funding? 624 79 159 161 225
FIN 48 liabilitiess
Deferred revenue 41 8 14 12 7
Financing activities
Long-term debt, including
current portion 3,147 8 - 439 2,700
Investing activities
Construction commitments 74 74 - - -
" Qther activities
ESOP loan guarantees 104 14 26 22 42
Interest on ESOP
loan guarantees 140 6 14 18 102
Total contractual
cash obligations* $8,321 $1,278 $996 $1,249 $4,798

1 For our requirements contracts, we have assumed that our existing business segments will require
materials and services generally consistent with prior years. The amount of the obligation is based
upon either projected requirements of historical spend. Our purchase obligations include raw
materiaks, indirect materials, traffic and logistics, utilities and energy, information technalogy and
COMIMUNICations Contracts.

? These obligations include evergreen contracts that renew automatically until specifically cancelied
by either party We have assumed that our evergreen contracts wiif continue through 2008.

3 Qualified pension plan contributions depend upon changes i assumptions used to calculate plan
funding levels, the actual retum on plan assets, changes in employee groups covered by the plans,
and any legislative or regqulatory changes affecting plan funding requirements, therefore we have
only forecasted funding requirements for 5 years due to the facz that significant assumptions are
required. As such, the funding requirements disclosed are subject to change. The nen-qualified
plan and other employee benefits reflect expectad future benefit payments, which are forecasted
out through 2016. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Finandal Statements.

* In July 2007, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to another $2 billion of our
common stock, the first $1 billion of which was purchased in September 2007 and financed with
debt and the remainder of the share repurchases will be funded from available cash through 2010.
See Note 22 for additional information.

5 On January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FiN 48. See Note 7 Income Taxes. As of
December 31, 2007, we had appraximately $117 millior of tax liabilities, including interest and
penalties, refated to uncertain tax positions. Because of the high degree of uncestainty regarding
the timing of future cash outflows assocated with these liabilities, we are unable to estimate the
years in which settlfement will occur with the respective taxing authorities.

Trading Activities
We do not have any trading activity that involves non-exchange traded
contracts accounted for at fair value.

Unconsolidated Entities

All significant entities are consolidated. Any unconsolidated entities
are de minimis in nature and there are no significant contractual
requirements to fund losses of unconsolidated entities. See Note 1 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for our treatment of Variable
Interest Entities.

Environmental Matters and Litigation

Our chemical operations, as those of other chemical manufacturers,
involve the use and disposal of substances regulated under environ-
mental protection laws. Our environmental policies and practices are
designed to ensure compliance with existing laws and regulations
and to minimize the risk of harm to the environment.

We have participated in the remediation of waste disposal and
manufacturing sites as required under the Superfund and related laws.
Remediation is well underway or has been completed at many sites.
Nevertheless, we continue to face government enforcement actions, as
well as private actions, related to past manufacturing and disposal and
continue to focus on achieving cost-effective remediation where required.

Accruals

We have provided for costs to remediate former manufacturing and
waste disposal sites, including Superfund sites, as well as our company
facilities. We consider a broad range of information when we determine
the amount necessary for remediation accruals, including available facts
about the waste site, existing and proposed remediation technology and
the range of costs of applying those technologies, prior experience,
government proposals for these or similar sites, the liability of other
parties, the ability of other Potentially Responsible Parties {"PRPs”)

to pay costs apportioned to them and current laws and regulations.
Reserves for environmental remediation that we believe to be probable
and estimable are recorded appropriately as current and long-term
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These reserves include
liabilities expected to be paid out within the next 10 years. Accruals for
estimated losses from environmental remediation obligations generally
are recognized at the point during the remedial feasibility study when
costs become probable and estimable. We do not accrue for legal costs
expected to be incurred with a loss contingency. We assess the accruals
quarterly and update them as additional technical and legal informa-
tion becomes available. However, at certain sites, we are unable, due
to a variety of factors, to assess and quantify the ultimate extent of
our responsibility for study and remediation costs. If we believe that
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no best estimate exists, we accrue the minimum in a range of possible
losses, and disclose any material, reasonably possible, additional losses.
if we determine a liability to be only reasonably possible, we consider
the same information to estimate the possible exposure and disclose
any material potential liability. In addition, estimates for liabilities to

be incurred between 11 to 30 years in the future are also considered
only reasonably possible because the chance of a future event occur-
ring is more than remote but less probable. These loss contingencies
are monitored regularly for a change in fact or circumstance that
would require an accruat adjustment. We have identified reasonably
possible loss contingencies refated to environmental matters of approxi-
mately $124 million at December 31, 2007. The amounts charged to
pre-tax earnings for envircnmental remediation and related charges
are included in cost of goods sold and are presented below:

in millions Balance
December 31, 2005 $147
Amounts charged to earnings 25
Amounts spent 3n
December 31, 2006 $141
Amounts charged to earnings 37
Amounts spent (28}
December 31, 2007 $150

Wood-Ridge/Berry’'s Creek

The Wood-Ridge, New Jersey site (*5Site”), and Berry's Creek, which runs
past this Site, are areas of environmental significance to the Company.
The Site is the location of a former mercury processing plant acquired
many years ago by a company later acquired by Morton International,
Inc. {("Morton™). Morton and Velsicol Chemical Corporation {"Velsicol”)
have been held jointly and severally liable for the cost of remediation
of the Site. The New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection
{"NJDEP™) issued the Record of Decision documenting the clean-up
requirements for the manufacturing site in Cctober 2006. The Company
has submitted a work plan to implernant the remediation, and will
enter inte an agreement or order to perform the work in the first half
of 2008. The trust created by Velsicol will bear a portion of the cost

of remediation, consistent with the bankruptcy trust agreement that
established the trust. In addition, the Company is in discussions with
approximately one dozen non-settling parties, including companies
whose materials were processed at the manufacturing site, to resolve
their share of the liability for a portion of the remediation costs. Our
ultimate exposure at the Site will depend on clean-up costs and on

the level of contribution from other parties.
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With regard to Berry's Creek, and the surrounding wetlands, the
Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA™) has issued letters to over
150 PRPs for performance of a broad scope investigation of risks posed
by contamination in Berry's Creek. Performance of this study is expected
to 1ake at least six years to complete once begun. The PRPs have formed
a representative group of over 100 PRPs, and are negotiating a scope
of work for the study and an Administrative Order to perform the work
through common technical resources and counsel. It is not yet known
how many parties will ultimately sign the Administrative Order. Today,
there is much uncertainty as to what will be required to address Berry’s
Creek, but investigation and cleanup costs, as well as potential resource
damage assessments, could be very high and our share of these costs
could possibly be material to the results of our operations, cash flows
and consolidated financial position.

Other Environmental Expenditures

The laws and regulations under which we operate require significant
expenditures for capital improvements, aperation of environmental
protection equipment, environmeantal compliance and remediation. Our
major competitors are confronted by substantially similar environmental
risks and regulations. Future developments and even more stringent
environmental regulations may require us to make unforeseen addi-
tional environmental expenditures.

Capital spending for new environmental protection equipment was
$59 million, $63 million and $42 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Spending for 2008 and 2009 is expected to approximate
$53 million and $33 million, respectively. Capital expenditures in this
category include projects whase primary purposes are pollution control
and safety, as well as environmental projects intended primarily to improve
operations or increase plant efficiency. Capital spending does not
include the cost of environmental remediation of waste disposal sites.

The cost of managing, aperating and maintaining current pollution
abatement facilities was $159 million, $151 million and $153 million
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and was charged against each
year's earnings.

Climate Change

There is an increasing global focus on issues related to climate change
and particularly on ways to limit and control the emission of greenhouse
gases, which are believed to be associated with climate change. Some
initiatives on these topics are already weli along in Eurcpe, Canada

and other countries, and related legislation has passed or is being intro-
duced in some U.S. states. In addition, the Supreme Court decision in
Massachusetts v. EPA, holding that greenhouse gases, including carbon
dioxide {CO2), are "air pollutants” subject to regulation by EPA, has
increased the likelihcod of federal regulatory or legislative action.



The Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change was adopted in 2005 in many countries. For instance,
the European Union (EU) has a mandatory Emissions Trading Scheme
to implement its objectives under the Kyoto Protocol. Four of our
European locations currently exceed the threshold for participation in
the EU Emissions Trading Scheme pursuant to the Kyoto Protocol and
are currently implementing the requirements established by their respec-
tive countries. We are very much aware of the importance of these
issues and the importance of addressing greenhouse gas emissions.

Due to the nature of our business, we have emissions of carbon dioxide
(COs) primarily from combustion sources, we also have some minor
process by-product CO: emissions. Our emissions of other greenhouse
gases are infrequent and minimal as compared to CO: emissions. We
have therefore focused on ways to increase energy efficiency and cwrb
increases in greenhouse gas emissions resulting from growth in produc-
tion in addition to lowering the energy usage of existing operations.
Although the general lack of specific legistation prevents any accurate
estimates of the long-term impact on the Company, any legislation
that limits CO: emissions may create a potential restriction to business
growth by capping consumption of traditional energy sources available
to all consumers of energy, incuding Rohm and Haas. Capping consump-
tion could result in: increased energy cost, additional capital investment
to lower energy intensity and rationed usage with the need to purchase
greenhouse gas emission credits. Our Manufacturing Council, comprised
of facility plant managers, has a global effort underway to improve our
energy efficiency at all of our locations through energy audits, sharing
best practices and in some cases installation of more efficient equip-
ment. We will continue to follow these climate change issues, work to
improve the energy efficiencies of our operations, work to minimize
any negative impacts on company operations and seek technological
breakthroughs in energy supply and efficiency in both Company
operations and product development.

Litigation

We are involved in various kinds of litigation, principally in the United
States. We strive to resolve litigation where we can through negotiation
and other alternative dispute resolution methods such as mediation.
Otherwise, we vigorously prosecute or defend lawsuits in the courts.

Significant litigation is described in Note 26 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Acquisitions and Divestitures
Significant acquisitions and divestitures are discussed in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Working Capital

Far 2007, working capital decreased by 6 days as compared to 2006
due to a reduction in inventory partially offset by an increase in cus-
tomer receivables. The reduction in days in inventories was primarily
driven by our Salt business as a result of a more typical winter in com-
parison to unseasonably warm weather in the prior year. Sales in Salt
business as well as Rapidly Developing Economies were the primary
reason for the increase in accounts receivable which were driven by
higher year end sales in 2007 versus 2006.

Details about two major components of working capital at the end of
2007 and 2006 are summarized below:

ta millions 2007 2006
Inventories

Year-end balance $1,024 § 984
Annual turnover 6.4x 6.5x
Days cost of sales in ending inventory 54 62

Customer receivables, net

Year-end balance $1.610  $1,316
Annual turnover 6.0x 6.2x
Days sales outstanding 60 58

Days safes outstanding were calculated by dividing ending net customer recefvables by daily sales for
the fourth quarter, Days cost of sales in ending inventory was cakulated by dividing ending inventory
by daily cost of safes for the fourth quarter. For customer receivables, annual tumover figures are cal-
culated by dividing annual sales by the average customer receivables balance. For invenlories, annual
turnaver figures are calculated by dividing cost of goods sofd by the average inventory balance.

Asset Turnover equals sales divided by average year-end assets. Asset
turnover was 0.9x in 2007, 0.9x in 2006 and 0.8x in 2005.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted
Non-controlling Interests

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued Staterment of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No. 160,

" Non-controlfling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, " which
amends ARB No. 51. SFAS No. 160 estabtishes accounting and reporting
standards that require 1) non-controlling interests held by non-parent
parties be clearly identified and presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separate from the parent’s equity
and 2) the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the par-
ent and to the non-controlling interest be clearly presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of income. SFAS No. 160 also requires
consistent reporting of any changes to the parent’s ownership while
retaining a controlling financial interest, as well as specific guidelines
over how to treat the deconsolidation of controlling interests and any
applicable gains or loses. This statement will be effective for financial
statements issued in 2009. We are currently assessing the impact to
our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business
combinations” (“FAS 141R"), which replaces FAS 141. FAS 141R
establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer in a busi-
ness combination recognizes and measures in its financial statements
the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any con-
trolling interest; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the
business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and deter-
mines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. We will be required to adopt FAS 141R on January 1,
2009. We are currently assessing the impact of FAS 141R on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends

on Share-Based Payment Awards

In November 2006 and in March 2007, the EITF met and issued

EITF No. 06-11, "Accounting for income Tax Benefits of Dividends

on Share-Based Payment Awards,” in order to clarify the recognition
of the income tax benefit received from dividends paid to employees
holding equity-classified nonvested shares, equity-classified nonvested
share units, or equity-classified nonvested share options charged to
retained earnings. EITF No. 06-11 states that the incomne tax benefit
received from dividends paid on equity-classified nonvested shares,
equity-classified nonvested share units, or equity-classified nonvested
share options should be charged to retained earnings, and should be
recognized as an increase to additional paid-in capital. EITF No. 06-11
is to be applied prospectively to the income tax benefits on equity clas-
sified employee share-based payment awards that are declared in fiscal
years beginning after September 15, 2007. We do not believe this will
have a material impact to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

fn February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option
for financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,” which provides companies
with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair
value in an attempt to reduce both complexity in accounting for finan-
cial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring
related assets and liabilities differently. This Statement is effective as of
the beginning of an entity's first fiscal year beginning after November
15, 2007. We do not anticipate electing the SFAS 159 option for our
existing financial assets and liabilities and therefore do not expect the
adoption of SFAS 159 to have any impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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Fair Vatue Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, " Fair Value
Measurements,” which defines fair value, establishes a framework

for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles,
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement
does not require any new fair value measurements, but provides guid-
ance on how to measure fair value by providing a fair value hierarchy
used to classify the source of the information. For financial assets and
liabilities, SFAS No. 157 is effective for us beginning January 1, 2008.
In February 2008, the FASB deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 157
for all non-financial assets and non-financial liahilities, except those
that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements
on a recurring basis (at feast annually) until January 1, 2009. We believe
the impact will not require material modification of our fair value meas-
urements and will be substantially fimited to expanded disclosures in
the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statemenis relating to those
notes that currently have components measured at fair value. We will
continue to assess the impact on our future financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABQUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices since we denomi-
nate our business transactions in a variety of foreign currencies, finance
our operations through long- and short-term borrowings, and purchase
raw materials at market prices. As a result, future earnings, cash flows
and fair values of assets and liabilities are subject to uncertainty. Qur
operating and financing plans include actions to reduce this uncertainty
including, but not limited to, the use of derivative instruments.

We have established policies governing our use of derivative instruments.
We do not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative pur-
poses, nor are we a party to any leveraged derivative instruments or
any instruments far which the fair market values are not available from
independent third parties. We manage counter-party risk by entering
into derivative contracts only with major financial institutions of invest-
ment grade credit rating and by limiting the amount of exposure to each
financial institution. The terms of certain derivative instruments contain a
credit clause where each party has a right to settle at market if the other
party is downgraded betow investment grade. As of Decemnber 31, 2007,
the fair market value of all derivative contracts in our Consolidated
Balance Sheet was a net liability of $33 million pre-tax, All of these
contracts were with investment grade financial institutions.




We enter into derivative contracts based on economic analysis of
underlying exposures, anticipating that adverse impacts on future earn-
ings, cash flows and fair values due to fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates, interest rates and commaodity prices will be offset by the
proceeds from and changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments.
Our exposure to market risk is not hedged in a manner that completely
eliminates the effects of changing market conditions on earnings, cash
flows and fair values, as this would not be cost effective.

Sensitivity analysis is used as a primary tool in evaluating the effects
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and
commaodity prices on our business operations. The analyses quantify
the impact of potential changes in these rates and prices on our earn-
ings, cash flows and fair values of assets and liabilities during the
forecast period, most commonly within a one-year period. The ranges
of changes used for the purpose of this analysis reflect our view of
changes that are reasonably possible cver the forecast period. Fair
values are the present value of projected future cash flows based

on market rates and chosen prices.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Our products are manufactured and sold in a number of locations
around the world. We generate revenues and incur costs in a variety
of European, Asian and Latin American currencies. Additionally, we
finance operations outside of the United States in local currencies. Qur
diverse base of local currency costs, financings, and foreign exchange
option, forward and swap contracts will partially counterbalance the
impact of changing foreign currency exchange rates on revenues, earn-
ings, cash flows and fair values of assets and liabilities. Nevertheless,
when those anticipated transactions are realized, actual efiects of
changing foreign currency exchange rates could have a material
impact on earnings and cash fiows in future periods.

Short-term exposures to changing foreign exchange rates are primarily
due to operating cash flows denominated in foreign currencies and
transactions denominated in non-functional currencies. Qur most sig-
nificant foreign currency exposures are related to our operations in
Germany, France, fialy, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Sweden,
South Africa, Canada, Japan, Australia, Korea, Taiwan, Hong Kong,
Singapore, China, the Philippines, Thailand and Brazil. Known and antic-
ipated exposures are covered by using foreign exchange option, forward
and swap contracts. We estimate that an instantanecus 10% deprecia-
tion in all the currencies of these countries from their levels against the
dollar as of December 31, 2007, with all other variables held constant,
would increase the fair value of foreign currency hedging contracts held

at December 31, 2007 by $91 million; a 10% appreciation of these
currencies would decrease the fair market value by $72 million. This
estimate is based on market conditions as of December 31, 2007,

without reflecting the effects of underlying anticipated transactions.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily due to our
financing, investing and cash management activities, which include
long- and short-term debt to maintain liquidity and fund business oper-
ations. A 50 basis point increase in interest rates would reduce the fair
value of short- and long-term debt by $128 million, net of derivative
contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2007. A 50 basis point
decrease in interest rates will increase the fair value by $137 million.
However, such changes in fair values would not have a material impact
on our earnings per share or cash flows as the majority of our debt
obligations at December 31, 2007 consisted of fixed rate instruments.
A 50 basis point movement is equivalent to approximately 8% of the
weighted average rate on our worldwide debt.

Commodity Price Risk

We purchase certain raw materials and energy sources such as natural
gas, propylene, acetone, butanol and styrene under short- and long-
term supply contracts. The purchase prices are generally determined
based on prevailing market conditions. Changing raw material and energy
prices have had material impacts on our earnings and cash {lows in the
past, and will likely continue to have significant impacts on earnings
and cash flows in future periods. Commodity derivative instruments
are used to reduce portions of commadity price risks. A 25% increase
in the underlying commeodity price would increase the fair value of
commodity derivative instruments by $2 million. A 25% decrease in the
underlying commaedity price would decrease the fair value of commodity
derivative instruments by $2 milion.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL

CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Rohm and Haas Company’s (the “Company's"} management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reascnable assurance regarding the relia-
bility of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. A company’s internal contrel over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal controt over financial reporting
may not prevent or detect misstatements, Also, projections of any evalua-
tion of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Rehm and Haas Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework {COSO). Based
on our assessment, management has concluded that, as of December
31, 2007, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective based on those criteria.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has issued an attestation report on the
Company’s internal controls ever financial reporting, which is included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

6@7' tz’.ju;t;

Raj L. Gupta
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Jacques M. Croisetiere
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 21, 2008



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

of Rohm and Haas Company:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index
appearing under Item 15(a) {1) present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Rohm and Haas Company and its subsidiaries
at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion,
the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under
Item 15{aX2} presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated
financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COS0). The Company’s
management is responsible for these finandal statements and financial
staterment schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of inter-
nat control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements,
on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Cur audits of the
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other proce-
dures as we considered necessary in the drcumstances. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Notes 7, 9, and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company adopted a new financial accounting standard
for uncertain tax positions during 2007 and new financial accounting
standards for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans
and share-based compensation during 2006.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reperting and the preparation of financial statements

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {ii)
provide reascnable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reason-
able assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
pracedures may deteriorate,

waawcow l Le

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 21, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in milfions, except per share amounts For the years ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Net sales $8,897 $8,230 $7.885
Cost of goods sold 6,430 5,747 5,512

Gross profit 2,467 2,483 2,373
Selling and administrative expense 1,081 1,041 1,008
Research and development expense 296 286 262
Interest expense 120 94 117
Amortization of intangibles 57 S6 55
Restructuring and asset impairments 28 27 98
Pension judgment 65 - -
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - - 17
Share of affiliate earnings, net 22 10 9
Other (income), net (48} (53) (43)
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, and minority interest 880 1,042 868
Income taxes 206 274 242
Minority interest 14 13 10

Earnings from continuing operations 660 755 616
Discontinued operations

Net earnings (loss} of discontinued lines of business, net of income tax (benefit)

expense of $(2), $14, and ${16) in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively 1 (20) 21

Net earnings 661 735 637
Basic earnings per share (in dollars)

From continuing operations $ 3.7 $ 3.45 $ 2.78

Income (loss} from discontinued operation 0.01 (0.09) 0.0%

Net earnings per share $ 3.18 $ 336 $ 2.87
Diluted earnings per share (in dollars)

From continuing operations $ 3.12 $ 3.4 $ 275

Income (loss) from discontinued operation 0.01 (0.09) .10

Net earnings per share $ 3.13 1 332 $ 285
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 207.8 218.9 221.9
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted 211.0 221.2 2239

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In mittions For the years ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings $ 661 $735 § 637
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities
{Gain) loss on disposal of business, net of income taxes (1) 16 1
Loss (gain) on sale of assets 3 7 (12)
Provisicn for allowance for doubtful accounts 5 6 1
Provision for LIFO reserve 43 7 26
Benefit from deferred taxes 7s) (37) (66)
Asset impairments 18 2 79
Depreciation 412 407 422
Amortization of finite-lived intangibles 57 58 59
Pension judgment 65 - -
Share-based compensation 49 48 50
Loss on extinguishment of debt - - 17
Premium paid on debt retirement - (6) (46)
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable {266} (30) (123)
Inventories 18 (161) (55)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (36) 3 8
Accounts payahle and accrued liabilities 22 (12) 4
Federal, foreign and other income taxes payable 23 (96) 89
Payments to fund U.S. pension plans - (137 (125}
Other, net (35) 30 (29}
Net cash provided by operating activities 963 840 947
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions of businesses affiliates and intangibles, net of cash received (117) {48) (20)
Proceeds from disposal of business, net 15 256 -
Decrease in restricted cash - 1 45
Proceeds from the sale of land, buildings and equipment 17 12 24
Capital expenditures for land, buildings and equipment (L)) (404) (333)
(Payments) proceeds to settle derivative contracts 67 {22) 3
Net cash used by investing activities (569) {203) (253)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1394 23 70
Repayments of long-term debt (aa1) (182) 411)
Purchase of common stock {1.462) (264) {273)
Tax benefit on stock aptions 8 8 -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 46 74 82
Net change in short-term borrowings (86) (50 90
Payment of dividends (303) {283) {250)
Net cash used by financing activities (844) {674) {692)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (450) (37) 2
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 122 64 {en
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 593 566 625
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 265 $593 3 566
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 17 $109 $ 147
Income taxes, net of refunds received 230 381 251
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In millions, except share data December 31, 2007 2006
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 265 § 593
Restricted cash 3 3
Receivables, net 1,977 1,570
Inventories 1,024 984
Prepaid expenses and other currents assets 258 254
Current assets of discontinued operations - 7
Total current assets 3,527 341
Land, buildings and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 2,871 2,669
Investments in and advances 1o affiliates 195 12
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 1,668 1,541
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 1,492 1,487
Other assets 455 324
Other assets of discontinued operations - 9
Total assets $10,208 $9,553
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Liabilities
Short-term abligations $ 158 $ 393
Trade and other payables 806 684
Accrued liabilities 889 816
Income taxes payable 17 93
Current liabilities of discontinued operations - 2
Total current liabilities 1,870 1,988
Long-term debt 3,139 1,688
Employee benefits 760 735
Deferred income taxes 766 754
Cther liabilities 312 230
Other liabilities of discontinued operations - 5
Total liabilities 6,847 5,400
Minority interest 215 122
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock; par value — §1.00; authorized - 25,000,000 shares; issued - no shares - -
Common stock; par value -~ $2.50; authorized — 400,000,000 shares; issued — 242,078,349 shares 605 605
Additional paid-in capital 2,147 2,214
Retained earnings 2,569 2,218
5,321 5,037
Treasury stock at cost (2007 — 46,227,211 shares; 2006 ~ 23,239,920 shares) {1,918) (608)
ESQP shares (2007 — 7,995,877 shares; 2006 — 8,585,684 shares) {75) (82)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (182) (316)
Total stockholders’ equity 3,146 4,031
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $10,208 $9,553

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Number of Number of Accumulated
Shares of Additional Shares of Other Total Total
In millions, except share amounts in thousands Common Stock  Common Paid-in  Retained Treasury Stock  Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive
For the years ended December 31, Outstanding Stock Capital Earnings  Outstanding Stock  ESOFP  Income (Loss} Equity Income
2005
Balance January 1, 2005 225,261 3605 $2,062 $1,370 16,818 § (166) $(94) $ (80) §3,697
Net earnings 637 637 $637
Current period changes in fair value,
net of taxes of (34) 7 7 7
Reclassification to earnings, net of taxes of ($1) 2 2 2
Cumulative translation adjustrment,
net of taxes of §5 (13} (13) (13)
Change in minimum pension liability,
net of taxes of $1 (21) 21 21)
Total comprehensive income $612
Repurchase of common stock {5,974) 5,974 (273) (273)
Common stock issued
Stock-based compensation 2,676 90 (2,676) 30 120
ESCP 6 6
Tax benefit on ESOP 5 5
Common dividends ($1.12 per share) (2500 (250)
Balance December 31, 2005 221,963 %605 $2,152 31,762 20,116 § (409) $(88) $(105)  $3917
2006
Net earnings 735 735 $735
Current pericd changes in fair value,
net of taxes of {§5) 10 10 10
Reclassification to earnings, net of taxes of $6 (1 {1 {11
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes of $8 (2) (2) (2)
Change in minimum pension liability,
net of taxes of $(11) 35 35 35
Total comprehensive income $767
Adjustment to initially apply FASB Staternent
No. 158, net of tax of $127 (243) (243)
Repurchase of common stock (5,697) 5,697 (264) (264)
Common stock issued
Stock-based compensation . 2,573 62 (2,573) 65 127
ESCP 3] 6
Tax benefit on ESOP 4 4
Common dividends {$1.28 per share) (283) (283)
Balance Decernber 31, 2006 218,839 $605 $2,274 $2,218 23,240 § (608) $(82) $316)  §4.0:
2007
Cumulative transition adjustment for FIN 48 {9 9
Net earnings 661 661 3661
Current period changes in fair value, net of taxes of $1 1 1 1
Redlassification to earnings, net of taxes of (3) (5) (5) (5)
Cumulative translation adiustment, net of taxes of $(21) 17 17 17
Prior service credit, net, from pension plan amendments
arising during period, net of taxes of $18 41 4 41
Net actuarial gain on pension and postretirernent
plans arising during period, net of taxes of $28 62 62 62
Amortization of net actuarial loss for pension and
postretirement plans, net of taxes of $8 18 i8 18
Total comprehensive income $795
Repurchase of common stock (24,747 (99 24,747 (1,363) (1,462)
Common stock issued
Stock-based compensation 1,760 32 (1,760) 53 85
ESOP 7 7
Tax benefit on ESOP 2 2
Common dividends ($1.44 per share) (303) {303)
Balance December 31, 2007 195,852 3605 32,147 32,569 46,227 ${1,918) 3(75) $(182) §$ 3,146
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

notes

NOTE 1: ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business

Rohm and Haas Company was incorporated in 1917 under the laws

of the State of Delaware. Qur shares are traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “ROH.” We are a leading spedcialty materials
company that leverages science and technology in many different forms
to design materials and processes that enable the products of our
customers to work, We serve many different market places, the largest
of which include: building and construction, electronics, packaging and
paper, industrial and other, transportation, household and personal care,
water and food. To serve these markets, we have significant operations in
approximately 96 manufacturing and 35 research facilities in 27 countries.
We have approximately 15,710 employees working for us worldwide.

Use of Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP”).
In accordance with GAAP we are required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities in our financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to
conform to the current year presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of our
company and subsidiaries. We consolidate all entities in which we
have a controlling ownership interest. All of our significant entities are
consclidated. We have no significant contractual requirements to fund
losses of unconsolidated entities. Also in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities, " we consolidate variable interest entities
in which we bear a majority of the risk to the potential josses or gains
from a majority of the expected returns.
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We are the primary beneficiary of a joint venture deemed to be a
variable interest entity. Each joint venture partner holds several equiva-
lent variable interests, with the exception of a royalty agreement
held exclusively between the joint venture and us. In addition, the
entire output of the joint venture is sold to us for resale to third party
customers. As the primary beneficiary, we consoclidated the joint ven-
ture’s assets, liabilities, and results of operations in our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

We hold a variable interest in another joint venture, which we account
for under the equity method of accounting. The variable interest relates
to a cost-plus arrangement between the joint venture and each joint
venture partner. We have determined that Rehm and Haas is not the
primary beneficiary and therefore have not consolidated the entity’s
assets, liabilities, and results of operations in our Consolidated Financial
Statements. The entity provides manufacturing services to us and the
other joint venture partner, and has been in existence since 1999, As of
December 31, 2007, our investment in the joint venture was approxi-
mately $57 million, representing our maximum exposure to loss,

We use the equity method to account for our investments in companies
in which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over oper-
ating and financial policies, generally 20-50% owned. Accordingly, our
consclidated net earnings or loss include our share of the net earnings
or loss of these companies.

We account for our investments in other companies that we do not
control and for which we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence, which are generally less than 20%, under the cost method.
In accordance with the cost method, the assets are recorded at cost or
fair value, as appropriate.

All significant intercompany accounts, transactions and unrealized
profits and losses are eliminated appropriately in consolidation from
our financiaf results.

Foreign Currency Translation

We translate foreign currency amounts into U.S. dollars in accordance
with GAAP The majority of our operating subsidiaries in regions other
than Latin America use the local currency as their functional currency.
We translate the assets and liabilities of those entities into U.S. dollars
using the appropriate exchange rates. We transtate revenues and
expenses using the average exchange rates for the reporting period.
Translation gains and losses are recorded in accumulated other compre-
hensive income {loss), net of taxes, except for foreign subsidiaries where
earnings are permanently reinvested outside the U.S.
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For entities that continue to use the U.S. dollar as their functional
currency, we remeasure land, buildings and equipment, accumulated
depreciation, inventories, goodwill and intangibles and accumulated
amortization at their respective historical rates of exchange. We remea-
sure all other assets and liabilities using the appropriate exchange rates at
the end of period. Revenue, cost of goods soid and operating expenses
other than depreciation and amortization are translated using the
average rates of exchange for the reporting period.

Foreign exchange gains and losses, including recognition of open
foreign exchange contracts, are credited or charged to income.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold as reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations includes inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving
costs, inspection costs, internal transfer costs, and other distribution
network charges. ’

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the earnings process is complete. This occurs
when products are shipped to or received by the customer in accor-
dance with the terms of the agreement, title and risk of loss have been
transferred, collectibility is probable and pricing is fixed or determinable.
The exception to this practice is for sales made under supplier-owned
and managed inventory (“SOMI") arrangements. We recognize revenue
for inventory sold under SOMI arrangements when usage of inventory
is reported by the customer, generally on a weekly or monthly basis.
Revenues from product sales are recorded net of applicable allowances.

Customer payments received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue
and recognized into income upon completion of the earnings process.
We account for cash sales incentives as a reduction to revenue. Certain
of our customers earn cash incentive rebates when their cumulative
annual purchases meet specified measurement targets per the terms of
their individual agreement. We record these rebate incentives as a reduc-
tion to revenue based on the customers” progress against the specified
measurement target. Non-cash sales incentives, such as product samples,
are recorded as a charge to selling and administrative expense at the
time of shipment.

Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling fees are included
in net sales, and costs we have incuired for the delivery of goods are clas-
sified as cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable result from the sale of goods or services with terms
that provide for future payment. They are created when an invoice is
generated and are reduced by payments. We record an allowance for
doubtful accounts as a best estimate of the amount of probable credit
losses in our existing accounts receivable. We consider factors such

as customer credit, past transaction history with the customer, and
changes in customer payment terms when determining whether the
collection of an invoice is reasonably assured. We review our allowance
for doubtful accounts monthly. Past due balances over 90 days and over
a specified amount are reviewed individually for collectibility. Receivables
are charged off against the allowance for doubtful accounts when we
feel it is probable the receivable will not be recovered.

Earnings Per Share

We use the weighted-average number of shares outstanding to
calculate basic earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share include
the dilutive effect of share-based compensation, such as stock options
and restricted stock.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, time deposits and readily
marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less.

Inventories

Qur inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Approximately
41% of our inventory is determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.
The remainder is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFQ) method.

Land, Buildings and Equipment, and Accumulated Depreciation
The value of our land, buildings and equipment is carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation. The principal lives (in years) used in determin-
ing depreciation rates of various assets are: buildings and improvements
{10-50); machinery and equipment (5-20); automohiles, trucks and
tank cars (3-10}; furniture and fixtures, laboratory equipment and other
assets {5-10); capitalized software (5-7); capitalized interest (11). The
principle life used in determining the depreciation rate for leasehold
improvements is the years remaining in the lease term or the useful life
(in years) of the asset, whichever is shorter. These assets are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives using straight-line methods. Construction
costs, labor and applicable overhead related to construction and instal-
lation of these assets are capitalized. Expenditures for additions and
improvements that extend the lives or increase the capacity of plant
assets are capitalized. Maintenance and repair costs for these assets are
expensed as incurred. Repair and maintenance costs associated with
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planned major maintenance activities are expensed as incurred and
are included in cost of goods sold. Replacements and betterment
costs are capitalized. The cost and related accumulated depreciation
of our assets are removed from the accounting records when they
are retired or disposed.

Capitalized Software

We capitalize certain costs, such as software coding, installation and
testing, that are incurred to purchase or create and implement internal
use computer software in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1,
"Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use.” The majority of our capitalized software relates to the
implementation of our enterprise resource planning system, which was
completed in 2004.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We consider this to be one of the critical accounting estimates used in
the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe the
current assumptions and other considerations used to value goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets to be appropriate. However, if actual
experience differs from the assumptions and considerations used in our
analysis, the resuiting change could have a material adverse impact on
the consolidated results of operations and statement of position.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwilf and Other Intangible Assets, " goodwill is assigned to reporting
units, which may be one level below our operating segments. Goodwill
is assigned to the reporting unit that benefits from the synergies arising
from each particular business combination. Goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets are reviewed annually, or more frequently, if changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Te
test for recaverability, we typically utilize discounted estimated future cash
flows to measure fair value for each reporting unit. This calculation is
highty sensitive to both the estimated future cash flows of each report-
ing unit and the discount rate assumed in these calculations. Qur annual
impairment review is as of May 31.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the annual impairment review was
completed without the identification of any impairments.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We consider this to be one of the criticat accounting estimates used in
the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe
the current assumptions and other considerations used to evaluate the
carrying value of long-lived assets to be appropriate. However, if actual
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experience differs from the assumptions and considerations used in our
estimates, the resufting change could have a material adverse impact
on the consolidated results of operations and statement of position.

Our long-lived assets, other than goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets, which are discussed above, include land, buildings, equipment,
long-term investments, and other intangible assets. Long-lived assets,
other than investments, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets,
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, and are reviewed for
impairment whenever changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value of the asset may not be recoverable. Such circumstances would
include events such as a significant decrease in the market price of a
long-lived asset, a significant adverse change in the manner the asset is
being used or planned to be used or in its physical condition or a history
of operating or cash flow losses associated with the use of the asset. In
addition, changes in the expected useful life of these long-lived assets
may also be an impairment indicator. When such events or changes
occur, we assess the-recoverability of the asset by comparing the carry-
ing value of the asset to the expected future undiscounted cash flows
associated with the asset's planned future use and eventual disposition of
the asset, if applicable. If the carrying value of the asset is not determined
to be recoverable, we estimate the fair value of the asset primarily from
discounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the
asset and compare that to the carrying value of the asset. We utilize
marketplace assumptions to calculate the discounted cash flows used
in determining the asset’s fair vafue. If the carrying value is greater than
the fair value, an impairment loss is recorded. In some circumstances
the carrying value may be appropriate; however, the event that trig-
gered the review of the asset may indicate a revision to the useful life
of the asset. In such cases, we will accelerate depreciation to match
the revised useful life of the asset.

The key variables that we must estimate include assumptions regarding
sales volume, selling prices, raw material prices, labor and other benefit
costs, capital additions, assumed discount rates and other economic
factors. These variables require significant management judgment and
include inherent uncertainties since they are forecasting future events.
If such assets are considered impaired, an impairment loss is recognized
equal to the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its
fair value.

The fair values of our long-term investments are dependent on the
financial performance and solvency of the entities in which we invest, as
well as volatility inherent in their external markets. In assessing potential
impairment for these investments, we consider these factors as well as
the forecasted financial performance of the investment entities. If these
forecasts are not met, we may have 1o record impairment charges.



Research and Development

Research and development costs include costs in connection with new
product devefopment, fundamental and exploratory research, process
improvement, product applications research and product registration and
technical support of current technology. We expense all research and
development costs as incurred.,

Litigation and Environmental Contingencies and Reserves

We consider this to be one of the critical accounting estimates used

in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We are
involved in litigation in the ordinary course of business involving
employee, personal injury, property damage and environmental matters.
Additionally, we are involved in environmental remediation and spend
significant amounts for both company-owned and third party locations.
In accordance with GAAP, we are required to assess these matters to:
1) determine if & liability is probable; and 2) record such a liability when
the financial exposure can be reasonably estimated. The determination
and estimation of these liabilities are critical to the preparation of our
financial statements. We have provided for future costs, on an undis-
counted basis, at certain of these sites. Accruals for estimated losses from
environmental remediation obligations generally are recognized at the
point during the remedial feasibility study when costs become probable
and estimable. We do not accrue for legal costs expected to be incurred
with a loss contingency.

In reviewing such matters, we consider a broad range of information,
including the claims, demands, settlement offers received from govern-
mental authorities or private parties, estimates performed by independent
third parties, identification of other responsible parties and an assess-
ment af their ability to contribute as well as our prior experience, to
determine if a liability is probable and if the value is reasonably estimable.
If both of these conditions are met, we record a reserve. These reserves
include liabilities expected to be paid out within the next 10 years. If
we believe that no best estimate exists, we accrue the minimum in a
range of possible losses, and disclose any material, reasonably possible,
additional losses. If we determine a liability to be only reascnably possi-
ble, we consider the same information to estimate the possible exposure
and disclose any material potential liability. In addition, estimates for
liabilities to be incurred between 11 to 30 years in the future are also
considered only reasonably possible because the chance of a future
event occurring is more than remote but less than probable. These loss
contingencies are monitored regularly for a change in fact or circum-
stance that would require an accrual adjustment,

Our most significant reserves have been established for remediation
and restoration costs associated with environmental issues. As of
December 31, 2007, we have $150 million reserved for environmental
related costs. We conduct studies and site surveys to determine the extent
of environmental contamination and necessary remediation, With the
expertise of our environmental engineers and legal counsel we determine
our best estimates for remediation and restoration costs. These estimates
are based on forecasts of future costs for remediation and change peri-
cdically as additional and better information becomes available. Changes
to assumptions and considerations used to calculate remediation reserves
could materially affect our results of operations. If we determine that
the scope of remediation is broader than originally planned, discover
new contamination, discover previously unknown sites or become sub-
ject to related personal injury or property damage claims, our estimates
and assumptions could materially change.

We believe the current assumptions and other considerations used to
estimate reserves for both our environmental and other legal liabilities
are appropriate. These estimates are based in large part on information
currently available and the current laws and regulations governing
these matters. i additional information becomes available, there are
changes to the laws or regulations or actual experience differs from
the assumptions and considerations used in estimating our reserves,
the resulting change could have a material impact on the consolidated
results of operations and statement of position.

Income Taxes

We consider this to be one of the critical accounting estimates used in
the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe
the current assumptions and other considerations used to determine
our current year and deferred income tax provisions to be appropriate.
However, if actual experience differs from the assumptions and consid-
erations used, the resulting change could have a material impact on
the consolidated results of operations and statement of position.

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the estimated future consequences of temporary differences between
the financial statement carrying value of assets and liabilities and their
values as measured by tax laws. Valuation allowances are recorded to
reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax
benefit will not be realized.
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Retirement Benefits

We consider this to be one of the critical accounting estimates used in
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe the
assumptions and other considerations used to determine our penston
and postretirement benefit obligations to be appropriate. However, if
actual experience differs from the assumptions and considerations used,
the resulting change could have a material impact on the consolidated
results of operations and statement of position.

We adopted the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans,”
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. SFAS No. 158 requires
employers to recognize the overfunded or underfunded projected benefit
obligation of a defined benefit plan as an asset or liability in the state-
ment of financial position. SFAS No. 158 also requires employers to
recognize annual changes in gains or losses, prior service costs, or other
credits that have not been recognized as a component of net periodic
pension cost, net of tax, through accumulated other comprehensive
loss. As a result of the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 158, we have recorded a $245 million increase to Accumulated
other comprehensive loss in December 31, 2006 in Stockholders’ Equity.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock consists of shares of Rohm and Haas stock that have
been issued but subsequently reacquired. We account for treasury
stock purchases under the cost method. In accordance with the cost
method, we account for the entire cost of acquiring shares of our stock
as treasury stock, which is a contra equity account. When these shares
are reissued, we use an average cost method for determining cost.
Proceeds in excess of cost are credited to additional paid-in capital.

Share-Based Compensation

We consider this to be one of the critical accounting estimates used in
the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements. We have
various share-based compensation plans for directors, executives and
employees, which are comprised primarily of restricted stock, restricted
stock units and stock option grants. Prior to 2003, we accounted for
these plans under APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees.” Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized
prior to 2003 for stock options.

Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value method of recording
share-based compensation as defined in SFAS No. 123, “Accounting

for Stock-Based Compensation.” As a result, we began to expense the
fair value of stock options awarded to employees after January 1, 2003.
The fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model as of
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the grant date and is recorded as compensation expense over the appro-
priate vesting period, which is typically three years. We also calculate
and record the fair value of our restricted stock awards in accordance
with SFAS No. 123. Compensation expense is recognized over the vest-
ing period, which is typically five years. Our policy is to issue treasury
stock, not cash, to settle equity instruments granted under share-based
payment agreements.

tn December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
amended SFAS No. 123. This Statement supersedes APB No. 25,
*Accounting for Stock fssued to Employees,” and its related implemen-
tation guidance. This Statement eliminates the prospective opticn
we have applied under SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, " and requires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options,
to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values
beginning with the first interim or annual pericd after June 15, 2005.
Due to the fact that the majority of our options issued prior to
January 1, 2003, the date we adopted SFAS No. 123, vested as of
June 15, 2005, the revised computations did not have a material
impact on our financial statements.

Accounting for Derivative instruments and Hedging Activities
We use derivative and non-derivative instruments to manage market risk
arising out of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commod-
ity prices and the U.S. dollar value of our net investments outside the U.S.
These instruments are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, ” as amended.

We have established policies governing our use of derivative instruments.
We do not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative pur-
poses, nor are we a party to any leveraged derivative instruments or
any instruments for which the fair market values are not available from
independent third parties. We manage counter-party default risk by
entering into derivative contracts with only major financial institutions
of investment grade credit rating and by limiting the amount of expo-
sure to each financial institution. Certain of our derivative instruments
contain credit clauses giving each party the right to settle at market if
the other party is downgraded below investment grade.

The accounting standards require that all derivative instruments be
reported on the balance sheet at their fair values. For derivative instru-
ments designated as fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the
derivative instruments generally offset the changes in fair value of the
hedged items in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For deriv-
ative instruments designated as cash flow hedges to reduce the variability
of future cash flows related to forecasted transactions, the effective
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portions of hedges are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) until the hedged items are realized and recorded in earn-
ings. When cash flow hedges are terminated early but the underlying
hedged forecast transactions are likely to occur, related gains or fosses
are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income {loss} until
the hedged items occur. Any ineffective partions of the hedges are
recognized in current period earnings.

Changes in the value of derivative or non-derivative instruments, which
are designated as, and meet all of the criteria for, hedges of net invest-
ments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income {loss)
based on changes measured on a spot-to-spot basis of exchange rates.
Ineffective portions of net investment hedges are charged to earnings.

Changes in the fair values are immediately recorded in current period
earnings if derivative instruments were not designated as hedges or fail
to meet the criteria as effective hedges.

Cash flows resulting from our hedging activities are reported under
operating activities in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, except
for cash flows from derivatives hedges of net investments in foreign
subsidiaries and derivatives not accounted for as hedges under SFAS
Ne. 133, which are reported separately under investing activities.

NOTE 2: ACQUISITIONS AND

DISPOSITIONS OF ASSETS

2007

On January 4, 2007, we completed the formation of Viance, LLC,

a joint venture owned 50% by Rohm and Haas and 50% by Chemical
Specialties, Inc. (C5I), a wholly owned subsidiary of Rockwood Holdings,
Inc. Rohm and Haas paid CSI $73 million to create the new company,
which combines the wood biocides business of Rohm and Haas and
the wood protection chemicals business of CSI. The results of this joint
venture are included in our Performance Materials Group segment as
an equity method investment.

On June 15, 2007, we acquired the net assets of Eastman Kodak
Company’s light management films technology business, which produces
advanced films that improve the brightness and efficiency of liquid crystal
displays (LCD). Of the $40 million purchase price, $9 million was allo-
cated to intangible assets, primarily consisting of developed technology,
and we recorded a charge of $3 million for acquired in-process research
and development, for which technological feasibility had not yet been
established, which is included in restructuring and asset impairments in
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The remainder of the pur-
chase price was allocated to the tangible net assets acquired. The
proforma results for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,

respectively, would not be material to the Rohm and Haas Consolidated
Statements of Operations for those respective periods. The results of
operations of the light management films business are included in the
Display Technologies segment of our Electronic Materials Group as of
the second quarter of 2007.

On November 30, 2007, we acquired a 51% ownership interest in a
joint venture formed with SKC, Co. Ltd. ("SKC") that will develop, man-
ufacture and market advanced optical and functional films used in the
flat panel display industry. The purchase price for our controlling inter-
est in the joint venture was approximately $196 million. As part of the
purchase price allocation, $22 million was allocated to definite-lived
intangible assets, consisting of licensed technology of $6 million, with
a useful life of 3 to 4 years, and customer relationships of 316 milfion,
with a useful life of 7 years, and, in addition, we recorded a charge of
$1 million for acquired in-process research and development, for which
technological feasibility had not yet been established, which is included
in restructuring and asset impairments in the Consolidated Statement
of Operations. The purchase agreement requires a contingent payment
based upon the achievement of certain target finandial thresholds. Based
upon the joint venture’s actual achievement of these thresholds, we
have recorded a $15 million contingent payment in Accrued Liabilities
as of December 31, 2007, which will be paid in the first quarter of 2008.
The $15 million is included in the purchase price disclosed above. We
expect to finalize our purchase accounting adjustments by the end of
the first quarter of 2008, as the audit of the closing balance sheet is
not yet complete. The results of operations of the new joint venture
are included in the Display Technologies segment of our Electronic
Materials Group as of the fourth quarter of 2007.

The following table presents the purchase price allocation of our
SKC joint venture;

in millions November 30, 2007
Current assets, including cash acquired of $2 million $288
Land, buildings and equipment, net 74
Goodwill 95
intangible assets 22
In-process research and development 1
Deferred tax benefits "
Other 2
Total assets acquired $493
Current liabilities $194
Deferred tax liabilities "
Other long-term liabilities 1
Other fiabilities 22
Totat liabilities acquired §$216
Minority interest acquired $ 81
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Included in current liabilities above are Notes Payable totaling
$145 million which matured and were paid off by the joint venture
on December 4, 2007.

The foltowing table represents the pro forma results as if the formation
of the SKC Haas joint venture had occurred on January 1, 2006:

The European Automotive Coatings business’ operations were sold on
June 30, 2007 for proceeds of $3 million. The sale resulted in a pre-tax
loss of approximately $3 million.

The following table presents the results of operations of our Automotive
Coatings discontinued operation:

in millions, except per share amounts 2007 2006 kn miflions 2007 2006 2005

Net sales $ 215 $ 207  Net sales from discontinued operation $14 178 $109

Net (loss) earnings (6) 3 {Loss) earnings from discontinued line of business (1) (6) 5

Earnings per share Income tax benefit (provision) 2 (20) i7
Basic (0.03) 0.0t  Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operation $1 $(26) $ 22
Diluted $(0.03) 30.01

The unaudited pro forma data may not be indicative of the results that
would have been obtained had the joint venture actualty been formed
at the beginning of each of the periods presented, nor are they intended
to be indicative of future consolidated results.

2006

tn the second quarter of 2006, we determined that the global
Automotive Coatings business became an Asset Held for Sale and qual-
ified for treatment as a discontinued operation. We have reflected this
business as such in our financial statements for all periods presented.
On Qctober 1, 2006, we completed the sale of our global Automotive
Coatings business, excluding that business’ European operations, which
was previously a business within our former Coatings reporting segment.
Proceeds included $230 million, in cash, plus working capital adjust-
ments as defined in the sale agreement. In January of 2007, we paid
$9 million in closing working capital adjustments. In the fourth quarter
of 2006, we recorded a pre-tax gain of $1 million in the sale.

tn accordance with EITF No. 93-17, "Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for a Parent Company’s Excess Tax Basis in the Stock of a Subsidiary That
is Accounted for as a Discontinued Operation,” we recorded certain
taxhook basis differences resulting in the recognition of income taxes
of $24 million, which is included in the net loss from discontinued
operation at December 31, 2006,

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment

or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we compared the fair value of our
expected disposal asset groupings and determined that the net carry-
ing value of one asset group was impaired by approximately $7 million
pre-tax during the second quarter of 2006, which is included in the
loss from the discontinued operation.

76 ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

The following table presents the major classes of assets and liabilities
of our Automotive Coatings discontinued operation:

In millions 2006
Current assets of discontinued operation 7
Land, buildings and equipment, net 3
Investments in and advances to affiliates
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Cther

Other assets of discontinued operation
Total Assets of discontinued operation
Current liabilities of discontinued operation
Deferred tax liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

COther liabilities of discontinued operation
Total Liabilities of discontinuec operation
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During the fourth guarter of 2006, we also reversed $6 million in tax
reserves related to a previously disposed business resulting from the
favorable resolution of prior year tax contingencies.

In the second quarter of 2006, we acquired the net assets of Floralife®,
Inc. (“Floralife”), a top global provider of post-harvest care products for
the floral industry based in South Carolina, for approximately $22 mil-
lion. As part of the purchase price allocation, $14 million was allocated
to intangible assets, primarily consisting of licensed technology and
customer relationships, §3 million to net working capital, $3 million to
fixed assets, $6 million to goodwill and $4 million to deferred tax liabil-
ities. The intangible assets primarily consist of definite-lived intangible
assets with useful lives ranging from 5 to 9 years. Prior to this acquisi-
tion, we had a royalty agreement with Floralife under which we paid
Floralife for the use of certain technologies. The acquisition by Rohm and
Haas is intended to expand the portfolio of our AgroFresh™ business to
include post-harvest flowers on a global basis. The proforma results
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of operations for Floralife for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, are not material to the Rohm and Haas Consolidated
Statements of Operations for those respective periods. The results

of operations for Floralife are included in our Performance Materials
Group business segment as of the second quarter of 2006. In January
of 2007, we sold Floralife with the exception of certain technologies
we will maintain to support the Performance Matertals Group. This
sale resulted in an immaterial after-tax gain in January 2007.

2005

We acquired the remaining shares of three consolidated subsidiaries
for $20 million in 2005. We also incurred $1 million of taxes, reported
in discontinued operations, related to a previously disposed business.
There were no other significant acquisitions or dispositions.

Restructuring by Initiative

NOTE 3: PROVISION FOR RESTRUCTURING

AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

Severance and employee benefit costs associated with restructuring
initiatives are primarily accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 112,
“Employers’ Accounting for Posternpioyrent Benefits.” Asset impairment
charges are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets.” The following
net restructuring charges were recorded for the three years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, as detailed below:

Restructuring and Asset Impairments

In miffions 2007 2006 2005
Severance and employee benefits (net) $10 $23 $19
Asset impairments, net of gains on sales 18 2 79
Other, including contract lease termination penalties - 2 -
Amount charged to eamings $28 $27 $98

in millions, except headcount Severance Employee Benefits Headcount
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Initial charge
Efectronic Technologies $3 $1 $12 51 g 194
Display Technologies - - - - - -
Electronic Materials Group $3 $1 312 51 9 194
Paint and Coatings Materials 2 6 2 15 75 19
Packaging and Building Materials 1 1 8 14 18 100
Primary Materials - 2 - - 17 -
Specialty Materials Group $3 $9 $t0 29 110 119
Performance Materials Group 7 ) 9 82 37 220
Sait - 5 - 9 114 -
Corporate 2 5 5 30 59 57
Total $15 326 $36 201 329 590
Activity during 2005 (3) (88)
Changes in estimate - (4)
December 31, 2005 ending balance $33 498
Activity during 2006 (3) (19) (68) (382)
Changes in estimate n m - {33)
December 31, 2006 ending balance $22 $13 261 83
Activity during 2007 () an 9 (72) (182) {65)
Changes in estimate - (3) (2) &) @7 (13)
Balance at December 31, 2007 $11 52 § 2 120 32 5

Restructuring reserves as of December 31, 2007 total $15 million and are
included in accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
restructuring reserve balance presented is considered adequate to cover
committed restructuring actions. Cash payments related to severance
and employee benefits are expected to be paid over the next 12 months.
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Restructuring Initiatives

2007 Initiatives

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded approximately
$15 million of expense for severance and associated employee benefits,
primarily associated with the elimination of 201 positions as part of
our on-going efforts to reposition our business portfolio for accelerated
growth by exiting non-strategic business lines, as well as to improve
operating excellence through productivity initiatives in manufacturing,
research and development, and business services.

Of the initial 201 positions identified, we reduced the total number
of positions to be affected by these initiatives by 9 to 192 positions in
total. As of December 31, 2007, 72 positions have been eliminated.

2006 Initiatives

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded approximately
$26 million of expense for severance and associated employee benefits
assaciated with the elimination of 329 positions, primarily in our Paint
and Coatings Materials, Performance Materials and Salt segments, con-
centrated in our North America, and several North American support
services functions. Our management approved restructuring initiatives to
implement organizational alignments to support our Vision 2010 strat-
egy and to further improve the efficiency of our manufacturing network.
The organizational alignments included a maore streamlined business
structure, and deployment of resources to higher growth markets. The
restructuring charge resulted from efficiency initiatives in our North
American Chemical and Salt businesses. The staffing reductions related
to several of our manufacturing operations and were a direct result of
changes in the execution of existing processes and productivity improve-
ments, while support services staffing reductions were made possible
as we continue to capitalize on the enhancements achieved through the
implementation of our enterprise resource planning system, This charge
was partially offset by $1 million of favorable adjustments to adequately
reflect changes in estimates of remaining obligations related to sever-
ance payments within our global Graphic Arts business within our
Packaging and Building Materials segment, an initiative announced in
the first quarter of 2006.

During 2007, we reversed $3 million of severance and employee
benefit charges related to total 2006 initiatives.

Of the initial 329 positions identified, we reduced the total number

of positions by 47 to 282 positions in total. As of December 31, 2007,
250 positions have been eliminated.

78 ROHM AND HAAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

2005 Initiatives

For the year ended December 31, 2005, our management approved
restructuring initiatives to further improve the efficiency of our manufac-
turing network and support organization across several of our business
segments. The 2005 restructuring initiatives involved the closing or
partial shutdown of manufacturing facilities in North America, the
United Kingdom and Germany, in addition to a North American research
and development facility. Included in the net $19 million restructuring
expense for 2005 are provisions for severance and employee benefits
of $36 million for 590 employees company-wide, impacting virtually
all areas indluding sales and marketing, manufacturing, administrative
support and research personnel. Employee separation benefits varied
depending on local regulations within certain foreign countries that
were affected by the restructuring initiatives.

Severance and employee benefit costs related to the 2005 initiatives
include $2 million for the closure of our Wytheville, VA Powder Coatings
plant and subsequent consolidation of our North American Powder
Coatings operations. In addition, $25 million of the charges related to
the manufacturing realignments to improve operating efficiencies and
reduce excess capacity across several of our chemical businesses in the
European region. An additional $3 million was recorded in severance
and employee benefit costs for the realignment of the Electronic
Technologies segment manufacturing, research and development and
sales and marketing organizations in Europe and North America in
order to be closer to our customer base and to increase operating
efficiencies. Lastly, $6 million in severance and employee benefit costs
were incurred for several smaller reductions in force efforts within our
Electronic Technologies and Packaging and Building Materials segments,
and administrative support functions initiated throughout the year. In
addition to severance and employee benefit costs, $1 million was
recorded for contract and lease terminations.

During 2007 and 2006, we reversed $2 million and $1 miflion,
respectively, of severance and employee benefit charges related to total
2005 initiatives. In addition, during 2006, we recorded $2 million for
contract lease obligations associated with a restructuring initiative
announced in the fourth quarter of 2005,

Of the initial 590 positions identified, we reduced the total number of
positions to be affected by these initiatives by 50 to 540 positions in
total. As of December 31, 2007, 535 positions have been eliminated.



Prior Years' Initiatives

Offsetting the 2006 charge were favorable adjustments relating to
prior year restructuring reserves of $1 million refated to severance and
employee benefit charges.

Offsetting the 2005 charge were favorable adjustments relating

to prior years' restructuring reserves of $17 million and $1 million,
primarily related to severance and employee benefits, due to fewer
employee separations than originally anticipated as some employees
were re-deployed and others filled positions left vacant through
natural attrition and contract lease terminations, respectively.

Asset Impairments

2007 Impairments

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized approximately
$24 million of fixed asset impairment charges. These impairments
included the $13 million write-off within our Corporate segment of our
investment in Elemica, an online chemicals e-marketplace, $5 million
related to our digital imaging business line within our Performance
Materials Group, a $4 million impairment of in-process research and
development cost within our Display Technologies segment, comprised
of $3 miltion and $1 million relating to the Eastman Kodak Company
light management films asset acquisition and SKC Haas joint venture,
respectively, and a $2 million write-down of an investment in our
Electronic Technologies segment to fair market value. These charges
were offset by $6 million in gains related to sales of previously
impaired assets.

2006 Impairments

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized approximatety
$3 million of fixed asset impairment charges associated with the restruc-
turing of our global Graphic Arts business within our Packaging and
Building Materials segment. This charge was offset by $1 million for sales
of previously impaired assets.

In 2006, we recorded a $7 million asset impairment related to our
discontinued operation. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information.

2005 Impairments

In 2005, $81 million of asset impairments were recognized for the
impairment of certain finite-lived intangible assets and fixed assets across
several of our chemical businesses and our Electronic Technologies seg-
ment. During 2005, gains on sales of previously impaired assets offset
the total asset impairment charge by $2 million. In the fourth quarter
of 2005 we recorded asset impairment charges of $40 million for

certain finite-lived intangible and fixed assets, primarily related to the
closure or partial shutdown of 5 manufacturing facilities in the United
Kingdom and Germany, in addition to a North American research and
development factlity, within our Packaging and Building Materials
and Electronic Technologies segments and Powder Coatings business.
During 2005, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $29 million
for certain finite-lived intangible and fixed assets related to certain
product fines within our Packaging and Building Materials segment.
These product lines have suffered dramatic declines in both volume and
profitability due to recent increases in raw materia! costs, coupled with
aggressive pricing by our competition. We determined that the signifi-
cant volume declines in these product lines were not recoverable and
that the related finite-lived intangibles and fixed assets were impaired.
Fair value was determined based upon current business conditions,
using cash flow analyses. In addition, we recognized $12 million of
asset impairment charges, of which approximately $9 million related to
the closing of our Wytheville, VA Powder Coatings plant, approximately
$2 million related to the impairment of certain finite-lived intangible and
fixed assets retated to our Electronic Technologies segment, and the
remaining $1 million related to several smaller fixed asset impairments,

NOTE 4: OTHER INCOME, NET

We recorded other income, net of $49 million, $53 million and
$43 million during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, The major categories of our other income, net
are summarized in the following table:

in miflions 2007 2006 2005
Royalty income $4 $ 4 $3
Foreign exchange gains and related hedging 5 (16) t:4)
Interest income 18 27 17
Sales of rea! estate 3 3 12
investment gains (losses) -~ 4 2
Other, net 18 31 17

Total 548 $53 $43

NOTE 5: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We denominate our business transactions in a variety of foreign
currencies, finance our operations through long- and short-term
borrowings, and purchase raw materials at market prices. Accordingly,
changing market prices for foreign currencies and commodities and
changing interest rates materially impact our earnings, cash flows and
the fair values of our assets and liabilities. Our operating and financing
plans include actions to reduce, but not eliminate, the uncertainty
associated with these changes including the use of derivative instru-
ments, See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Currency Hedges

We enter into foreign exchange option and forward contracts in order
to reduce the risk associated with variability in our operating results
from foreign-currency-denominated earnings, cash flows, assets and
liabilities. We direct these hedging efforts toward three distinct currency
hedging ohjectives:

« To preserve the U.5. dollar values of anticipated non-U.S. dollar cash
flows and earnings, primarily with respect to transactions forecast to
occur within a one-year period;

* To prevent changes in the values of assets and liabilities denominated
in currencies other than the fegal entity’s functionat currency which
may create undue earnings volatility (we refer to this hedging activity
as “asset and liability hedging”); and

e To hedge the dollar values of our net investments in operations
outside the U.S.

During 2007, non-dollar currencies in which we transacted business
were stronger, on average, compared with the prior-year period. These
currencies had a $41 million favorable impact on our 2007 earnings
compared with 2006, net of all currency hedging. At the beginning
of 2007, the dollar was close to its strongest point for the year, and
throughout 2007 it continued to weaken against most currencies. At
December 31, 2007, the basket of currencies in which our operations
are invested was stronger against the dollar than at December 31, 2006.
This was recorded as a $17 million cumulative translation adjustment
gain during 2007, net of losses from net investment hedges.

Hedges entered to preserve the U.S. dollar values of

anticipated non-U.S. dollar cash flows and earnings

We generally purchase options which give us the right, but not the
obligation, to sell the underlying currencies when the cash flows denomi-
nated in those currencies are forecast to occur. In this way, the premiums
paid for the options represent the maximum cost of the hedge. If, when
the forecast transactions occur, the underlying currencies have strength-
ened, the options become worthless and are expensed. in this case,
the dollar values of the underlying forecast non-dollar cash flows and
earnings are higher than anticipated. If the underlying currencies have
weakened, the options are exercised and the underlying currencies are
sold at the stronger historical rate, thus preserving the dollar values of
the forecast non-dollar cash flows.

These contracts are designated as foreign currency cash flow hedges
covering portions of our twelve month forecasted non-dollar cash flows
and mature when the underlying cash flows being hedged are forecast
to occur. Because the options are considered highly effective hedges,
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the cash value less cost will be reflected in earnings when the contracts
mature. These contracts are marked-to-market at each balance sheet
date with changes in fair value prior to maturity recorded in accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (loss). For each of the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, a $2 million after-tax loss, was recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). For the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, after-tax losses of $3 million,
$2 million and $1 million, respectively, were recorded in earnings related
to foreign currency cash flow hedges that matured during the respec-
tive periods. Changing market corditions will impact the actual amounts
recorded to earnings during the following twelve-month periods. Both
the effective and ineffective portions of foreign currency cash flow hedges
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations are classified

in other income, net.

Asset and Liability Hedging

We contract with counter-parties to buy and selt foreign currencies to
offset the impact of exchange rate changes on recognized assets and
liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies, including inter-com-
pany loans. These contracts generally require exchange of one foreign
currency for another at a fixed rate at a future date. These contracts
have maturities generally less than twelve months. All contracts are
marked-to-market at each balance sheet date with changes in fair
value recorded in other income, net. For the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, after-tax losses of $30 million, $7 million and
$23 million, respectively, were recorded in earnings for these contracts.
These losses were largely offset by gains resulting from the impact of
changes in exchange rates on recognized assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in non-functional currencies.

Net Investment Hedging

We utilize foreign exchange forward and currency collar contracts
together with non-dollar borrowings to hedge the dollar values of our
net investments in foreign operating units in Europe, Japan and Canada.
These derivative instruments and non-dollar borrowings are designated
as hedges of net investments. Accordingly, the effective portions of
foreign exchange gains or losses on these hedges are recorded as

part of the cumulative translation adjustment, which is part of accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (loss). As of December 31, 2007,
$228 million in after-tax losses were recorded in cumulative translation
adjustment, representing the effective portions of foreign exchange
losses on these hedges. Of this amount, $98 million in after-tax losses
at December 31, 2007 was related to long-term Euro and Japanese Yen
borrowings and the remainder was related to exchange forward and cur-
rency collar contracts. As of December 31, 2006, $134 million in after-tax
losses were recorded in cumulative translation adjustment, representing



the effective portions of foreign exchange losses on these hedges. Of
this amount, $53 million in after-tax losses at December 31, 2006 was
related to long-term Euro and Japanese Yen borrowings and the remain-
der was related to exchange forward and currency collar contracts.

The total notional value of derivatives and outstanding balance of
non-functional currency debt designated as hedges of net investments
outstanding at Decemnber 31, 2007 was $681 million compared to
$1,488 million outstanding at Decernber 31, 2006. The majority of the
decrease is due to reduced hedging of our exposure related to our
European and Japanese net investments.

Included in other comprehensive income {loss) as cumulative transtation
adjustment were gains of $27 million and $10 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, all net of related hedge
gains and losses.

Cumulative Foreign
Change of  Currency
Value of Translation
Hedges Impact Cumulative
of Net on Net Transtation

in miflions Investment Investment Adjustment
Gains/{Losses}

Balance as of December 31, 2005 % (66} §78 $12
Changes in fair value (68) 66 (2)
Balance as of December 31, 2006 $(134) 144 10
Changes in fair value (94) m 17
Balance as of December 31, 2007 $(228) $255 $27

The amounts that were considered ineffective on these net investment
hedges were recorded in interest expense. Interest expense was
decreased by $9 million, $19 million and $9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Commodity Hedges

We use commodity swap, option and collar contracts to reduce the

effects of changing raw material prices. These contracts were desig-
nated and accounted for as cash flow hedges. The rotional value of
commodity derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006
was $8 million and $6 million, respectively.

included in accumnulated other comprehensive income (loss) at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are an immaterial amount and $1 million
after-tax loss, respectively, which represents the accumulated market
value changes in those outstanding commodity swap, option and col-
lar contracts designated as hedges. To the extent these contracts are
considered effective as hedges, changes in market value will be recorded

in accumnulated other comprehensive income (loss) and upon maturity
will be recorded in earnings consistent with our purchases of the
underlying commodities during the following period up to twenty-four
months. The actual amounts to be recorded in earnings when these
contracts mature will depend upon spot market prices when these
contracts mature. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, $3 million and %14 million in losses, and $6 million in gains,
respectively, were recorded as components of costs of goods sold with
the related tax effect recorded in tax expense with respect to those com-
modity swap, option and collar contracts maturing during the same
periods. The ineffective portions of these contracts were immaterial to
earnings in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and were recorded in
other income, net,

Interest Rate Hedges

To reach a desired level of floating rate debt, we utilize interest rate swap
agreements to convert specific fixed rate debt issuances into variable
rate debt. These interest rate swaps are designated as {air value hedges.

tn 2001, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with a notional
value of $950 million, which converted the fixed rate components of the
$451 million notes due July 15, 2004 and the $500 million notes due
July 15, 2009 to a floating rate based on three-month LIBOR. During
December 2003, we redeemed the $451 million notes early, and termi-
nated the related interest rate swap agreements with a $450 million
notional value. During May 2004, we terminated the $500 million national
value interest rate swap agreements and received $43 million in proceeds.
These proceeds were being amortized as reductions to interest expense
over the remaining life of the $500 million notes. During March 2005,
we redeemed $400 million and during 2006 we retired the remaining
$100 million of the notes maturing on July 15, 2009. The unamortized
portion of the related interest rate swap proceeds reduced the early
retirement loss that was recorded with respect to this redemption.

During October 2003 and May 2004, we entered into interest rate
swap agreements with a notional value totaling 400 million Euro, which
converted the fixed rate components of 400 million Eure notes due
March 9, 2007 to a floating rate based on six-month EURIBOR. In
September 2005, we terminated 240 million Euro of these interest rate
swap contracts in connection with an exchange whereby we retired
240 million Euro of the notes due March 9, 2007, in exchange for newly
issued notes due September 15, 2012. The $3 million proceeds received
from the termination of the interest rate swap contracts are being amor-
tized as a reduction to interest expense over the 7-year life of the newly
issued Euro-notes.
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The changes in fair value of interest rate swap agreements are marked-
to-market through income together with the offsetting changes in fair
value of the underlying notes using the short cut method of measuring
effectiveness. As a result, the carrying amount of these notes decreased
by an immaterial amount at December 31, 2006, while the fair value of
the swap agreements were reported as other assets in the same amount,

In September 2005, we entered into a LIBOR rate lock agreement with a
bank to hedge against changes in long-term interest rates in anticipation
of a long-term debt issuance, a cash flow hedge. As of December 31,
2006, $7 million of after-tax deferred net gains on the interest rate lock
are in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). In conjunction
with the issuance of the debt in March of 2007, the interest rate lock
agreement was settled resulting in the receipt by us of approximately
$11 million from the counterparty. Since the hedge was deemed effec-
tive, the $7 mitlion after-tax gain was recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income {loss} and will be amortized to interest expense
over the life of the Eurp175 million notes due in March 2014. As of
December 31, 2007, the unamortized balance included in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) is a $6 million gain.

In September 2007, we issued $250 million of notes due in March 2013
and $850 million of notes due in September 2017. In August 2007, in
anticipation of the debt issuance we entered into a $350 million inter-
est rate lock agreement designated as a cash flow hedge to mitigate
exposure to interest rate fluctuations which would impact semi-annual
interest payments. In conjunction with the issuance of the debt, the
interest rate lock agreement was settled resulting in a payment from us
to the counterparty of approximately $10 million, Less than half a million
after-tax of this value was deemed ineffective and immediately recog-
nized in earnings during 2007. The remaining $6 million after-tax loss
was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and
will be amortized to interest expense over the life of the $850 million
notes due in September 2017. As of December 31, 2007, the unamor-
tized balance induded in accumulated other comprehensive income {loss)
is a $6 million loss.

In September 2007, we entered into interest rate swap agreements
totaling $250 million to swap the fixed rate components of the $250 mil-
lion notes due in March 2013 to a floating rate hased on six-month
LIBOR. The changes in fair value of the interest rate swap agreements
are marked-to-market through income together with the offsetting
changes in fair value of the underlying notes using the short cut method
of measuring effectiveness. As a result, the carrying amounts of both
the interest rate swap agreements and the notes increased by $7 mil-
lion, respectively, at December 31, 2007.
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The following table sets forth the net fair value of hedges and the
net fair value of foreign-denominated debt issuances outstanding as
of December 31, 2007.

Hedge Designation
Fair Cash Net

In miltions Value Flow Investment Cither
Derivatives - net asset/(liability)
Currency hedges - 5§ - $21)
Long-term investments in foreign

subsidiaries (net investments) - - (25) -
Commodity hedges - t - -
Interest rate hedges 7 - - -
Total derivatives 7 61 (25)2 {219
Debt
Long-term investmentis in

fareign subsidiaries (net investments) - - (649) -

Total $7 $6 $(674) $(21)

' Comnprises assets of $7 million and Kabitities of $1 miflion,

2 Comprises assets of $8 mitiion and Kabilities of $33 miflion.

3 Cornprises assets of $12 million and fiabilities of 33 million,

* Represents fair value of foreign denominated debt issuances formally designated
as @ hedge of net investment.

NOTE 6: FAIR VALUES AND CARRYING

AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In determining the fair value of our finandial instruments, we use a
variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market condi-
tions and risks existing at each balance sheet date as follows:

* Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and notes payable - the carrying amount approxi-
mates fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

° Short- and long-term debt - quoted market prices for the same or
similar issues at current rates offered to us for debt with the same
or similar remaining maturities and terms.

@ Interest rate swap agreements — market prices of the same or similar
agreements quoted as of the balance sheet date.

= Foreign currency option contracts — Black-Scholes calculation using
market data as of the balance sheet date.

° Foreign currency forward and swap agreements — application
of market data as of the balance sheet date to contract terms.

* Commeodity swap, option and collar contracts — counter-party
quotes as of the balance sheet date.

All methods of assessing fair value result in a general approximation
of value and such value may never actually be realized.



The carrying amounts and fair values of material financial instruments
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Deferred income taxes reflect temporary differences between the
valuation of assets and liabilities for financial and tax reporting. Details
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were:

Asset/(Liability)
In mifiions 2007 2006 0 millions 2007 2006
Carrying Fair  Carrying Far  Deferred tax assets related to
Amount Value  Amount Value Compensation and benefit programs $262 $256
Short-term debt $ (158 $ (158) 3 (393) $ (393)  Pension pragrams 30 45
Lang-term debt {3.186) (3,356) (1.899) (2,128)  Asset impairments and restructuring reserves 7 15
Interest rate swap agreements 7 7 - - Accruals for waste disposal site remediation 37 28
Interest rate lock agreements - - 1 1 All other 89 20
Foreign currency options 3 3 2 2 Total deferred tax assets 415 424
Foreign exchange forward
and swap coniracts (44) (a4) (26) (26}  Deferred tax liabilities related to
Natural gas swap agreements 1 1 (2) (2} Intangible assets 525 504
Depreciation and amortization 363 383
NOTE 7: INCOME TAXES Cumulative translation adjustment 31 32
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, and minority All other _ 36 62
. . . . Total deferred tax liabilities 975 981
interest earned within or outside the United States are shown below: Net deferred tax habiliy 5550 3557

in millions 2007 2006 2005
United States
Parent and Subsidsaries $486 § 688 $520
Affiliates 1" - 2)
Fereign
Subsidiaries 372 344 340
Affiliates 1 10 10
Earnings from continuing operations

before income taxes and minority interest $880 $1,042 $868

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations is
composed of:

During 2007, Canada and Germany enacted lower statutory tax rates
for 2008 and beyond. The impact of these lower tax rates were not
material to deferred income tax assets or liabilities. At December 31,
2007, we had foreign net operating losses of $384 million and state net
operating losses of $1,943 million, all of which substantially carry a full
valuation allowance. Of these, $267 million have no expiration and
the remaining will expire in future years as follows: $127 million in
2008, $23 million in 2009, $26 million in 2010, $48 million in 2011,
$55 million in 2012 and the remaining balance in other years.

Deferred taxes, which are classified into a net current and non-current

In millions 2007 2006 2005 balance by tax jurisdiction, are presented in the balance sheet as follows:
Income taxes on U.5. earnings
Federal In mittions 2007 2006
Current $137 $208 $172  Prepaid expenses and other current assets $136 $149
Deferred 3 (18 (47)  Other assets 83 52
State and other 8 8 9 Accrued liabilities 3 4
Total taxes on U.5. earnings 148 198 134 Deferred income taxes 766 754
Taxes on foreign earnings Net deferred tax liability $550 $557
Current 134 a9 127
Deferred _ _ 6) 23) (19) The effective tax rate on pre-tax income differs from the U.S. statutory
Total taxes on foreign earnings 58 76 108 .
Total income taxes $206 $274 $242 tax rate due to the following:

The provision for income tax expense (benefit) attributable to items
other than continuing operations is shown below:

in millions 2007 2006 2005
Discontinued lines of business $(2} $14 $(16)

in percent 2007 2006 2005
Statutory tax rate 35.0 35.0 350
U.5. business credits (2.5) 2.7 (2.3)
Foreign, including credits (9.5) (5.4) 2.1
Change in tax contingencies - 03 (3.0
Other, net 0.4 {0.9) 0.3
Effective tax rate 234 26.3 219
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During 2007, we have recognized $5 mitlion of foreign investment credits
as a reduction of income tax expense. Deferred income taxes have been
pravided for the unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries and affili-
ates which have not been reinvested abroad indefinitely. Approximately
$392 million, $216 million and $61 million at December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively, of net foreign subsidiary and affiliate foreign
earnings have been deemed permanently reinvested abroad. Due to the
timing and circumstances of repatriation of such earnings, if any, it is not
practicable to determine the unrecognized deferred tax liability relating
to such amounts. No accrual of United States income tax has been made
for years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005 related to these permanently
reinvested earnings as there was no plan in place to repatriate any of
these foreign earnings to the United States as of the end of the year.

Rohm and Haas adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, on January 1, 2007, As
a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recorded a non-cash
cumulative transition charge of approximately $9 million, recorded as
a reduction to beginning retained eamings (see Consolidated Statement
of Shareholders’ Equity). A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of the unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

in mitlions 2007
Balance at January 1, 2007 $75
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 17
Additions for positions of priar years 18
Reductions for tax positions of prior years {11)
Settlements {5)
Translation impacts 3
Balance at December 31, 2007 $97

In addition, we have interest and penalties provisions associated with
the above tax positions which are classified as liabilities in the consoli-
dated balance sheet. There was approximately $19 million of accrued
interest and penalties as of January 1, 2007 and there is $20 million
of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2007, Changes in these
balances are recorded in income tax expense,

As of December 31, 2007, we have unrecognized income tax benefits
totaling $97 million and related accrued interest and penalties of

$20 million that, if recognized, $97 million would be recorded as a
benefit to income taxes on the statement of operations and, therefore,
would impact the reported effective tax rate. During 2007, we concluded
the IRS audit related to our 2002, 2003 and 2004 tax years and a tax
audit in Germany related to our 1999 through 2003 tax years. We are
currently under audit by the IRS for years 2005 and 2006. We are afso
in appeal proceedings with the applicable fiscal authority in the United
States and Canada. Although it is not possible to predict the timing or
the conclusion of these pending audits and appeal proceedings with
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accuracy, we do not anticipate that the current IRS audit will be com-
plete by the end of 2008. Given the varigus stages of completion of
audits, we can not currently anticipate significant changes in the amount
of unrecognized income tax benefits over the next year.

As of December 31, 2007, the following tax years remained subject
to examination by the major tax jurisdiction indicated:

Major Jurisdictions Open Years
Canada 1999 through 2007, 2003 through 2007
China 2000 through 2007
France 2004 through 2007
Germany 2004 through 2007
Italy 2003 through 2007
Japan 2000 through 2007
Korea 2002 through 2007
Switzerland 2005 through 2007
Taiwan 2002 through 2007

United Kingdom
United States

2003 through 2007
2004 through 2007

We are also subject to income taxes in many hundreds of state and
local taxing jurisdictions in the U.S. and around the world, many of
which are still open to tax examninations. Management does not believe
these represent a significant financial exposure for the Company.

NOTE 8: SEGMENT INFORMATION

On January 1, 2007, we reorganized our segments to create a more
market-focused business structure. In addition to reorganizing our
business structure, we adopted a simplified methodology for allocating
shared service costs across all business units in order to provide improved
management reporting through ease of administration and enhanced
transparency of costs, as well as a simpler transfer pricing methodology
which is intended to reduce volatility in earnings on internal sales and
more accurately represent the value that is created in our integrated
acrylic chain businesses. The Display Technologies segment was created
in the fourth quarter of 2007 as a result of the significant allocation of
resources to our flat panel business. Previously, the results of our flat
panel business were included in Semiconductor Technologies. The
Electronic Technologies segment is an aggregation of our Circust Board
Technologies, Packaging and Finishing Technologies and Semiconductor
Technologies businesses. The following segment profiles reflect the
new structure.

We operate seven reportable segments: Electronic Technologies, Display
Technologies, Primary Materials, Paint and Coatings Materials, Packaging
and Building Materials, Performance Materials Group, and Salt. Paint
and Coatings Materials, Packaging and Buiilding Materials and Primary
Materials are managed under one executive as the Specialty Materials
Group. The reportable operating segments and the types of products
from which their revenues are derived are discussed below.



Electronic Technologies

The group of businesses provides cutting-edge technology for use in
telecommunications, consumer electronics and household appliances. It
is comprised of three aggregated businesses: Circuit Board Technologies,
Packaging and Finishing Technologies, and Semiconductar Technologies,
The Circuft Board Technologies business develops and delivers the tech-
nology, materials and fabrication services for increasingly powerful,
high-density circuit boards in computers, cell phones, automaobiles and
many other electronic devices. Qur Packaging and Finishing Technologies
business develops and delivers innovative materials and processes that
boost the performance of a diverse range of electronic, optoetectronic
and industrial packaging and finishing applications. The Semiconductor
Technologies business develops and supplies integrated products and
technologies on a global basis enabling our customers to drive leading-
edge semiconductor design to boost performance of semiconductor
devices powered by smaller and faster chips. This business also devel-
ops and delivers materials used for chemical mechanical planarization,
the process used to create the flawless surfaces required to allow
manufacturers to make faster and more powerful integrated circuits
and electronic substrates.

Display Technologies

This business develops, manufactures and markets materials used in
the production of elecironic displays. This business includes our joint
venture with SKC Co. Ltd. of South Korea, SKC Haas Display Films, which
develops, manufactures, and markets advanced specialty films and
materials used in LCD and plasma displays. These include light diffuser
films, micro lens films, optical protection fitms, release protection films,
reflectors, technology for touch panels, Plasma Display Panel filters, and
process chemicals used to manufacture LCD color filters. This business
also includes the leading-edge light management film technology
acquired from Eastman Kodak in 2007, as well as process chemicals
used in LCD production originally developed by Rohm and Haas.

Paint and Coatings Materials

This business produces acrylic emulsions and additives that are used
primarily to make decorative and industrial coatings. tts products are
critical components used in the manufacture of architectural paints
used by do-it-yourself consumers and professional contractors. Paint
and Coatings Materials products are also used in the production of
industrial coatings {for use on wood and metal, and in traffic paint);
in construction applications (for use in roofing materials, insulation,
and cement modification); and floor care products.

Packaging and Building Materials

This business offers a broad range of polymers; additives; and formulated
value-added products (which utilize a broad range of chemistries and
technolegies, induding our world-class acrylic technology}. Its products
are used in a wide range of markets, including: packaging and paper,

building and construction, durables and transportation, and other
industrial markets. Product lines include: additives for the manufacture
of plastic and vinyt products, packaging, pressure sensitive, construction,
and transportation adhesives, as well as polymers and additives used in
textile, graphic arts, nonwoven, paper and leather applications.

Primary Materials

This business produces methyl methacrylate, acrylic acid and associated
esters as well as specialty monomer products which are building blocks
used in our downstream polymer businesses and which are also sold
externally. Internal consumption of Primary Materials products is princi-
pally in the Paint and Coatings Materials and Packaging and Building
Materials businesses. Primary Materials also provides polyacrylic acid (PAA)
dispersants, opacifiers and rheology modifiers/thickeners to the global
household and industrial markets.

Performance Materials Group

This business group includes our other businesses that facilitate the use
of technologies to meet growing societal needs in the areas of water,
food, personal care and energy. It is comprised of the operating results
of Process Chemicals and Biocides, Powder Coatings, and other smaller
business units. Its products include: ion exchange resins, sodium boro-
hydride, biocides, polymers and additives used in personal care applications
and other niche technologies.

Salt

The Salt business houses the Morton Salt name including the well known
image of the Morton Salt Umbrella Girl and the familiar slogan, “when
it rains it pours.” This business also encompasses the leading table salt
brand in Canada, Windsor Salt. Salt’s preduct offerings extend well
beyond the consumer market to include salts used for food processing,
agriculture, water conditioning, highway ice control and industrial
processing applications.

The table below presents net sales by business segment. Segment
eliminations are presented for intercompany sales between the reportable
segments within the Specialty Materials Group.

In millions 2007 2006 2005
Electronic Technologies $1666 $1551 §1319
Display Technologies 45 13 13
Electronic Materials Group $1.711 31564 $1,332
Paint and Coatings Materials 2,120 2,050 1,888
Packaging and Building Matertals 1,826 1,776 1,766
Primary Materials 2,078 1,979 1,904
Elimination of intersegment sales (1,103) (1,102}  (1,001)
Specialty Materials Group $4921 34703 $4,557
Performance Materials Group 1,205 1,134 1,071
Salt 1,060 829 925
Total $8897 38230 §7885
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The tables below present summarized financial information about
our reportable segments:

Earnings
{loss) from Share of
continuing affiliate Segment Capital
in miflions operations'  earnings, net Depreciation  Amonrtization assets additions
2007
Electronic Technologies $299 510 $ 59 $17 $ 1.688 § 82
Display Technologies (17) - 2 1 376 18
Electronic Materials Group $ 282 $10 $ 61 §18 $ 2,064 5100
Paint and Coatings Materials 246 - 58 1 930 95
Packaging and Building Materials 123 1 59 10 1,667 34
Primary Materials 82 - 82 - 1,030 74
Specialty Materials Group $ 451 $1 $199 311 $ 3627 $203
Performance Materials Group 100 1 50 19 ,463 34
Salt 87 - 81 8 1,681 58
Corporate (260} - 21 1 1,363 59
Total $ 660 $22 $412 $57 $10,208 $454
2006
Electronic Technologies $ 242 9 $ 56 $17 $ 1,616 $ 82
Display Technologies 1 - - - 1" -
Electronic Materials Group $ 243 39 $ 56 $17 $ 1,627 $ 82
Paint and Coatings Materials 258 - 55 1 248 70
Packaging and Building Materials 136 1 57 9 1,667 28
Pritnary Materials 158 - 87 1 976 69
Spedialty Materials Group $552 i1 $199 11 $ 3,491 $167
Performance Materials Group 77 - 50 20 1,395 4
Salt 40 - 77 7 1,607 48
Corporate (157) - 21 1 1,417 66
Total $ 755 $10 $403 $56 $ 9,537 $404
2005
Etactronic Technologies $ 146 $8 $ 57 $17 $ 1,557 $ 62
Display Technologies 3 - - 9 -
Electronic Materials Group $ 149 $8 $ 57 $17 $ 1,566 $ 62
Paint and Coatings Materials 250 - 56 1 808 52
Packaging and Building Materials 119 1 59 10 1,628 25
Primary Materials 163 - 92 i 915 76
Specialty Materials Group $ 532 31 $207 $12 $ 3,351 $153
Performance Materials Group 54 - 51 17 1,303 30
Salt 57 - 72 7 1,641 40
Corporate? (176) 28 2 1,510 45
Total $616 $9 $415 $55 $ 9,371 $330

1 Earnings from continuing operations were taxed using our overall consolidated effective tax rate.

2 Corporate includes items such as corporate governance costs, interest income and expense, environmental remediation expense, insurance recoveries, exploratary research and devefopment expertse,

balance sheet currency translation gains and fosses, any unalfocated portion of shared services and certain discrete perfod tax itams.
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The table below presents sales by geographic area. Sales are attributed
to the geographic location based on customer location and not on the
geographic tocation from which goods were shipped. Long-lived assets
are attributed to geographic areas based on asset location. We define
long-lived assets as Land, Buildings and Equipment.

Asia-
European Pacific
in miflions - u.s. Region Region Other Total
2007
Net sales $3,893 %2241 $1,973 $700  $8,897
Long-lived assets 1,644 427 547 253 2,871
2006
Net sales $3,845  $2,030 $1,659 696  $8,230
Long-fived assets 1,639 415 384 231 2,669
2005
Net sales! $3.763 31,988 1,455 $679  $7.885
Leng-lived assets 1,680 417 301 244 2,642

1 Certain prior year reclassifications have been made to conform to current year presentations.

NOTE 9: RETIREMENT BENEFITS

We sponsor and contribute to qualified and non-qualified pension and
postretirement benefit plans that provide defined benefits to U.S. and
non-U.S. employees. Pension benefits earned are generally based on
years of service and compensation during active employment.

Qur non-qualified pension plans consist of noncontributory, unfunded
pension plans that provide supplemental defined benefits primarily to
U.S. employees whose benefits under the qualified pension plan are
limited by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and
the Internal Revenue Code.

In addition to pension benefits, we provide postretirement benefits
including health care and life insurance benefits under numerous plans
for substantially all of our domestic retired employees, for which we
are self-insured. Most retirees are required to contribute toward the
cost of such coverage. We also provide health care and life insurance
benefits to some non-U.S. retirees primarily in France and Canada.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158. This statement
amends SFAS Nos. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R). SFAS No. 158 requires
empfoyers to recognize the overfunded or underfunded projected ben-
efit obligation {PBO) of a defined benefit plan as an asset or liability in
the statement of financial position. The PBO represents the actuarial
present value of benefits attributable to employee service rendered to
date, including the effects of estimated future salary increases. Prior to
the issuance of SFAS No. 158, the consolidated balance sheet as of a
fiscal year-end was required to, at a minirmurmn, reflect an amount equal
ta the unfunded accumulated benefit obligation (ABO), which differs
from the projected benefit obligation in that it includes no assumption
on future compensation levels. SFAS No. 158 also requires employers to
recognize annual changes in gains or losses, prior service costs, or other
credits that have not been recognized as a component of net periedic
pensicn cost, net of tax, through comprehensive income. As a result
of the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158, we
recorded a $245 million increase to Accumutated other comprehensive
loss as of December 31, 2006 in Stockholders’ Equity.

SFAS No. 158 also requires an employer to measure defined benefit
plan assets and obligations as of the date of its year-end statement
of financial position, with limited exceptions. The measurement date
provision of SFAS No. 158 is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2008. As all of our pension and postretirement plans
have a measurement date of December 31, we are not required to
adopt the measurement date provision of SFAS No. 158.

Qualified Pension Plans
A summary of the net periodic expense for these plans is as follows:

in millions 2007 2006 2005
u.s. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.5. us. Non-U.S.
Components of net periodic pension expense
Service cost $ 59 $22 $ 57 § 20 $ 56 $19
Interest cost 95 39 a5 34 92 32
Expected return on plan assets {142) {45) (122) (39} {(113) {35
Amortization of net gain existing at adoption of SFAS No. B7 - - - - ()
Unrecognized prior service ¢ost 2 - 2 - 2 1
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 11 9 28 10 25 6
Pension judgment 65 - - - - . -
Net settlement and curtailment (gain} loss - [h)] - - - 1
Net periodic pension expense $ 9 $24 $ 60 $25 3 62 $23
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Included in 2007 net periodic pension expense is a pre-tax non-cash
charge of $65 million (342 million after-tax) relating to a decision
rendered by the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals on August 14, 2007,
affirming an indiana Federal District Court’s decision that participants in
the Rohm and Haas Pension Plan who elected a lump sum benefit during

a class period have the right to a cost-of-living adjustment (*COLA")
as part of their retirement benefit. See Note 26 for further discussion.

The fallowing table sets forth the weighted average assumptions used
in the calculation of net periodic pension expense;

For the period fanuary 1, — Decernber 31, 2007 2006 2005
U.5. Non-t.S. us. Non-LL.S. U.s. Non-U.S.

Weighted-average assumptions used to

determine net periodic pension expense

Discount rate 5.90% 5.05% 5.70% 4.77% 5.80% 5.49%

Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 6.72% 8.50% 6.97% 8.50% 7.37%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 3.91% 4.00% 3.88% 4.00% 4.14%

The discount rates were determined by projecting the plans’ expected
future benefit payments as defined for the projected benefit obligation,
discounting those expected payments using a zero-coupon spot yield
curve derived from a universe of high-quality bonds as of the measure-
ment date, and solving for the single equivalent discount rate that
resulted in the same projected benefit obligation. A 1% increase in the
discount rate would have decreased the net periodic benefit expense
for 2007 by $31 million. A 1% decrease in the discount rate would have
increased the 2007 net periodic benefit expense by $42 million.

To the extent the expected return on plan assets varies from the actual
return, an actuarial gain or loss results. Each 1% increase or decrease
in the expecied rate of return assumption would have decreased or
increased the global net periodic pension benefit expense for 2007 by
$24 million.

The following table sets forth the weighted average assumptions used

in the calculation of the PBO:

For years ended December 31, 2007 2006
U.5.  Non-U.S. U5 Non-US.

Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine the projected
benefit obligation

Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

6.21%
4.00%

5.66%
4.24%

5.90%
4.00%

5.09%
3.91%
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The following table reflects the change in our projected benefit
obligation and the change in the fair value of plan assets based on
the measurement date, as well as the amounts recognized in our
balance sheets:

in miflions 2007 2006
U.S.  Non-us, Us.  Nondds,

Change in pension benefit obligation
Pensicn benefit obligation

at beginning of year $1,683 $745 31,749 $665
Service cost, excluding expenses 59 22 57 20
Interest cost 95 39 95 34
Participant contributions - 5 - 4
Plan amendments (53) {1 - (5)
Actuarial gain (100} (15) {66) (29)
Benefits paid (105) (34) (152) (26}
Acquisitions and plan transfers - 34 - 26
Curtailments - ) - (1}
Settlernents - {4) - -
Pension judgment 65 - - -
Foreign currency

translation adjustment - 60 - 57
Penision benefit obligation

at end of year $1,644 $849 31,683 $745
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets

at beginning of year $1,787 $667  $1,586 $511
Actual return on plan assets 125 15 216 57
Employer contribution - 30 137 57
Participant contributions - 5 - 4
Acquisitions and plan transfers - 12 — 20
Settlements - (4) - -
Benefits paid {105) (34) {152) (26)

Foreign currency
translation adjustment - 60 - 44
Fair value of plan assets
at end of year
Funded status at end of year

$1.807
$ 163

$751
$ (98)

$667
5 (78)

$1,787
$ 104




In miffions 2007 2006
U.S.  Non-US. U.s.  Non-US.

Amounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets

Other assets $163 $ 20 $102 $ 27
Accrued liabilities - (1) - (1)
Employee benefits - (117 - (104)
Net amounts recognized $163 $ {98) $104 3 (78)

The changes in plan assets and benefit obligation that have been
recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive toss during 2007
consist of the following:

in millions 2007
U.5.  NonU.S.

Other changes in plan assets and
benefit obligation recognized in
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial {gain) loss $ (83) $21
Recognized actuarial loss (11} (8
Prior service credit (53) [4}]
Recognized prior service cost {credit) (2} -
Total recognized in Accumulated other

comprehensive loss, before tax ${149} $12

Benefits paid to participants of our U.S. retirement plan increased
during 2006 due to payments made to employees of our divested
North American Automotive Coatings business, along with an overall
acceleration of participant retirements.

The net unrecognized actuanial loss represents the actual changes in
the estimated obligation and plan assets that have not been recognized
in our income statement. As of December 31, 2007, this amounted

to $270 million for our global qualified pension plans, down from a
net unrecognized loss of $407 million as of December 31, 2006.
Actuarial gains achieved on our U.S. retirement plan during 2007 are
primarily attributable to higher discount rates on our global plans as
of December 31, 2007, as well as the favorable impact of plan amend-
ments approved by management during the year. Principal changes to
the U.5. retirement plan include the adoption of a new discount rate for
lumg sum benefits paid on or after December 31, 2008 in accordance
with the Pension Protection Act of 2006, and a revision of the plan's
benefit formula which will eliminate the cost of living adjustment on
benefits earned on or after December 31, 2008. In addition, U.S. employ-
ees who join the company after December 31, 2008 will earn benefits
based upon a cash balance formula instead of the final average pay

formula currently utilized in the existing U.S. retirement plan, however,
this prospective benefit formula change did not impact our projected
benefit obligation for the year-ended December 31, 2007. Actuarial
gains were partially offset by lower than expected actual returns on
plan assets for our global plans, which contributed $47 million to our
unrecognized net loss during 2007. Actuarial gains and losses are not
recognized immediately, but instead are accumutated as a part of the
unrecognized net loss balance and amortized into net periodic pension
expense over the average remaining service period of participating
employees as certain thresholds are met.

Because the total unrecognized net loss exceeds the greater of 10% of
the projected benefit obligation or 10% of the plan assets, the excess

will be amortized over the average expected future working lifetime of
active plan participants. As of December 31, 2007, the average expected
future working lifetime of active plan participants varies by plan and is
withirt a range of 6 to 23 years. Actual results for 2008 will depend on
the 2008 actuarial valuations of the plans.

Items included in accumulated other comprehensive loss represent
amounts that have not been recognized in net periodic pension expense.
The components recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss,
prior to adjustment for taxes, as of December 31, 2007 include;

In miffions 2007
U.5. Non-US.

Amounts recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial ioss $162 $154
Prior service credit (a4) {2}
$118 $152

Year-end 2007 amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss
that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic
pension expense during fiscal year 2008 are as follows:

in mitlions U.S. Non-US.

Pension

Net actuarial loss $1 $7

Prior service credit (4) -
$(3) $7
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The net assets of our defined benefit pension plans, which consist
primarily of equity and debt securities, were measured at market value.
The plans are prehibited from holding shares of Rohm and Haas stock,

Percentage of Plan Assets

except where it is a component of an index fund. The target and
actual plan asset allocation at December 31, 2007 and 2006, by asset
category for U.S. and the significant non-U.5. plans, are as follows:

2007 Targeted% 2007 Actual®% 2006 Targeted% 2006 Actual%
U.5. Non-U.S. u.s. Non-U.5. us. Non-U.5. (VAH Non-U.S.

Asset category
Equity securities &1 49 61 49 61 49 62 49
Debt securities 21 36 21 35 21 36 20 36
Insurance contracis - 8 - 9 8 - 8
Real estate 7 5 7 5 7 5 7 6
Hedge funds 5 - S - 5 - 4 -
Other 6 2 6 2 5} 2 7 1
Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

The fiduciaries of our plans determine how investments should be
allocated among asset categories after taking into account plan demo-
graphics, asset returns and acceptable levels of risk. Asset allocation
targets are established based on the long-term return and volatility
characteristics of the asset categories. The targeted asset category allo-
cations recognize the benefit of diversification and the profiles of the
plans’ liabilities. The plans’ assets are currently invested in a variety of
funds representing most standard equity and debt security classes, as
well as direct investments in equity securities. During 2006, we updated
our investment policy for two of our significant non-U.S. plans to
decrease the percentage of plan assets invested in equity securities and
increase the percentage of plan assets invested in debt securities. We
perform periodic reviews of our U.S. plan investment policy to ensure
that our plan investments are balanced with the goal of containing
potential declines in asset values within a specified percentage and
preventing negative returns over a five year period. The plans’ invest-
ment policy mandates diversification, consistent with that goal. We
are permitted to make changes to our U.S. plan investment policy

at any time.

Projected benefit payments, which reflect expected future service,
are as follows:

I miflions U5 Non-US.
2008 $106 331
2009 103 35
2010 114 38
2001 114 42
2012 126 44
20132017 723 260

In 2007, we contributed approxtmately $30 million to our qualified
pension plans, down from the $194 million contributed in the prior year
period, primarily because we did not contribute to our U.S. pension trust.
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During 2006, we increased the funding of our U.S. pensian plan on a
tax-deductible basis by veluntarily contributing $137 million to our trust.
Total funding for our non-U.S. qualified pension plans of $30 million
includes $11 million paid to fund shortfalls in our UK pension trust.

We are not required to and therefore do not expect to make contribu-
tions to our U.S. pension trust during 2008. We do expedt to contribute
approximately $28 million to fund our non-U.5. qualified pension
plans, however funding requirements significantly depend on changes
in assumptions used to calculate plan funding levels, the actual return
on plan assets, changes in the employee groups covered by the plans,
and any legislative or regulatory changes affecting plan funding require-
ments. The company may increase, accelerate, decrease or delay
contributions to the plans to the extent permitted by law.

The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) is the actuarial present
value of benefits attributed to employee service rendered to a particu-
lar date, based on current salaries. The ABQ for our U.S. plans was
$1,357 miltion and $1,375 million, at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The ABO for our non-U.S. plans was $745 million and
$669 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The following table provides information on pension plans where
the ABO exceeds the value of plan assets:

In mifiions 2007 2006
s  Non-USs, Us. Nop-Us.

Plans for which accumulated”

benefit obligation exceeds assets

Projected benefit obligation $ - $529 $ - $(480)
Accumulated benefit obligation - 478 - (447)
Fair value of plan assets - 413 - 379




Non-Qualified Pension Plans

The following disclosures include the components of net periodic pension
cost and other amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehen-
sive loss for both the .5, and Canadian non-qualified pension plans:

It milfions 2007 2006 2005
Components of net periodic pension expense

Service cost $3 $ 2 §$2
Inierest cost 9 9 9
Unrecognized prior service cost - 1 1
QOther amortization, net 3 4 4
Net periodic pension expense $15 $i6 $16

The following table sets forth the weighted average assumptions used
in the calculation of net periodic pension expense:

For the period fanuary 1, - December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine net expense
Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

5.90%
4.00%

5.70%
4.00%

5.80%
4.00%

The following tabte sets forth the weighted average assumptions used
in the calculation of the PBO:

For years ended December 31, 2007 2006
Weighted-average assumptions used
to determine benefit obligation
Discount rate

Rate of compensation increase

6.20%
4.00%

5.90%
4,00%

The following table reflects the change in our projected benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets based on the measurement date:

In millions 2007 2006
Change in pension benefit obligation

Pension benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 155 $1i56
Service cost, excluding expenses 3 P

Interest cost 9 9
Amendments (1) -
Actuarial gain 3) m
Benefits paid (12) (1)
Pension benefit obligation at end of year $ 151 $155
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ - i -
Employer contribution 12 1

Benefits paid (12) (11)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ - s -
Funded status at end of year $(151) ${155)
Amounts recognized in the

consolidated balance sheets

Accrued liabilities $ (1) $ (10)

Employee benefits (140) {145)
Net amounts recognized $(151) $(155)

The changes in plan assets and benefit obligation that have been
recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss during 2007
for our non-qualified plans consist of the following:

in millions 2007
Other changes in plan assets and benefit

obligation recognized in accumulated

other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial gain $3)
Recognized actuariat loss @)
Prior service credit )
Total recognized in Accumulated other

comprehensive loss, before tax $(8)

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss as

of December 31, 2007 include net unrecognized actuarial losses of
$53 million and unrecognized prior service credit of $1 million. The
estimated December 31, 2007 net actuarial loss that will be amortized
from Accuemulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic pension
expense over the next fiscal year is $3 million.

We have a non-qualified trust, referred to as a "rabbi” trust, 1o fund
benefit payments under our non-qualified U.S. pension plan. Rabbi
trust assets are subject to creditor claims under certain conditions and
are not the property of employees. Therefore, they are accounted for
as corporate assets and are classified as other non-current assets.
Assets held in trust totaled $76 million and $71 million at December
31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Non-gualified plan contributions, which reflect expected future service,
are as follows:

In miffions Total
2008 12
2009 11
2010 11
2011 11
2012 12
2013 - 2017 60

The ABO of the non-qualified plans is $139 million and $141 million
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In 1997, we instituted a non-qualified savings ptan for eligible employees
in the U.S. The purpose of the plan is to provide additional retirement
savings benefits beyond the otherwise determined savings benefits
provided by the Rohm and Haas Company Employee Stock Ownership
and Savings Plan (“the Savings Plan”). See Note 22 for more informa-
tion on the Savings Plan. Each participant's non-qualified savings plan
contributions are notionally invested in the same investment funds as
the participant has elected for investment in his or her Savings Plan
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account. For most participants, we contribute a notional amount equal
to 60% of the first 6% of the amount contributed by the participant.
Our matching contributions are allocated to deferred stock units. At the
time of distribution, each deferred stock unit is distributed as one share
of Rohm and Haas Company common stock. We recorded expense of
$3 million, $5 million, and $3 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively, for the non-qualified savings plan.

Other Postretirement Benefits
The following disclosures include amounts for both the U.S. and
significant non-U.S. postretirement plans:

In milkions 2007 2006 2005

in miflions 2007 2006
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 25 $ 12

Actual return on plan assets 3 1

Employer contribution 42 51

Participant contributions 15 17
Benefits paid (net of Medicare Part D subsidy) 57 (56)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 28 3 25
Funded status at end of year $(413) $(433)
Amounts recognized in the

consolidated balance sheets

Accrued liabilities an (39
Employee benefits (402) (394)
Net amounts recognized $(a13)  $(433)

Components of net periodic
postretirement cost

Service cost $5 355 $5
Interest cost 26 25 26
Expected return on plan assets (2} n -
Net amortization - - (1)
Net periodic postretirement cost $29 $29 $30

The following table sets forth the discount rate used in the calculation
of net periodic postretirement cost for the U.S. plans:

2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average discount rate

for annual expense 590% 560% 560%

Different discount rates are used for non-U.S. plans, which
account for appraximately 19% of the total benefit obligation
as of December 31, 2007,

The following table reflects the change in the postretirement benefit
obligation and the plans’ funded status based on the measurement date:

In milfions 2007 2006
Change in postretirement benefit obligation

Benefit abligation at beginning of year $458 3486
Service cost 5 5
Interest cost 26 25
Contributicns 15 17
Actuarial gain (18) (20
Medicare Part D payment received 3 -
Benefits paid (60) (56)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 12 1

Benefit obligation at end of year $441 5458
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Plan assets for the U.S. postretirement benefit plan primarily consist
of debt and equity securities.

The changes in plan assets and benefit obligation that have been
recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive toss during 2007
for our postretirement benefit plans consist of the following:

in miflians 2007
Other changes in plan assets and benefit

obligation recognized in accumulated

other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial gain $(18)
Recognized actuarial loss (2)
Recognized prior service credit 2
Total recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive loss, before tax $(18)

The components recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss,
prior to adjustment for taxes, as of December 31, 2007 include:

In millions 2007
Amounts recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial loss $20
Prior service credit (7)
$13




The December 31, 2007 estimated net actuarial loss and prior service
credit that will be amortized from Accumulated other comprehensive
loss into net periodic postretirement cost over the next fiscat year are
£2 million and $1 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the weighted average discount rate used

in the calculation of the U.S. postretirement benefit obligation;

2007 2006 2005
Weighted-average discount rate
for year-end APBO 6.10% 5.90% 5.60%

The U.S. plan generally limits our per-capita cost of benefits to double
the 1992 cost. Different cost limits apply to some groups of participants,
and there are some retirees to whom the limits do not apply. The limits
greatly reduce the impact of health care cost trend rates on the benefit
obligation and expense.

On December 8, 2003, the President of the United States signed the
Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
(the Act). The Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare
(Medicare Part D}, along with a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree
health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuari-
ally equivalent to Medicare Part D. We sponsor retiree health care plans
that our plan actuaries have determined to be actuarially equivalent

to Medicare Part D.

Projected benefit payments for our U.S. and non-U.S. plans, which
reflect expected future service are as follows:

Benefit
payments  Estimated
before  amount of
Medicare  Medicare Met
Part D Part D benefit
In miflions subsidy subsidy payments
2008 $ 43 4 $ 39
2009 43 4 39
2010 43 4 39
201 42 4 38
2012 41 4 37
2013-2017 189 23 166

Medicare Part D subsidy payments of $3 million received in 2007
and $4 million received in 2008 relate to plan years 2006 and 2007,
respectively.

NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

in millions 2007 2006
Postretirement health care and life insurance benefits $402 $394
Unfunded supplemental pension plan 140 145
Long-term disability benefit costs 43 42
Foreign pension liabilities 117 104
Other 58 50

Total $760 $735

See Note 9 for more information on pension and postretirement health
care benefits.

NOTE 11: RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash represents investments in cash equivalents through a
trust designed to meet financial assurance requirements of U.S,, state
and local environmental agencies with respect to plant operations. These
requirements are based on an annual assessment of our net worth.

NOTE 12: RECEIVABLES, NET

in millions 2007 2006
Customers $1,610  $1,356
Value added tax 261 126
Affiliates 24 18
Employees 7 12
Other 111 a8
Receivables, gross 2,013 1,610
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 36 40

Total $1,977 $1,570

Value added tax recorded in receivables, net is reclaimable from the
governmental jurisdictions. Employee receivables are primarily com-
prised of relocation and education reimbursements for our employees.

NOTE 13: INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following:

In mitiions 2007 2006
Finished products $ 479 $517
Work in process 345 301
Raw materials 151 121
Supplies 49 45

Total $1.024 $984
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined
by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) inventory method for domestic inventories,
which approximates 41% and 47% of the total inventory balance at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The remainder is determined
by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The excess of replacement cost
over the value of inventories based upon the LIFG method was $170 mil-
lion and $127 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Liquidation of LIFO layers in 2007 resulted in a net decrease to cost of
goods sold of $9 million and immaterial amounts in 2006 and 2005.

NOTE 14: PREPAID EXPENSES AND
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

NOTE 15: LAND, BUILDINGS
AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Estimated

In mitlions 2007 2006 Life
Land $ 146 $ 142

Buildings and improvements 1,855 1,729 10-50

Machinery and equipment 6,155 5721 3-20

Capitalized interest 352 340 11
Canstruction in pragress 271 218
Land, buildings, and equipment, gross 8,779 8,150
Less accumulated depreciation 5,908 5.481
Total $2,871  $2,669

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, interest costs of $12 million,

in miflions 2007 2006 - - o .
Defered tax assels $136 3745 $1 I’ mf”IOﬂ and ?9 mllhon’ were ca;?|t§||zed. Amortization of s.u.ch
Prepaid expenses 78 g7 Capitalized costs included in depreciation expense was $14 million
Fair market value of interest rate lock (see Note 6) - 11 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Other current assets 44 27
Total $258 3254 Depreciation expense was $412 million, $403 million and $415 million
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
NOTE 16: GOODWILL AND OTHER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, by business segment, are as follows:
Electronic Paint and Packaging Specialty Performance
Electronic Display Materials Coatings  and Building Primary Materials Materials
In millions Technologies  Technologies Group Materials Materials Materials Group Group Salt Total
Balance as of January 1, 2006! 3362 § - 3362 $62 $£517 $29 $608 $227 $328 $1,525
Goodwill related to acquisitions? 8 - 8 - - - - 6 - 14
Opening balance sheet adjusiments? (2) - {2) 1 - - 1 8 (5) 2
Balance as of December 31, 2006 $368 § - 3368 $63 $517 329 3609 $241 $323 $1.54
Goedwill related to acquisitions? & a5 101 - - - - - - 1M
Currency effects and otherss - (1) (1) 3 10 - 13 10 4 26
Balance as of December 31, 2007 $374 394 3468 366 $527 329 $622 $251 $327 $1,668

' Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

2 Goodwill related to acquisitions is due to the following: 36 million and $8 million, respectively Electronic Technalogies — buyback of additionaf shares of CMPT: $95 million, Display Technologies acquisition
of our controlling interest in SKC Haas Display Film Co. Ltd.; and $6 million, Performance Materials - related to the 2006 acquisition of Floralife®, Inc.

3 Primanily relates to adjustments 1o opening balance sheet liabilities due to the favorable resolution of tax audits resulting in the reduction of opening balante sheet tax reserves and valuation affowances.

4 Certain goodwill amounts are denominated in foreign currencies and are transiated using the appropriate U.S. dollar exchange rate.

5 Goodwilf related to divestitures i due to the following: $4 million-Performance Materiak-related to the 2007 sale of Fioralife®, inc,
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Intangible Assets

SFAS No. 142 established two broad categories of intangible assets:
finite-lived intangible assets, which are subject to amortization; and

indefinite-fived intangible assets, which are not subject to amortization.

The following table provides infarmation regarding our intangible assets:

in millions Finite Lived Indefinite Lived Total
Patents,
Developed ticenses
Technology  Customner Lists Tradename and Other Strategic Tradename
Gross asset value
Balance as of January 1, 2006 $383 $ 865 $138 $ 160 $75 $328 $1,949
Currency’ 6 13 3 (1} - - 21
Acquisitions? 9 3 - 13 - 1 26
Balance as of December 31, 2006 § 398 $ 881 $14 $172 375 $329 $1,996
Currency’ 8 26 3 - 9 7 53
Acquisitions? 14 16 - 1 - - n
Divestitures? 7)) {12} (2) (1} - {1} {18)
Balance as of December 31, 2007 $418 591 $142 $172 $84 $335 $2,062
Accumulated amortization
Balance as of January 1, 2006 $(149) $(144) $(28) 5 (99} $(5) $21) $ (446)
Additions (24) 23) @ (%) - - (56)
Currency’ (3) (3) (1) - - - (7)
Balance as of December 31, 2006 ${(176) ${170) $(33) $(104) $(5) $(21) $ (509}
Additions (25) {19) (7 {6} - - (57
Currency’ (3) (7 (0 - - - (1)
Divestitures? 1 3 3 - - - 7
Balance as of December 31, 2007 $(203) $(193) 5(38) $(110) $(5) $21) $ (570
Net book value §$215 $718 §104 $ 62 $79 $314 $1,492

1 Certain intangible assets are denominated in foreign currencies and are translated using the appropriate U.5. doflar exchange rate.

2 Finite-fived intangible assets increased by $9 million as a result of our acquisitions of the Kodak light management films technology business in June of 2007 and $22 million as a resuit of the acquisition
of our controfling interest in SKC Haas Display Film Co. Ltd. See Note 2 for further discussion of these acquisitions.

* Dvestitures relate to the sale of a Digital Imaging business line in the Paint and Coatings Materials segment and Floralife® assets in the Performance Materials segment.

Certain of our intangible assets are denominated in foreign currencies
and are translated using the appropriate U.S. dollar exchange rate. For ~ $56 million and $55 million for the years ended December 31, 2007,

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was $57 million,

the year ended December 31, 2007, the currency translation adjustment 2006 and 2005, respectively. Amortization expense is estimated to be

recorded to the gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization
was $53 million and $11 million, respectively.

approximately $61 million for the full year 2008 and $6C million for
each of the subsequent four years.
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Annual SFAS No. 142 Impairment Review

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other intangible Assets,” we are required to perform, at a reporting
unit leve!, an annual impairment review of goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets, or more frequently if an event occurs or circum-
stances change that woutd more likely than not reduce the fair value
of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. For purposes of this
review, we primarily uiilize discounted cash flow analyses for estimating
the fair value of the reporting units. We completed our annual recov-
erability review as of May 31, 2007 and 2006, and determined that
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets were fully recoverable
as of these dates.

SFAS No. 144 Impairment Review

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated
useful lives and are reviewed for impairment whenever changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable in
accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

NOTE 17: OTHER ASSETS

in mitlions 2007 2006
Prepaid pension cost {see Note 9) $183 $131
Rabhi trust assets (see Note 9) 76 71
Insurance receivables 28 28
Deferred tax assets (see Note 7) 83 52
Other employee benefit assets 17 16
Fair market value of interest rate swaps (see Note 6} 7 -
Lease deposits 34 -
Other non-current assets 27 26

Total $455 $324

NOTE 18: BORROWINGS
Short-Term Obligations

In millions 2007 2006
Other short-term borrowings $150 $112
Current portion of leng-term debt 8 281

Total $158 $393
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Generally, our short-term barrowings consist of bank leans and
commercial paper with an original maturity of twelve months or less.
As of December 31, 2007, we had uncommitted credit arrangements
with financial institutions to provide local credit facilities to our foreign
subsidiaries for working capital needs. At December 31, 2007 and
2006, $82 million and $80 million, respectively, were outstanding
under such arrangements.

At December 31, 2007, we had $40 million in commercial paper
outstanding.

The weighted-average interest rate of short-term borrowings was 6.3%
and 6.6% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In November 2003 and September 2004, we entered into three-year
receivables securitization agreements under which two of our operat-
ing subsidiaries in Japan sell a defined pool of trade accounts receivable
without recourse to an unrelated third party financier who purchases
and receives ownership interest and the risk of credit loss in those
receivables. These agreements renew on an evergreen basis for the
additional term of one year after the initial term expires. The transfers
qualify for sales treatment under SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.”
The utilized balance under the receivables securitization agreements was
$17 million and $18 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, and is not included in debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
but rather is reflected as a reduction of receivables. Amounts sold related
to these agreements totaled $63 million and $70 million in 2007 and
2006, respectively. The maximum availability under these agreements
is $31 million. We continue to retain collection and administrative
responsibilities in the receivables, When the third party financier sells
the receivables, the associated discount is accounted for as a loss on
the sale of receivables and has been included in other expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. This discount was immaterial
in 2007, 2006 and 2005. Due to the short-term nature of the non-
interest bearing receivables sold, changes to the key assumptions would
not materially impact the recorded loss on the sale of receivables.




Long-Term Debt and Other Financing Arrangements

The following table illustrates the carrying value of long-term debt
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007
and 2006.

in miltions Currency  Maturities 2007 2006
6.0% notes Euro 2007 8 - % 211
TIBOR! ptus 0.45% notes Japanese Yen 2007 - 59
TIBOR! plus 0.45% notes Japanese Yen 2009 - 23
1.57% notes lapanese Yen 2012 24 -
1.54% notes lapanese Yen 2012 62 -
8.74% notes U.S. Dollar 2012 - 19
3.50% notes Euro 2012 353 319
5.60% notes u.s. Dollar 2013 250 -
4.50% notes Euro 2014 257 -
6.00% notes LS. Dollar 2017 850 -
9.25% debentures U.S. Dollar 2020 145 145
9.80% debentures u.S. Dollar 2020 84 91
7.85% notes U.S. Dollar 2029 882 882
3.50% notes Japanese Yen 2032 177 167
Fair market value adjustments 22 20
Other a1 33
3,147 1,969

Less: current portion 8 281
Total $3,139  $1,688

1 Six-rmonth Tokyo Interbank Offered Rate ("TIBOR”)

tn November 2007, we issued 400 miltion of Japanese Yen-denominated
variable rate notes (approximately $24 million at December 31, 2007)
due in November 2012, The interest rate is 1.57% and payments are
due semi-annually.

In November 2007, we issued 7 billion of Japanese Yen-denominated
variable rate notes (approximately $62 million at December 31, 2007)
due in December 2012. The interest rate is 1.54% and payments are
due semi-annually.

In September 2007, we issued $250 milllion of 5.60% notes at 99.985%
of par due in March 2013 and $850 million of 6.00% notes at 99.487%
of par due in September 2017 (the Notes). The Notes represent unse-
cured and unsubordinated obligations of Rohm and Haas Company
which are not subject to any sinking fund requirement and include a
redemption provision which allows us to retire the Notes at any time
prior to maturity at the greater of par plus accrued interest or an amount
designed to ensure that the noteholders are not penalized by the early
redemption. Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in March and

September, commencing in March 2008. In the event of a change of
control repurchase event as defined in the terms of the Notes, we may
be required to offer to purchase the Notes from holders at a purchase
price equal to 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued interest.
The terms of the Notes limit us from entering into certain mortgage
and certain sale and leaseback transactions. Debt discounts of $4 mil-
lion and related issuance costs of $5 million are included in the Other
category in the table above and will be amortized to interest expense
over the life of the Notes,

In March of 2007, we retired our 160 million of 6.0% notes upon
maturity and early retired, at par, $19 million of 8.74% notes. We
also issued 175 million of 4.50% Private Placement Senior Notes due
March 9, 2014 with interest payable semi-annually in March and
September at a rate of 4.50% annually.

In December 2006, we issued 2.7 billion of Japanese Yen-denominated
variable rate notes (approximately $23 million at December 31, 2006)
due in December 2009. The interest rate is set semi-annually in June
and December at the six-month TIBOR plus 0.45%. Interest is paid
semi-annually.

The 3.50% Japanese Yen notes issued in February 2002 are callable
annually after March 2012,

The 9.25% debentures due 2020, previously issued by Morton
International, Inc., are credit-sensitive unsecured obligations (Debentures).
The coupon interest rate on the Debentures is subject to adjustment
upon changes in the debt rating of the Debentures as determined by
Standard and Poor’s Corporation or Moody's Investors Service. Upcn
acquiring Morton International, Inc., we recorded a fair market value
adjustment on the Debentures, which is being amortized ratably over
the remaining life of the Debentures. The remaining amount of this
adjustment amounted to $16 million in 2007 and $17 million in 2006.
These debentures are guaranteed by Rohm and Haas Company.

In 2007, the remaining $6 million of fair market value adjustments result
from changes in the carrying amounts of certain fixed-rate borrowings
that have been designated as being hedged. In 2006, the remaining
$3 million relates to settled interest rate swaps on outstanding debt.
The proceeds from the settlement of interest rate swaps are recognized
as reductions of interest expense over the remaining maturity of the
related hedged debt.
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We have a revolving credit facility of $750 million, which expires
December 2012, that is maintained for general corporate purposes
including support for any future issuance of commercial paper. The
commitment was unused at December 31, 2007 and 2006, No com-
pensating balance is required for this revolving credit agreement. Our
revolving credit and other loan agreements require that earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, excluding certain
items, exceed 3.5 times consolidated interest expense on a rolling four-
quarter basis. There are no restrictions on the payment of dividends.

At December 31, 2007, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling
approximately $37 million issued primarily in support of self-insurance,
environmental and tax-related activities. There were no drawdowns
under these letters of credit.

The aggregate amount of long-term debt maturing in each of the next
five years is zero in 2008, zero in 2009, zero in 2010, zero in 2011, and
$439 million in 2012. As some of the debt is denominated in foreign
currencies, the actual value of these debt maturities will fluctuate with
changes in foreign exchange rates.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we made interest payments, net of
capitalized interest, of $117 million, $109 million, and $147 million,

respectively.

NOTE 19: ACCRUED LIABILITIES

tn millions 2007 2006
Salaries and wages $181 $208
Interest 65 52
Sales incentive programs and other selling accruals 57 69
Taxes, other than income taxes 158 107
Employee benefits 70 93
Derivative instruments 67 4
Reserve for restructuring (see Note 3) 15 37
Deferred revenue on supply contracts 8 10
insurance and legal 6 4
Deferred tax liabilities 3 4
Capital Spending 37 35
Marketing and sales promotion 16 14
Reserve for environmental remediation {(see Note 26) 48 40
Other 158 102

Total $889 $816
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NOTE 20: OTHER LIABILITIES

in millions 2007 2006
Reserves for environmental remediation {see Note 26) $102 $101
Deferred revenue on supply contracts 36 34
Legal contingencies 40 42
Asset retirement abligations 19 15
Taxes 83 -
Other 32 38

Total $312 $230

Our asset retirement obligations are primarily associated with the
following: 1} the capping of certain brine and gas wells used by
our Salt segment for the production of various products; and 2) the
contractual requirement to remove or dismantle certain leasehold
improvements at the end of the lease term.

in mitfions Asset Retirement Obligations

Balance as of January 1, 2005 314

Liabilities settled -

Accretion expense 1
Currency effects -
Revisions in estimated cash flows {t)
Balance as of December 31, 2005 $14
Liabilities settled (1
Accretion expense 1
Currency effects 1
Revisions in estimated cash flows -
Balance as of December 31, 2006 $15
Additions 1
Liabilities settled -
Accretion expense 1
Currency effects 2
Revisions in estimated cash flows -
Balance as of December 31, 2007 £19

The liability for certain asset retirement obligations cannot currently

be measured as the retirement dates are not yet determinable. We wili
recognize the liability when sufficient information exists to estimate a
range of potential dates.



NOTE 21: EARNINGS PER SHARE
The reconciliation from basic to diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations is as follows:

in rmillionss, except per share amounts 2007 2006 2005
Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic
Consolidated
Earnings from continuing operations $ 660 $ 660 $ 755 $ 755 $ 616 $} 616
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operation 1 1 (20 (20} 21 2t
Net earnings $ 661 $ 661 $ 735 $ 735 $ 637 $ 637
Average equivalent shares
Common stock outstanding 207.8 207.8 2189 2188 2219 2219
Employee compensation-related shares, including stock options? 32 - 2.3 - 2.0 -
Total average equivalent shares 211.0 207.8 221.2 218.9 2239 2219
Per-share amounts
Earnings from continuing operations $ 3.12 $ 3.17 $ 3.4 § 345 $ 2.75 $ 278
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operation 0.01 0.01 (0.09} {0.09) 0.10 0.09
Net earnings per share $ 313 $ 318 $ 332 $ 336 $ 2.85 § 287

1 There were approximately zero shares, (.7 million shares and 0.7 million sharas in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, attributable to stock options that were excluded from the calculation of diluted

earnings per share as the exercise price of the stock options was greater than the average market price.

NOTE 22: STOCKHOLDERS’' EQUITY

We have an employee stock ownership and savings plan (“the Savings
Plan”) where eligible employees may contribute up to 50% of qualified
before-tax pay and up to 19% of after-tax pay, subject to the annual
limit set by the IRS. During 2005, 2006 and 2007, we matched the first
6% of the salary contributed at 60 cents on the dollar. In 2007, we
announced an increase in the savings plan match from 60 cents on the
dollar to a range of 75 cents on the dollar to dollar for dollar depending
on the amount contributed. This change will be effective January 1, 2008.
We provide for the Savings Plan matching contributions with cormmon
shares through a leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP). We
have elected to continue to account for the Savings Plan based on AICPA
Statement of Position 76-3, “Accounting Practices for Certain Employee
Stock Ownership Plans” as permitted by AICPA Statement of Position
93-6, "Employers’ Accounting for Empioyee Stock Ownership Plans.”

The ESOP purchased 18.9 million shares {split adjusted) of our common
stock in 1990. The 18.9 million shares will decline over the 30-year life
of the ESOP as shares are allocated to employee savings plan member
accounts. We financed this purchase by borrowing $150 miillion at a
9.8% rate for 30 years, plus funds from other sources, which were loaned
to the ESOP trust with payments guaranteed by us. The remaining bal-
ance of the guarantee as of December 31, 2007 is $104 million. The
ESOP trust funds annual loan payments of $20 million, which include
principal and interest, from interest earnings on cash balances and
common dividends on shares not yet allocated to participants, common

dividends on certain allocated shares and company cash contributions.
Interest expense recorded by the ESOP trust related to annual loan pay-
ments totaled $14 million, $15 million and $15 million in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

Dividends paid on ESOP shares used as a source of funds for the ESOP
financing obligation were $19 million, $18 miliion and $16 million, in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These dividends were recorded net of
the refated U.S. tax benefits, We contributed cash of $1 million, $2 mil-
lion and $4 millien in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The number
of ESOP shares not allocated to plan members at December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005 were 8.0 million, 8.6 million and 9.2 million, respectively.
All shares not allocated to ptan members are considered outstanding
for purposes of computing basic and diluted EPS under AICPA Statement
of Position 76-3.

We recorded compensation expense for the Savings Plan of $6 million
annually in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for ESOP shares allo-
cated to plan members. We expect to record annual compensation
expense of approximately this amount over the next 13 years as the
remaining $140 million of ESOP shares are allocated to plan members.
The allocation of shares from the ESOP is expected to fund a substan-
tial portion of our future abligation to match employees’ savings plan
contributions as the market price of Rohm and Haas stock appreciates.
However, if the stock price does not appreciate, we would need to
make additional contributions.
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Stockholders’ Rights Plan

In 2000, we adopted a stockholders' rights plan under which the
Board of Directors declared a dividend of one preferred stock purchase
right (Right) for each outstanding share of our common stock held of
record as of the close of business on November 3, 2000. The Rights
initially are deemed to be attached to the common shares and detach
and become exercisable only if (with certain exceptions and fimitations)
a person or group has cbtained or attempts to obtain beneficial own-
ership of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock
or is otherwise determined to be an *acquiring person” by the Board
of Directors. Each Right, if and when it becomes exercisable, initially
will entitle holders of the Rights to purchase one one-thousandth (sub-
ject to adjustment} of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock for $150 per one one-thousandth of a Preferred Share, subject
to adjustment. Each holder of a Right (other than the acquiring person}
is entitled to receive a number of shares of our common stock with a
market value equal to two times the exercise price, or $300. The Rights
expire, unless earlier exercised or redeemed, on December 31, 2010.

Share Repurchase Program

In December 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase
of up to $1 billion of our common stock through 2008, with the timing
of the purchases depending on market conditions and other priorities
for cash, During 2007, we used $462 million of available cash to repur-
chase 8.5 million of our outstanding shares, which essentially completed
the $1 billion authorization. Over the life of this authorization, we have
repurchased 20.2 million shares.

On July 16, 2007, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase

of up to another $2 billion of our common stock, the first $1 billion

of which was financed with debt and the remainder to be funded from
available cash through 2010. For the debt financed portion of this author-
ization, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement
(ASR) with Goldman, Sachs & Co. (Goldman Sachs) on September 10,
2007. Under the ASR, we paid $1 billion to Goldman Sachs and
received approximately 16.2 million of shares of our common stock on
September 11, 2007. During the succeeding five to nine-month period,
Goldman Sachs is expected to purchase an equivalent number of shares
under the terms of the ASR. At the end of the ASR's term, which is
expected to last no longer than nine months, we may receive from, or
be required to pay to Goldman Sachs a price adjustment based upon
the volume weighted-average price of our common stock during the
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petiod Goldman Sachs purchases the equivalent number of shares, less
a discount. The price adjustment may be settled in shares of our com-
mon stock or cash, at our option. The price adjustment is accounted for
as an equity instrument and changes in its fair value are not recorded.
If the volume weighted-average price of our common stock price from
September 10, 2007 through the end of the term of the repurchase
agreement remains at the volume weighted-average price through
December 31, 2007, then Goldman Sachs would owe us approximately
3.2 million additional shares.

NOTE 23: SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
We have various stock-based compensation plans for directors,
executives and employees.

1999 Stock Plan

Under this plan, as amended in 2001 and 2004, we may grant as
options or restricted stock up to 29 million shares of common stock
with ne more than 3 million of these shares granted to any employee
as options over a five-year period. No more than 50% of the shares in
this plan can be issued as restricted stock, which generally vest over
five years. Awards under this plan may be granted to our employees
and directors. Options granted under this plan in 2007, 2006 and
2005 were granted at the fair market value on the date of grant and
generally vest over three years expiring within 10 years of the grant
date. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 13.7 million shares
were issuable under this plan.

Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Plans of 1997 and 2005

Under the 1997 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Pian, directors receive
half of their annual retainer in deferred stock. Each share of deferred
stock represents the right to receive one share of our common stock
upon leaving the board. Directors may aiso elect to defer all or part of
their cash compensation into deferred stock. Annual compensation
expense is recorded equal to the number of deferred stock shares
awarded multiplied by the market value of our common stock on the
date of award. Additionally, directors receive dividend equivalents on
each share of deferred stock, payable in deferred stock, equal to the
dividend paid on a share of common stock. As a result of provisions of
the “American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, enacted in November 2004,
we replaced the Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Plan of 1997 with a new
plan which was approved by the stockholders at the May 2005 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. The new plan has the provisions required by
this legislation but otherwise has the same terms as the old plan.



Rohm and Haas Company Non-Qualified Savings Plan

Under this plan, as amended in 2005, employees above a certain level
can add to their retirement savings by deferring compensation into the
plan. We match 60% of participant’s contributions in an amount equal
to 6% of the participant’s compensation in Rohm and Haas Stock Units
that are rights to acquire shares of Rohm and Haas Company common
stock. Participants can also make an irrevocable election to convert
restricted stock on which restrictions are about to lapse into Rohm and
Haas Stock Units. We do not match these elections. Due to the adoption
of the “American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, " enacted in November
2004, we replaced the Rohm and Haas Company Non-Qualified
Savings Plan with a new plan, which was approved by the stockholders
at the May 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The new plan has
the provisions required by this legislation but otherwise has the same
terms as the old plan.

Share-Based Compensation Overview

The majority of our share-based compensation is granted in the form
of restricted stock and restricted stock units (“restricted stock”}, and
non-qualified stock options. For the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, we recognized approximately $49 million, $48 million
and 350 million, respectively, of pre-tax expense related to share-
based compensation, and a related income tax benefit of $17 million,
$16 million and $17 million, respectively. Approximately $8 million,
$11 million and $6 million of the total expense was related to liability
awards for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Approximately $7 million, $5 million, and zero in share-
based liabilities were actually paid as of December 31, 2007, 2006,
and 2005, respectively.

Of the total expense recorded in 2007, approximately $30 million was
a component of selling and administrative expense, $10 million was a
component of cost of sales, and $9 million was a component of research
and development. The amount of compensation cost capitalized was
not material.

During the first quarter of 2005, we became aware of a provision of
SFAS No. 123, which resulted in an acceleration of our share-based
compensation for retirement eligible employees where our plans pro-
vide for immediate vesting of share-based compensation upon their
retirement. This resulted in a one-time adjustment recorded in 2005
of approximately $12 million pre-tax, which related to prior periods.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of Statement of
Finandial Accounting Standards No. 123R ("SFAS No. 123R"}, “Share-
Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123R, which is a revision of FASB Statement
No. 123 {“SFAS No. 123"), "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements
based upon their fair values. Because we adopted the fair value method
of recording share-based compensation as defined in SFAS No. 123 an
January t, 2003, all options granted prior to January 1, 2003 were fully
vested as of January 1, 2006. Therefore, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R
did not materially impact our consolidated results of operations. However,
we are required to comply with the following provisions of SFAS No.
123R, which also did not materially impact our consolidated results:

* Forfeiture rate — SFAS No. 123R requires the recognition of expense
only for awards that will eventually vest. The provision requires pre-vest-
ing forfeitures to he estimated at the time of grant and modified, if
necessary, if actual forfeitures differ from estimated forfeitures. Qur
forfeiture rates were based upon historical share-based compensation
cancellations through December 31, 2006, The estimated forfeiture
rates resulted in an immaterial adjustment to current unvested awards.

« Tax benefits - SFAS No. 123R requires tax benefits resulting from
share-based compensation in excess of compensation cost recognized
to be classified as financing cash flows in the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, tax benefits
resulting from share-based compensation were classified as operating
cash flows.

e Tax windfall poof — SFAS No. 123R requires companies to calculate a
cumulative pool of tax windfalls, offset by tax shortfalls, using historical
data from the original implementation date of SFAS No. 123. We have
calcislated a tax windfall pool as of December 31, 2007, therefore, any
future tax shortfalis related to share-based compensation should be
charged against additional paid-in capital up to the amount of our
windfall pool.
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Stock Options

Our stock options generally vest over three years, with one-third
vesting each year. We recognize expense for our stock options using
the straight-line method over the requisite service period. Qur options
generally expire ten years after the grant date. The total value of com-
pensation expense for stock options is equal 1o the fair value of the
award on the grant date. We calculate the fair value of stock options
utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we recognized approximately
$6 million, $8 million and $13 millicn, respectively, of pre-tax compen-
sation expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for stock
options, and a related income tax benefit of $2 million, $2 million and
$4 million, respectively.

A summary of our stack options as of December 31, 2007, is
presented below:

Weighted-

Weighted- Average Aggregate

Average Remaining Intrinsic

Shares Exercise  Contractual Value

(000'%s) Price Term (000'%s)
Qutstanding at January 1, 2005 10,231 $35.30
Granted 705 48.60
Forfeited (108) 40.03
Exercised (2,404) 33.99
Qutstanding at December 31, 2005 8,424 36.73
Granted 791 50.37
Forfeited 97) 47.65
Exercised (2,205) 34,16
Cutstanding at December 31, 2006 6,913 38.56
Granted 448 52.72
Forfeited (33) 44.60

. Exercised (1,283) 3574 $ 24,442

Qutstanding at December 31, 2007 6,045 40.63 5.05 $244.301

Options exercisable at
December 31, 2007 4,942  $38.31 4.32 $189,329

As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the weighted average per
share fair value of options granted was $10.13, $12.73 and $13.84,
respectively.
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As of December 31, 2007, there was $5 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested stock options, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately
1.0 years.

The Black-5choles option-pricing model was used to estimate the fair
value for each grant made under the Rohm and Haas plan during the
year, The following are the weighted-average assumptions used for
all shares granted in the years indicated:

2007 2006 2005
Volatility 22.10 28.83 30.47
Risk-free interest rate 447% 467% 4.08%
Dividend yield 350% 3.26% 1.83%
Expected life (in years) 6 6 5

* The volatility rate is based upon the historical stock price over
the expected life of the option.

» The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed
interest rates appropriate for the expected life of the option.
e The dividend yield rate was based upon historical informaticn

as well as estimated future dividend payouts.
» The expected life is based upon the “simplified” method,
which is defined in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107,

Restricted Stock

Qur restricted stock primarily cliff-vests over three to five years. We
recognize expense for our restricted stock using the straight-fine methed
over the requisite service period. For retirement eligible participants,
expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the period
from the date of the grant until the participant becomes retirement
eligible. The total value of compensation expense for restricted stock
is equal to the average of the high and low price of Rohm and Haas
Company shares on the date of grant. Total pre-tax compensation
expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for
restricted stock was $30 million, $26 million and $29 miltion in the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.



A summary of our restricted stock as of December 31, 2007, is
presented below:

Weighted- Aggregate

Average Intrinsic

Shares  Fair Value Value

(000%)  Per Share {000%)
Nonvested at January 1, 2005 1,654  $33.52
Granted 555 47.82
Forfeited {92) 47.82
Vested (218)  27.47
Nonvested at Decemnber 31, 2005 2,199 37.25
Granied 614 50.16
Forfeited (130) 40.24
Vested (133) 36.82
Nonvesied at December 31, 2006 2,550 40.23
Granted 692 52.73
Forfeited (148) 43.05

Vested (166) 3550 38,779
Nonvested at December 31, 2007 2,928 $43.14

As of December 31, 2007, there was $46 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately
2.2 years.

Long-term Performance Share Plan (“LTPSP”)

We grant executives share-based liability awards (amounts settled in
cash) and equity awards whose vesting is contingent upon meeting
various performance goals, including return on net assets and our com-
pany stock performance against peers. We calculate the fair value

of the market-based component of the equity award using a lattice
model. Shares related to our long-term incentive plan vest over a period
of 3 years. Total pre-tax compensation expense recognized in the
Consclidated Statements of Operations for our LTPSP was $13 million,
$14 million and $8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $14 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to nonvested share-based compensation
awards granted under our performance plan; that cost is expected to
be recognized over a period of approximately 1.3 years.

NOTE 24: ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
The cormponents of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:

in mitfions 2007 2006 2005
Cumulative translation adjustments $ 27 $ 10 $ 12
Minimum pension liability adjustments - (122)
Unrecognized losses and prior service cost, net,
on pension and postretirement obligations {209) (330) -
Net gain (loss) on derivative instruments - 4 5
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $(182) $(316)  3(105)

NOTE 25: LEASES

We lease certain properties and equipment used in our operations,
primarily under operating leases. Most |ease agreements require mini-
mum fease payments plus a contingent rental based upon equipment
usage and escalation factors. Total net rental expense incurred under
operating leases amounted to $90 million, $81 million and $77 million
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Total future minimum lease payments under the terms of non-cancelable
operating leases are as follows:

In miflions Future Minimum Lease Payments
2008 368
2009 49
2010 40
2011 28
2012 23

NOTE 26: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,

GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS

We are a party in various government enforcement and private actions
associated with former waste disposal sites, many of which are on the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s ("EPA") National Priority List,
where remediation costs have been or may be incurred under the
Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act (“CERCLA") and similar state statutes. In some of these
matters we may also be held responsible for alleged property damage.
We have provided for future costs, on an undiscounted basis, at certain
of these sites. We are also invalved in corrective actions at some of
our manufacturing facilities.
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We consider a broad range of information when we determine the
amount necessary for remediation accruals, including available facts
about the waste site, existing and proposed remediation technology
and the range of costs of applying those technologies, prior experience,
government proposals for this or similar sites, the liability of other par-
ties, the ability of other potentially responsible parties ("PRPs") to pay
costs apportioned to them and current laws and regulations. Accruals
for estimated losses from environmental remediation obligations gener-
ally are recognized at the point during the remedial feasibility study when
costs become probable and estimable. We do not accrue for legal costs
expected to be incurred with a loss contingency. We assess the accruals
quarterly and update these as additional technical and legal informa-
tion becomes available. However, at certain sites, we are unable, due
to a variety of factors, to assess and quantify the ultimate extent of our
responsibility for study and remediation costs.

Remediation Reserves and Reasonably Possible Amounts
Reserves for environmental remediation that we believe to be probable
and estimable are recorded appropriately as current and long-term
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These reserves include lia-
bilities expected to be paid out within 10 years. The amounts charged
to pre-tax earnings for environmental remediation and related charges
are included in cost of goods sold and are presented below:

I millions Balance
December 31, 2005 $147
Amounts charged to earnings 25
Amaunts spent (31}
December 31, 2006 $141
Amounts charged to earnings 37
Amounts spent (28)
December 31, 2007 $150

In addition to accrued environmental liabilities, there are costs which
have not met the definition of probable, and accordingly, are not
recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Estimates for liabilities to
be incurred between 11 to 30 years in the future are also considered
only reasonably possible because the chance of a future event occurring
is more than remote but less than probable. These loss contingencies
are monitored regulfarly for a change in fact or circumstance that would
require an accrual adjustment. We have identified reasonably possible
loss contingencies related to environmental matters of approximately
$124 million and $120 mitlion at December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006, respectively.
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Further, we have identified other sites where future environmental
remediation may be required, but these loss contingencies cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. These matters involve significant
unresolved issues, including the number of parties found liable at each
site and their ability to pay, the interpretation of applicable laws and
regulations, the outcome of negotiations with regulatory authorities,
and alternative methods of remediation.

Except as noted below, we believe that these matters, when ultimately
resolved, which may be over an extended period of time, will not
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position,
but coutd have a material adverse effect on consolidated results of
operations or cash flows in any given period.

Our significant sites are described in more detail below.

Wood-Ridge/Berry's Creek

The Wood-Ridge, New Jersey site (“Site”), and Berry’s Creek, which runs
past this Site, are areas of environmental significance to the Company.
The Site is the location of a former mercury processing plant acquired
many years ago by a company later acquired by Morton International,
Inc. {("Morton”). Morton and Velsicol Chemical Corporation {"Velsicol”)
have been held jointly and severally liable for the cost of remediation
of the Site, The New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection
{"NJDEP") issued the Record of Decision documenting the clean-up
requirements for the manufacturing site in October 2006, The Company
has submitted a work plan to implement the remediation, and will enter
into an agreement or an order to perform the work in the first half of
2008. The trust created by Velsicol will bear a porticon of the cost of
remediation, consistent with the bankruptcy trust agreement that
estabtished the trust. In addition, the Company is in discussions with
approximately one dozen non-settling parties, including companies
whose materials were processed at the manufacturing site, to resclve
their share of the liability for a portion of the remediation costs. Our
ultimate exposure at the Site will depend on clean-up costs and on

the level of contribution from other parties.

With regard to Berry's Creek, and the surrounding wetlands, the EPA has
issued letters to over 150 PRPs for performance of a broad scope inves-
tigation of risks posed by contamination in Berry's Creek. Performance
of this study is expected to take at least six years to complete. The
PRPs have formed a representative group of over 100 PRPs, and are
negotiating a scope of work for the study and an Administrative Order
to perform the work through common technical resources and counsel.



It is not yet known how many parties will ultimately sign the
Administrative Order. Today, there is much uncertainty as to what will
be required to address Berry's Creek, but investigation and clean-up costs,
as well as potential resource damage assessments, could be very high
and our share of these costs could possibly be material to the results
of our operations, cash flows and consolidated financial position.

Moss Point

During 1996, the EPA notified Morton of possible irregularities in water
discharge monitoring reports filed by its Moss Point, Mississippi plant
in early 1995. Morton investigated and identified other environmental
issues at the plant. An agreement with the EPA, the Department of
Justice and the State of Mississippi resolving these historical environmen-
tal issues received court approval in early 2001, The accruals established
for this matter were sufficient to cover the costs of the settlement.

All operations at this Moss Paint facility have now been terminated.
Environmental investigation and interim remedial measures are pro-
ceeding pursuant to the Court approved agreement,

In December 2002, a complaint was fited in Mississippi on behalf of
over 700 plaintiffs against Morton, Rohm and Haas, among others,
alleging personal injury and property damage caused by environmental
contamination. tn April 2005, this complaint was dismissed, without
prejudice, with respect to all the plaintiffs. Similar complaints were filed
in Mississippi on behalf of approximately 1,800 other plaintiffs; however,
all but about 40 of these plaintiffs failed to comply with a court ruling
that required plaintiffs to provide basic information on their claims to avoid
dismissal. In April 2007, the Court issued several rulings in the Company’s
favor including a ruling on a motion for partial summary judgment
regarding chemicals in the wells of certain plaintiffs which the Court
found resulted from the chlorination of the Moss Point Water System.
The Court also granted the Company’s motion for sanctions against
plaintiffs’ attorneys because there was no legal proof for 98 percent of
the cases they had filed which were dismissed. In early January 2008,
we reached an agreement to resolve the daims of the remaining plain-
tiffs (the owners of 33 separate properties) to avoid further litigation.

Paterson

We closed the former Morton plant at Paterson, New Jersey in
December 2001, and are currently undertaking remediation of the site
under New Jersey’s Industrial Site Recovery Act. We removed contami-
nated soil from the site and constructed an on-site remediation system
for residual soil and groundwater contamination. Off-site investigation
of contamination is ongoing.

Martin Aaron Superfund Site

Rohm and Haas is a PRP at this Camden, New lersey former drum
recycling site, We are participating in a PRP group to address cost allo-
cation and technical issues, U.S. EPA Region 2 issued a Record of Decision
in 2005. The project is divided into two phases: Phase | will involve soil
remediation and groundwater monitoring. Phase Il will address ground-
water remediation and institutiona! controls. Rohm and Haas and other
PRPs have entered into a Consent Decree for performance of Phase |
of the remedy. Additionally, the Consent Pecree resolves the claims of
the U.S. EPA and the claims of the NJDEP for past costs and natural
resources damages.

Groundwater Treatment and Monitoring

Major remediation for certain sites, such as Kramer, Whitmoyer,
Woodlands and Goose Farm has been completed. We are continuing
groundwater remediation and monitoring programs. Reserves for these
costs have been established.

Manufacturing Sites

We also have accruals for enforcement and corrective action programs
under environmental laws at several of our manufacturing sites. The
more significant of these accruals for corrective action, in addition to
those presented above, have been recorded for the following sites:
Bristol, Pennsylvania; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Houston, Texas; Louisville,
Kentucky; Ringwoced, Hlinois; Apizaco, Mexico; Jacarei, Brazil; Jarrow,
U.K.; Lauterbourg, France; and Mozzanica, haly. We are currently in
negotiations with the U.S. EPA to resolve an enforcement matter at
the Louisville plant.

Insurance Litigation

We have actively pursued lawsuits over insurance coverage for certain
environmental liabilities. It is our practice to reflect environmental insur-
ance recoveries in the results of operations for the quarter in which
the litigation is resolved through settlement or other appropriate legal
processes. These resolutions typically resolve coverage for both past
and future environmental spending and involve the “buy back” of

the policies and have been included in cost of goods sold. We settled
with several of our insurance carriers and recorded pre-tax earnings of
approximately $1 million, $9 million and $8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. in addition, litigation
is pending regarding insurance coverage for certain Ringwood plant
environmental lawsuits.
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Self-insurance

We maintain deductibles for general liability, business interruption
and property damage to owned, leased and rented property. These
deductibles could be material to our earnings, but they should not be
material to our overall financial position. We carry substantial excess
general liability, property and business interruption insurance above
our deductibles. In addition, we maet all statutory requirements for
automaobile liability and workers’ compensation.

Other Litigation

In Decerber 2006, the federal government sued Waste Management
of Minois, Morton and Rohm and Haas for $1 million in unreimbursed
costs and interest for the H.0O.D. fandfill, a closed waste disposal site,
owned and operated by Waste Management and a predecessor com-
pany, located in Antioch, Lake County, lilinois. This matter was settled
in late 2007 and we expect the federal government will submit a
consent decree for court approval in the near future.

In Novernber 2006, a complaint was filed in the United States District
Court for the Western District of Kentucky by individuals alleging
that their persons or properties were invaded by particulate and air
contaminants from the Louisville plant. The complaint seeks class
action certification alleging that there are hundreds of potential plain-
tiffs residing in neighborhoods within two miles of the plant. We
believe that this lawsuit is without merit.

In April 2006 and thereafter, lawsuits were filed against Rohm and Haas
claiming that the Company’s Ringwood, llinois plant contaminated
groundwater and air that allegedly reached properties a mile south of
the plant site. Also sued was the owner of a plant site neighboring our
facility. An action brought in federat court in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
seeks certification of a class comprised of the owners and residents of
about 500 homes in McCullomn Lake Village, seeking medical monitor-
ing and compensation for alleged property value diminution, among
other things. In addition, lawsuits were filed in the Philadelphia Court
of Common Pleas by twenty-two individuals who claim that contami-
nation from the plants has resulied in tumors {primarily of the brain} and
one individual whose claims relate to cirrhosis of the liver. We believe
that these lawsuits are without merit.

Rohm and Haas, Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing Company (3M)
and Hercules, Inc. have been engaged in remediation of the Woodland
Sites (“Sites”), two waste disposal tocations in the New Jersey Pinelands,
under various NJDEP orders since the early 1990s. Remediation is
complete at one site and substantially complete at the other. in
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February 2006, a lawsuit was filed in state court in Burlington County,
New Jersey by the NJDEP and the Administrator of the New Jersey Spill
Compensation Fund against these three companies and others for
alleged natural resource damages relating to the Sites. In June 2006,
after the lawsuit was served, the defendants filed a notice of removal
of the action to the federal court in Camden, New Jersey. On July 5,
2007, the federal court remanded the case to state court. This lawsuit
presents significant legal and public policy issues, including the funda-
mental issue of whether there are any “damages,” and the Company
intends to defend it vigorously.

In January 2006 and thereafter, civil lawsuits were filed against Rohm
and Haas and other chemical companies in U.S. federal court, alleging
violation of antitrust laws in the production and sale of methyl methacry-
late ("MMA"} and polymethylmethacrylates ("PMMA"). The various
plaintiffs sought to represent a class of direct or indirect purchasers of
MMA or PMMA in the United States from January 1, 1995 through
December 31, 2003. The lawsuits referred to an investigation of certain
chemical producers by the European Commission in which Rohm and
Haas was not involved in any way. However, in September 2006, both
the direct purchasers and the indirect purchasers filed amended com-
plaints in which Rohm and Haas was not named as a deferndant, and
therefore the Company is no longer a party to these lawsuits. In addi-
tion, another United States complaint brought in late 2006 has been
dismissed. Although Rohm and Haas remains 2 defendant in a similar
lawsuit filed in Canada, we believe the Canadian lawsuit is without
merit as to Rohm and Haas, and, if the Company is not dropped from
the Jawsuit, we intend to defend it vigorously.

In iate January 2006, Morton Salt was served with a Grand Jury
subpoena in connection with an investigation by the Department of
Justice ("DCJ”) into possible antitrust law violations in the “industrial
salt” business. On August 22, 2007, we received a letter from the DO
advising that the documents we submitted as part of the investigation
were being returned to us. This is the typical manner in which the DOJ
signals that it is terminating its investigation, and neither Morton Salt
nor any Morton Salt employee has been charged with or implicated in
any wrongdoing. This matter is now closed.

On December 22, 2005, a federal judge in Indiana issued a decision
purporting to grant a class of participants in the Rohm and Haas pen-
sion plan the right to a cost-of-living adjustment (" COLA") as part of
the retirement benefit for those who elect a lump sum benefit. The
decision contravenes the plain language of the plan, which clearly and
expressly excludes a qiscretionary COLA for participants who elect a




lump sum benefit. On August 14, 2007, the Seventh Circuit Court of
Appeals rendered a decision affirming the Indiana Federal District Court’s
decision that participants in the Rohm and Haas Pension Plan who
elected a lump sum benefit during a class period have the right to

a COLA as part of their retirement benefit. We have petitioned the
Supreme Court of the United States for a hearing. if this decision stands,
the pension trust would be required to pay these COLA benefits and
we will take appropriate steps to modify the plan to ensure pension
expense will not increase. Due to the funded status of the Rohm and
Haas Pension Plan, we do not believe we will have any requirement

to currently fund our plan as a result of this decision.

In accordance with SFAS No. 5 "Accounting for Contingencies,” we
have recorded a charge in the third quarter of 365 million ($42 million,
after-tax) to recognize the estimated potential impact of this decision
to our long term pension plan ohligations. There are a number of issues
yet to be addressed by the court, and were those issues to be decided
against the Pension Plan, it is reasonably possible that we would need
to record an additional charge of up to $25 miltion.

tn August 2005, a class-action complaint seeking medical menitoring
was filed in the Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas relating to brain
cancer incidence among employees who worked at our Spring House,
Pennsylvania research facility. In April 2006, the court dismissed this case
as barred by Pennsylvania Workers’ Compensation Law and the dismissal
was affirmed by the Superior Court in August 2007. An acticn filed
by the plaintiff in the Commonwealth Court was also dismissed in
June 2007, with the finding by the Court that Workers' Compensation
does not allow a class-action procedure but that the plaintiff could
proceed with an individual worker’s compensation petition to have a
determination of his claim. In addition, two separate actions filed on
behalf of individuals in the Court of Common Pleas are now stayed
pending the outcome of workers’ compensation proceedings. Our
ongoing epidemiological studies have not found an association
between anything in the Spring House workplace and brain cancer.

In February 2003, the United States Department of Justice and antitrust
enforcement agencies in the European Union, Canada and Japan initi-
ated investigations into possible antitrust violations in the plastics
additives industry. In April 2006, we were notified that the grand jury
investigation in the United States had been terminated and no further
actions would be taken against any parties. In August 2006, Rohm and
Haas was informed by the Canadian Competition Bureau that it was
terminating its investigation having found insufficient evidence to war-
rant a referral 1o the Attorney General of Canada. In January 2007,

we were advised that the European Commission has closed its impact
modifier investigation. In May 2007, we erroneously believed that the
European Commission had closed its heat stabilizer investigation as well
but this portion of the Commission’s investigation is still open, although
we have not been contacted since 2003. We previously reported that
the Japanese Fair Trade Commission brought proceedings against named
lapanese plastics additives producers but did not initiate action against
Rohm and Haas and no further action is expected. Most of the criminal
investigations initiated in February 2003 have now been terminated
with no finding of any misconduct by the Company.

In civil litigation on plastics additives matters, we are a party to nine
private federal court civil antitrust actions that have been consolidated
in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, includ-
ing one that originally had been filed in State Court in Chio and another
involving an individual direct purchaser claim that was filed in federal
court in Ohio, These actions have been brought against Rohm and Haas
and other producers of plastics additives products by direct purchasers
of these products and seek civil damages as a result of alleged viola-
tions of the antitrust laws. The named plaintiffs in all but one of these
actions are seeking to sue on behalf of all similarly situated purchasers
of plastics additives products. Federal law provides that persons who
have been injured by violations of Federal antitrust law may recover
three times their actual damages plus attorneys’ fees. In the fall of 2006,
the Court issued an order certifying six subclasses of direct purchasers
premised on the types of plastics additives products that have been
identified in the litigation. On April 9, 2007, the Third Circuit Court of
Appeals agreed to hear an appeal from the Court’s certification order.
As a result of the appeal, the lower court has stayed indefinitely the
consolidated direct purchaser cases. In addition, in August 2005, a new
indirect purchaser class action antitrust complaint was filed in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, consolidating all
but one of the indirect purchaser cases that previously had been filed
in various state courts, including Tennessee, Vermont, Nebraska, Arizona,
Kansas and Ohio. The Court has dismissed from the consolidated action
the claims arising from the states of Nebraska, Kansas and Ohio, and
allowed the claims from Arizona, Tennessee and Vermont to continue.
Because of the significant effect that the decision of the Third Circuit
on the appeal of class certification in the direct purchaser cases may
have on the indirect purchaser class, the parties agreed to stay this case
pending the outcome of the appeal. The only remaining state court
indirect action is the one filed in California which is dormant. Our
internal investigation has revealed no wrongdoing. We believe these
cases are without merit as to Rehm and Haas.
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As a result of the bankruptcy of asbestos producers, plaintiffs’
attorneys have focused on peripheral defendants, including our com-
pany, which had asbestos on its premises. Historically, these premises
cases have been dismissed or settled for minimal amounts because of
the minimal tikelihood of exposure at our facilities. We have reserved
amounts for premises asbestos cases that we currently believe are
probable and estimable.

There are also pending lawsuits filed against Morton related to
employee exposure to asbestos at a manufacturing facility in Weeks
Island, Louisiana with additional lawsuits expected. We expect that
most of these cases will be dismissed because they are barred under
workers' compensation laws. However, cases involving asbestos-caused
malignancies may not be barred under Louisiana law. Subsequent to
the Morton acquisition, we commissioned medical studies to estimate
possible future claims and recorded accruals based on the results.

Morton has also been sued in connection with asbestos-related matters
in the former Friction Division of the former Thioko! Corporation, which
merged with Morton in 1982, Settlement amounts to date have been
minimal and many cases have closed with no payment. We estimate
that alt costs associated with future Friction Division claims, including
defense costs, will be well below our insurance limits.

We are also parties to litigation arising out of the ordinary conduct of
our business. Recognizing the amounts reserved for such items and the
uncertainty of the ultimate outcomes, it is our opinion that the resolu-
tion of all these pending lawsuits, investigations and claims will not
have a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, upon
our results of pperations, cash flows or consolidated financial position.

Indemnifications

In connection with the divestiture of several of our operating businesses,
we have agreed to retain, and/or indemnify the purchaser against, cer-
tain liabilities of the divested business, including liabilities relating to
defective products sold by the business or environmental contamination
arising or taxes accrued prior to the date of the sale. Our indemnifica-
tion obligations with respect to these liabilities may be indefinite as

to duration and may or may not be subject to a deductible, minimum
claim amount or cap. As such, it is not possible for us to predict the
likelihood that a claim will be made or to make a reasonable estimate
of the maximum potential loss or range of loss. No company assets are
held as collateral for these indemnifications and no specific liabilities
have been established for such guarantees.
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NOTE 27; NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Non-controlling Interests

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB”)
issued SFAS No. 160, “Non-controlfing interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, “ which amends ARB No. 51. SFAS No. 160 establishes
accounting and reporting standards that require that 1) non-controlling
interests held by non-parent parties be clearly identified and presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, sepa-
rate from the parent’s equity and 2) the amount of consolidated net
income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest be
clearly presented on the face of the consolidated statement of income.
SFAS No. 160 also requires consistent reporting of any changes to the
parent’s ownership while retaining a controlling financial interest, as
well as specific guidelines over how to treat the deconsolidation of
controlling interests and any applicable gains or loses. This statement
will be effective for financial statements issued in 2009. We are cur-
rently assessing the impact to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Business Combinations

\n December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS Nao. 141R, “Business
combinations” ("FAS 141R"”), which replaces FAS 141. FAS 141R estab-
lishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer in a business
combination recognizes and measures in its financial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilittes assumed, and any controlling
interest; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business
combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and determines what
information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination.
We will be required to adopt FAS 141R on January 1, 2009. We are
currently assessing the impact of FAS 141R on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends

on Share-Based Payment Awards

In November 2006 and in March 2007, the EITF met and issued
EITF No. 06-11, “Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on
Share-Based Payment Awards,” in order to clarify the recognition of the
income tax benefit received from dividends paid to employees holding
equity-classified nonvested shares, equity-classified nonvested share
units, or equity-classified nonvested share options charged to retained
earnings. EITF No. 06-11 states that the income tax benefit received
from dividends paid on equity-classified nonvested shares, eguity-
classified nonvested share units, or equity-classified nonvested share
options should be charged to retained earnings, and should be recog-
nized as an increase to additional paid-in capital. EITF No. 06-11is to



be applied prospectively to the income tax benefits on equity classified
employee share-based payment awards that are declared in fiscal years
beginning after September 15, 2007. We do not believe this will have
a material impact to our Consolidated Financia! Statements.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, " which provides companies
with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair
value in an attempt to reduce both complexity in accounting for finan-
cial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring
related assets and liabilities differently. This Statement is effective as of
the beginning of an entity's first fiscal year beginning after November
15, 2007. We do not anticipate electing the SFAS 159 option for our
existing financial assets and liabilities and therefore do not expect the
adoption of SFAS 159 to have any impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities

In September 2006, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) AUG AIR-1,
which addresses the accounting for planned major maintenance activities.
The FASB believes that the accrue-in-advance method of accounting
for planned major maintenance activities results in the recognition of
liabilities that do not meet the definition of a liability in FASB Concepts
Statement No. 6, "Elements of Financial Statements, ” because it causes
the recognition of a liability in a pericd prior to the occurrence of the
transaction or event obligating the entity. This FSP prohibits the use of
the accrue-in-advance method of accounting for planned major main-
tenance activities in annual and interim financial reporting periods
beginning January 1, 2007. We have adopted this FSP as of January 1,
2007 and it did not have a material impact to our Consolidated
Financia! Statements.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measuremnents, ” which defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement does
not require any new fair value measurements, but provides guidance
on how to measure fair value by providing a fair value hierarchy used
to classify the source of the information. For financial assets and liabili-
ties, SFAS No. 157 is effective for us beginning January 1, 2008. In
February 2008, the FASB deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for
all non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, except those that
are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on

a recurring basis (at least annually) until January 1, 2009. We believe
the impact will not require material modification of our fair value
measurements and will be substantially limited to expanded disclosures
in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements relating to those
notes that currently have components measured at fair value. We will
continue to assess the impact on our future financial statements.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In July 2006, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation (“FIN") No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income
Taxes.” FIN No. 48 is an interpretation of SFAS No. 109, "Accounting
for Income Taxes.” FIN No. 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in an
enterprise’s tax return. This interpretation also provides guidance on
the derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods, disclosure, and transition of tax positions. The recogni-
tion threshold and measurement attribute is part of a two step tax
position evaluation process prescribed in FIN No. 48. FIN No. 48 is effec-
tive after the beginning of an entity’s first-fiscal year that begins after
December 15, 2006. We have adopted FIN No. 48 as of January 1,
2007. The adoption resulted in a charge of 39 million recorded directly
to retained earnings as a cumulative effect of an accounting change.
See Note 7 for further discussion.

NOTE 28: SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY
DATA (UNAUDITED)

2007 Quarterly Results of Operations {unaudited)

1st 2nd 3rd 4th

In millions, except per share amounts Quarter Quarier Quarter Quarter
Net sales $2,160  $2,190 32,204 32,343
Gross profit 609 604 614 640
Provision for restructuring

and asset impairments (1) 13 18 -
Pension judgment - - 65 -
Net earnings from

continuing operations 190 161 129 180
Net earnings 182 160 129 180
Basic earnings per share, in dollars

From continuing operations 0.87 0.76 0.62 0.93

Net earnings 0.88 0.75 0.62 0.93
Diluted earnings per share, in dollars

From continuing operations 0.86 0.75 0.61 0.91

Net earnings per share 0.87 0.74 0.61 0.91
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2006 Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)

1st 2nd 3rd 4th

in millions, except per share amounts Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net sales §2,058 32,081 32,065 42,026
Gross profit 645 631 604 603
Provision for restructuring

and asset impairments 4 - 6 17
Pension judgment - - - -
Net earnings from

continuing operations 207 192 189 167
Met earnings 207 166 186 176
Basic earnings per share, in dollars

From continuing operations 0.94 0.88 .87 0.77

Net earnings 0.94 0.75 0.86 0.81
Diluted earnings per share, in dollars

From continuing operations 0.93 0.87 0.86 0.76

Net earnings per share 0.93 0.75 0.85 0.80

NOTE 29: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 15, 2008, we signed an agreement to acquire the FINNDISP
division of QY Forcit AB, a Finnish paint erulsions operation, for approxi-
mately Euro 60 million (approximately US $85 million}. Based in Hanko,
Finland, this division of Forcit makes water-based emulsions used in the
manufacture of paints and coatings, lacquers and adhesives in Northern
Europe and the Commonwaalth of Independent States {former Soviet
Unicn). We expect to complete the transaction by the end of the first
quarter of 2008, pending approval by regulatory authorities.

On January 17, 2008, cur AgroFresh business and Syngenta AG
announced the signing of a letter of intent to enter into an exclusive
global strategic alliance to develop and commercialize Invinsa™ technol-
ogy, a unique product for crop stress protection in field crops. Invinsa
technology, a sprayable formulation of 1-methylcyclopropene {(1-MCP),
will be the first-ever product introduced into field crop markets to specifi-
cally protect crop yield during extended periods of high temperature,
mild-to-moderate drought and other crop stresses.

On February 4, 2008, our Board of Directors declared a regulér quarterly
dividend of $0.37 per common share. This dévidegnzill be payable on
March 1, 2008 to shareholders of record Q%@a&ﬁ@ iness on
February 15, 2008.

Yonoeg
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS

WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

No reports on Form 8-K were filed during 2007 or 2006 relating to any
disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosures.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures,
as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15{e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based
on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal finan-
cial officer concluded that our disclosure contrals and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. During
2007, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer
have signed their certifications as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. In 2007, our CEQ also centified, without qualification, to the
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) that he was not aware of any viola-
tion by the Company of NYSE corporate governance standards.

Management's Report on Internal Control Qver Financial Reporting
Our management’s repart on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
is set forth in Item 8 and incorporated herein by reference.

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has issued an attestation report on the
Company's internal controls over financial reporting, which is included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

In July 2007, we completed the implementation of the redesign of
our European cperations financial reporting structure in support of the
Company’s 2010 Vision. This initiative realigned reporting entities and
related internal controls within our European footprint. We performed
appropriate testing of these changes to ensure effectiveness of internal
controls as they relate to the reliability and accuracy of financial report-
ing data and no significant issues were noted.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Nothing to report.



part Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE

OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information called for by Item 10 of this Form 10-K report has
been omitted, except for the information presented below, since we
will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Directors

William 1. Avery, President, Bil Mar Collector Cars and Avery Real Estate,
since 2006; formerly, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director,
Crown, Cork & Seal Company, Inc., from 19390 until his retirement in
2001. Mr. Avery, 67, has been a director since 1997, Mr. Avery also is
a director of the Lincoln Financial Group. (Committees: 1, 4)

Raj L. Gupta, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and
Director, Rohm and Haas Company, since February 2005; previously,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Rohm and Haas Company, from
1999 to 2005; Vice-Chairman, Rohm and Haas Company, from 1998
to 1999. Mr. Gupta, 62, has been a director since 1999. Mr. Gupta
also is a director of the Vanguard Group and Tyco International Ltd.
(Committee; 2 {Chair))

David W. Haas, Chairman of the Board and Director, The William Penn
Foundation, since 1998; previously, Vice-Chairman, The William Penn
Foundation, from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Haas, 52, has been a director since
1899. He is a cousin of Thomas W. Haas. (Committees: 3, 4}

Thomas W Haas, Chairman of the Corporation and Director, The William
Penn Foundation; pilot and flight instructor. Mr. Haas, 52, has been a
director since 1999. He is a cousin of David W. Haas. (Committees: 4, 5}

Richard L. Keyser, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, W.W. Grainger,
Inc., since 1997. Mr. Keyser, 65, has been a director since 1999. Mr. Keyser
also is a director of W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Principal Financial Group.
(Committees: 2, 4, 5 (Chair)}

Rick 1. Mills, 59, Vice-President and President - Components Group,
Cummins, Inc., since 2005; previously, Vice-President and Group
President — Filtrations, Cummins, Inc., from 2000 to 2005. Mr. Mills,
60, has been a director since 2005. Mr. Milfs also is a director of
Flowserve Corporation. (Committees: 1, 4)

Sandra O. Moose, President, Strategic Advisory Services, since 2004,
and Senior Advisor, The Boston Consulting Group, since 2004; formerly,
Senior Vice-President and Director, The Boston Consulting Group, Inc.,
from 1989 until her retirement in 2003 (Dr. Moose had been employed by
The Bosten Consulting Group since 1968). Dr. Moose, 66, has been a
director since 1981. Dr. Moose is the independent chair of the Natixis
Advisor Funds and the Loomis Sayles Fund, and also is a director of The AES
Corporation and Verizon Communications. (Committees: 2, 3, 4 (Chair))

Gilbert 5. Omenn, Professor of Internal Medicine, Human Genetics and
Public Health, University of Michigan, since 1997, previously, Executive
Vice-President for Medical Affairs, University of Michigan, and Chief
Executive Officer, The University of Michigan Health System, from 1997
to 2002. Dr. Omenn, 66, has been a director since 1987. Dr. Omenn
also is a director of Amgen, Inc. and Occulogix, Inc. (Committees: 1, 4)

Gary L. Rogers, formerly Vice-Chairman, Executive Officer and Director,
General Electric Company, from 2001 until his retirement in 2003;
previously, Senior Vice-President, General Electric Company, and
President and Chief Executive Officer, GE Plastic, from 1992 to 2001
{Mr. Rogers had been employed by General Electric Company in posi-
tions of increasing responsibility since 1966). Mr. Rogers, 63, has been
a director since 2004. Mr. Rogers also is a director of W.W, Grainger,
Inc. and Wyeth. {Committees: 3, 4)

Ronaldo H, Schmitz, formerly, Member of the Board of Managing
Directors, Deutsche Bank AG, from 1991 until his retirement in 2000.
Dr. Schmitz, 69, has been a director since 1992. Dr. Schmitz also is
a director of Cabot Corporation, GlaxoSmithKline Plc. and the Legal
and General Group Ple. {Committees: 1 (Chair), 2, 4)

George M. Whitesides, Woodford L. and Ann A, Flowers Professor of
Chemistry and Chemical Biology. Harvard University, since 2004; previ-
ously, Mallinckrodt Professor of Chemistry, Harvard University, from 1982
to 2004, and Chairman of the Chemistry Department, Harvard University,
from 1986 to 1989. Dr. Whitesides,_ 68, has been a director since 2005.
Dr. Whitesides also is a director of Theravance Inc. (Committees: 4, S)

Marna C. Whittington, President and Chief Executive Officer, Nicholas-
Applegate Capital Management, since 2001, and Chief Operating Officer,
Allianz Global Investors AG, since 2002; formerly, Chief Operating Officer,
Morgan Stanley Investment Management, from 1996 until her retirement in
2001. Dr. Whittington, 60, has been a director since 1989. Dr. Whittington
also is a director of Macy’s, Inc. (Committees: 2, 3 (Chair), 4)

Committees
1 Audit, 2 Executive, 3 Executive Compensation,
4 Nominating, 5 Sustainable Development
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Executive Officers

Our executive officers along with their present position, offices held
and activities during the past five years are presented below. All officers
normally are elected annually and serve at the pleasure of the Board
of Directors.

Alan E. Barton, 52, Executive Vice President, Regional Director,

The Americas, since 2007; previously, Vice President, Business Group
Director, Coatings, from 2005 to 2006; Vice President, Business Group
Director, Coatings, and Regional Director, Asia-Pacific, from 2004 to 2005;
Vice President, Business Group Director, Coatings, and Business Unit
Director, Architectural and Functional Coatings, from 2001 to 2004.

Pierre R. Brondeau, 50, Executive Vice President, Business Group
Executive, Electronic Materials and Specialty Materials, since 2007,
previously, Vice President and Business Group Executive, Electronic
Materials, from 2003 to 2006, President and Chief Executive Officer,
Rohm and Haas Electronic Materials LLC and Regional Director,
Europe, from 2003 to 2006.

Jacques M. Croisetiere, 54, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, since 2007; previcusly, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
from 2003 to 2006.

Raj L. Gupta, 62, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,
since 2005; previously, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, from
1999 to 2005.

Robert A. Lonergan, 62, Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary, since 2007; previously, Vice President, General
Counsel and Corporate Secretary, from 2002 to 2006.

Richard R. Lovely, 48, Vice President, Corporate Human Resources
Director, since December 2007; previously, Vice President, Human
Resources, Tyco Fire & Security, Tyco International, Inc., from 2004

to 2007; Vice President, Associate Relations, Toys "R™ Us, Inc., from
2003 to 2004; Chief Personnel Officer, New World Restaurant Group,
from 2002 to 2003.

Anne M. Wilms, 50, Executive Vice President, Chief Information Officer,
since 2007, previously, Vice President, Chief Information Officer and
Director of Human Resources, from 2005 to 2006; Vice President, Chief
Information Officer, from 1999 to 2005.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by Item 11 of this Form 10-K report
has been omitied since the Company will fitle with the Securities
and Exchange Commission a definitive Proxy Statement pursuant
to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Equity Compensation Plan Information®
Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans
as of December 31, 2007:

Number of securities
remaining avaitable
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans

(excluding securities

Number of securities
10 be issued

upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

{a} b) s}

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
in thousands

Plan category
Equity compensation
plans approved

by security holders 9,242 $27.37 14,069°
£quity compensation
plans not approved
by security holders 182 - 314
Total 9,425 $27.37 14,100

! Refer ta Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the plans.

? Excludes shares that will be issued pursuant to the Company’s matching contributions under
the Non-Qualified Savings Flan.

3 Inciudes shares availabie for issuance under the 2004 Amended and Restated Stock Plan and
the 2065 Non-Employee Directors® Stock Plan.

4 includes shares available for issuance under the 1997 Nen-Employee Directors’ Stock Plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Rohm and Haas Company has no related party transactions as
defined by item 404 as amended of Regulation 5-K. The information
on director independence is incorporated in this Form 10-K by refer-
ence 1o the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCCUNTANT FEES

AND SERVICES

The information on principal accountant fees and services is incorpo-
rated in this Form 10-K by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

warrants and rights  reflected in column {a})**
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ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL

STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a) Documents Filed as Part of This Report

1. All Financial Statements

Management's Report on Internal Conirol Over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 .

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Consolidated Statements of Stockhalders’ Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Notes 1o Consolidated financial Statements

2. Financial Statements Schedule
The following supplementary financial information is filed in this Form 10-K:

Financial Statement Schedule Page #
* Il = Valuation and qualifying accounts for the years
2007, 2006 and 2005 114

The schedules not included herein are omitted because they are not applicable or
the required information is presented in the financial statements or related notes.

(b) Exhibit Listing

Exhibit
Number Description
3.00 Certificate of Incorporation of Rohm and Haas Company (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 3 10 Rohm and Haas Company’s report on Form
10-K/A filed March 29, 2001 {the “2000 10-K/A")).

3.02 Bylaws of Rohm and Haas Company {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3
to Rohm and Haas Company’s report on Form 10-Q filed May 5, 2002).

4.01 Description of Rohm and Haas Common Stock (incorporated
by reference to Item 5 of Robm and Haas Company's report on
Form 10-Q fited September 30, 1996).

4.02 Indenture, dated as of June 1, 1990, between Morton International, Inc.
and Continental Bank, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4{(c) to Morton International, In¢.’s Registration
Statement on Form $-1 filed May 9, 1990).

403 Indenture, dated as of May 1, 1992, between Rohm and Haas Company
and Wachovia Bank, N.A., successor in interest to CoreStates Bank, N.A.
{formerly, The Philadelphia National Bank), as Trustee {incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4 10 Rohm and Haas Company’s report on
Form 10-K filed March 29, 1993}.

4.04 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 28, 1997, among
Morton International, Inc., New Morton International, Inc., and First
Trust, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.01 to New Morton International, Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K dated May 2, 1997).

4.05 Indenture, dated as of July 1, 1999, between Rohm and Haas
Company and Chase Manhattan Trust Company, National Association,
as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Rohm and Haas
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed July 30, 1959).

Exhibit
Number

Description

4.06

4.07

4.08

4.09

4.10

10.01*

10.02*

10.03*

10.04*

10.05*

10.06*

10.07*

10.08

10.09

10.10*

10.11*

12.01

14.00

210
23.01
3.
31.02
32

Rights Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2000, between Rohm and
Haas Company and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., as Rights Agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Rohm and Haas Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A dated October 26, 2000).
Certificate of Destgnation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock of Rohm and Haas Company dated October 31, 2000
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the 2000 10-K/A).

Fiscal Agency Agreement, dated September 19, 2005, {(incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Rohm and Haas Company’s current
report on Form 8-K dated September 22, 2005).

Indenture, dated as of September 2007, between Rohm and Haas
Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Rohm and Haas Company Registration
Statement on Form 5-3 filed September 5, 2007).

Note Purchase Agreement, dated March 9, 2007 between Rohm and
Haas Company and Great West Life and Annuity et al {incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Rohm and Haas Company Form 8-K
filed March 14, 2007).

1997 Non-Employee Director's Stock Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Rohm and Haas Company’s report on Form 10-K
filed March 21, 1997).

Amended and Restated Rohm and Haas Stock Plan (incorporated

by reference to Appendix C to Rohm and Haas Company’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 26, 2001).

2004 Amended and Restated Stock Plan incorporated by reference
1o Appendix D to Rohm and Haas Company’s Definitive Proxy Staterment
on Schedule 14A filed March 19, 2004).

Form of Continuity Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2001, between
Rehm and Haas Company and key executives (incorporated by
reference 1o Exhibit 10 to Rohm and Haas Company’s report on
Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2001).

Rohm and Haas Company Non-Qualified Savings Plan, as Amended
and Restated effective January 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.04 to Rohm and Haas Company’s report on Form 10-K
filed March 8, 2004).

2004 Rohm and Haas Company Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Appendix B to Robm and Haas Company’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedute 144 filed March 19, 2004),

2004 Rohm and Haas Company Leng-Term Performance Plan (incor-
porated by reference to Appendix C to Rohm and Haas Company's
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 19, 2004).
Five-year Credit Agreement {incorporated by reference from

Exhibit 10.1 to Rohm and Haas Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K dated December 21, 2005),

Amendment to the Five-year Credit Agreement (incorparated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Rohm and Haas Company's Form 8-K
filed December 19, 2006).

2005 Rohm and Haas Company Nen-Employee Directors’ Stock

Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Rohm and Haas
Company’s Form 8K filed May 11, 2005).

2005 Rohrn and Haas Company Non-Qualified Savings Plan
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Rohm and Haas
Company’s Form 8-K fited May 11, 2005).

Statements regarding Computation of Ratios of Rohm and Haas Company.
Rohm and Haas Company Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
(incorporated by reference to Company’s website) www rohmhaas.com,
Subsidiaries of Rohm and Haas Company.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Certification Pursuant to Rute 13a-14{a)/15d-14(a).

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

Certification furnished pursuani to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contfact or compensatory plan or arrangement filed pursuant to ftem 601(b) (10) (i)
of Reguilation S-K.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

fs/ lacques M. Croisetiere

lacques M. Croisetiere
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

February 21, 2008
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

this report has been signed on February 21, 2008 by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

/s/ Raj L. Gupta /s Sandra 0. Moose

Raj L. Gupta Sandra O. Moose
Director, Chairman,
President and

Chief Executive Officer

Director

/5 William ). Avery /s/ Gilbert 5. Omenn

William J. Avery
Director

/s/ David W. Haas

Gilbert S. Omenn
Director

s/ Gary L. Rogers

David W. Haas _
Director

Gary L. Rogers
Director

s/ Thomas W. Haas s/ Ronaldo H. Schmitz

Ronaldo H. Schmitz
Director

Thomas W. Haas
Director

/s/ Richard L. Keyser /s/ George M. Whitesides

Richard L. Keyser George M. Whitesides

Director Director

/s/ Rick J. Mills s/ Marna C, Whittington
Rick J. Mills Marna C, Whittington
Director Director
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Schedule Il

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31,

2007, 2006, and 2005.

Bad Debts
in milions vears Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Peducted from Accounts Receivable —
Allowances for losses:
Balance at beginning of year $40 $43 $ 49
Additions charged to earnings 5 6 8
Charge-offs, net of recoveries (11) an (12)
Currency impact 2 2 (2)
Balance at end of year $36 $40 $43
LIFO Reserve
In miflions Years Ended Decernber 31, 2007 2006 2005
Deducted from Inventories —
Allowances for reserves:
Balance at beginning of year $127 $120 3 94
Additions charged to earnings 43 7 26
Balance at end of year $170 $127 3120

Stockholder Information

Stock Exchange Listing

Rohm and Haas stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange
under the trading symbol “ROH".

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company N.A.
P.O. Box 43010

Providence, Rl 02940-3010

(800) 633-4236

Shareholder Inquiries:
www.computershare.com/equiserve

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Rohm and Haas Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held
on May 5, 2008 at the Chemical Heritage Foundation, 315 Chestnut

Street, Philadelphia, PA 19106. Formal notice of the meeting, the proxy
statement and form of proxy will be mailed to current stockholders on or

about March 20, 2008.

Independent Registered Public Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Two Commerce Square

2001 Market Street, Suite 1700
Philadelphia, PA USA 19103

(267) 330-3000

”
&& This report was printed with vegetable-based inks on recycled paper.
The paper is Green Seal certified and acid free.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(Williamp ¥Ave sy

Retired Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer

and Director

Crown Cork & Seal Company, Inc.
Committees: 1,4

Raj[(MGupta

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officar
Rohm and Haas Company
Committees: 2 {chair}

DavidiWiiaas)

Chairman of the Board

and Director

The Willlam Penn Foundation
Committees: 3,4

fihomastVVaHaas)

Chairman of the Corporation
The Willlam Penn Foundation
Committees: 4,5

Richard[IMKeyse
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
W.W, Grainger, Inc.
Committees: 2,4,5 {chair)

(RiclyIqnill<]

Vice President and Prasident,
Components Group -
Cummins, Inc.

Committees: 1,4

Sandral@¥Voose]
President,

Strategic Advisory Services
Senior Advisor

Boston Consulting Group
Committees: 2,3,4 (chair)

Gilberi§sy

Professor of internal Medicine
Human Genetics and Public Health
University of Michigan
Committees: 1,4

@ery s

Retired Vice Chairman,
Executive Officer and Director
General Electric Company
Committees: 3,4

185 Chimit2]
Retired Member of the
Boatd of Managing Directors
Deutsche Bank AG
Committees: 1 (chair), 2,4

MRWhitesides]
Woodford L. & Ann A, Flowers
Professor of Chemistry

and Chemical Biclogy

Harvard University
Committees: 4,5

MarnaJ8VVhittington)
President and

Chief Executive Qfficer
Nicholas — Applegate
Capital Management
Cormimitieas; 2,3 {chair, 4

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
falaniER

Executive Vice President;
Regional Director,

The Atnericas

Rierrc]RYBrondeal)
Execut@ve Vice President;
Businass Group Executive

b acquesiivg
Executive Vice President;
Chief Financial Officer

RajlMGupta]
Chairrman, Presiclent and
Chief Executive Officer

Robe AN
Executive Vice President;
General Counsel;
Corpotate Secretary

Richard[RYovely]
Vice President;

Corpoyate Human
Resources Director

I nelMRWilms]
Executive Vice President;
Chief Information Officer

(Gommittees]

1 Audit

2 Executive

3 Execuiive Conspensation

4 Naminaiing and Governance
5 Sustainable Development



Corporate Headquarters
!ig - 100 independence Mall West
i Philadelphia, PA 19106-2399
ROHM
IHAAS USA

+1.215.582.3000
www.rohmhaas.com
Key Regional Locations
Furope/Middle Fast/Africa
. Lake Geneva Center
‘Route’de la L’oj-gerai‘e 7
"7 CHA 1‘10rMorges
Switzerland
+41.21.805.9000

—

’

e -
" LatinAmerica
FE

Calle Eje 6 Norte No. 100, Esq,
Eje_1_Nte. Fracc.ad-Toluca-2000——————

Toluca Estado de Mexico
C.P-50200  oompr
+52.722.275 8500

A ma—Eacific

No.1077 Zhang Heng Road
Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park
Shanghai, China 201203
+86.21.3862.8888

I
-Rohm and Haas Company 3

Governance i
Rohm and Haas Company gover-
nance documents aré available at

mvw.rohmhaas.com'/governance ®
or through contacting the Chrief . i

. j ' X
Compliance and Governance Officer . N

100 Independence Mali West '
Philadelphia, PA 19106-239%
USA
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